

Diffusion-reaction processes in complex and crowded environments

Marta Galanti

► To cite this version:

Marta Galanti. Diffusion-reaction processes in complex and crowded environments. Biological Physics [physics.bio-ph]. Université d'Orléans; Università degli Studi di Firenze, 2016. English. NNT: 2016ORLE2004. tel-01412527

HAL Id: tel-01412527 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01412527

Submitted on 8 Dec 2016

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.







ÉCOLE DOCTORALE SANTE, SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES ET CHIMIE DU VIVANT

Centre de Biophysique Moléculaire, CNRS, Orléans / Università degli Studi di Firenze, Informatica, Sistemi e Telecomunicazioni

THÈSE EN COTUTELLE INTERNATIONALE présentée par : Marta GALANTI

soutenue le : 12 février 2016

pour obtenir le grade de : Docteur de l'université d'Orléans et de l'Université de Florence

Discipline: Physique Biologie

Processus de diffusion et réaction dans des milieux complexes et encombrés

THÈSE dirigée par : M. Francesco PIAZZA M. Duccio FANELLI	Prof. Université d'Orléans Prof. Université de Florence				
RAPPORTEURS : M. Andrea Parmeggiani M. Sebastiano Stramaglia	Prof. Université de Montpellier Prof. Université de Bari				
JURY :					
M. Francesco PIAZZA	Prof. Université d'Orléans				
M. Duccio FANELLI	Prof. Université de Florence				
M. Andrea Parmeggiani	Prof. Université de Montpellier				
M. Sebastiano Stramaglia	Prof. Université de Bari				
M. Stefano Ruffo	Prof. SISSA Trieste				
M. Denis Grebenkov	Dr. Ecole Polytechnique, Palaiseau				



DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN **Informatica, Sistemi e Telecomunicazioni** Indirizzo: Dinamica Non-Lineare e Sistemi Complessi CICLO XXVIII

COORDINATORE Prof. Luigi Chisci

Diffusion-reaction processes in complex and crowded environments

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare FIS/03

Dottorando Dott. Marta Galanti

Marta Galant,

Tutore Prof. Duccio Fanelli Prof. Francesco Piazza

Coordinatore Prof. Luigi Chisci

ausa

Anni 2012/2015

Contents

1	Introduction			5
2 Diffusion in crowded environments: from microscopic stoch processes to modified diffusion models				9
	2.1	The st	andard diffusion equation and its microscopic derivation	9
	2.2	2.2 Diffusion of tagged particles in a crowded medium		
		2.2.1	Effects of crowding on the diffusion properties: normal or	
			anomalous diffusion?	11
		2.2.2	Experimental particle tracking	13
		2.2.3	Derivation of the equations for the tagged particles and for	
			the bulk species	15
		2.2.4	Derivation of the mean-field equations in higher dimensions	
			and alternative approaches	17
		2.2.5	On the validity of the mean-field approximation: comparing	
			stochastic and mean-field simulations in $2D$	24
		2.2.6	Evolution of the mean square displacement: sub- and super-	
			diffusive transients	25
	2.3	The p	ersistent random walk with exclusion and its continuum limit .	30
		2.3.1	Mathematical model for the persistent random walk with ex-	
			clusion	30
		2.3.2	Mean square displacement in the limits $t \to 0$ and $t \to \infty$	32
	2.4 Discussion on the emergence of transient regimes		ssion on the emergence of transient regimes	36
	2.5 Excluded-volume effects in non-homogeneous media $\ldots \ldots \ldots$		ded-volume effects in non-homogeneous media	37
		2.5.1	Processes without exclusion	38
	2.5.2 Enforcing the excluded-volume constraint		Enforcing the excluded-volume constraint	39
2.6 Extended		Exten	ded crowding	42
		2.6.1	Extended crowding models and possible interpretations	43
3 Theory of diffusion influenced reactions in complay geometri				47
0	3.1	Analy	tical solution	52
	0.1	3.1.1	Bules for selecting the appropriate Addition Theorem	62
		3.1.2	An interpretation for the boundary condition on the internal	-0
		-	boundary Ω_0	64
3.2 Axiall		Axiall	y symmetric problems	66
		3.2.1	The concept of diffusive interactions	67
	3.3	Diffus	ive interactions and excluded-volume effects among multiple	
		bound	aries	73

		3.3.1 Outline and details of the perturbative expansions	81
		3.3.2 Monopole approximation	85
4	Cat	alytic rate constant of complex core-shell nanoreactors	91
	4.1	Mathematical model for the catalytic reaction	92
	4.2	Discussion of the analytical solution	99
	4.3	Analysis of the models and future perspectives $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	101
5	Bin	ding of small ligands to large flexible biomolecules	105
	5.1	The IgG and its representation	106
	5.2	Mathematical model for the binding reaction $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	112
6	Gated reactions		121
	6.1	Gated reactions in the literature	126
	6.2	Examples of time-dependent gating functions	127
7	Con	clusions and perspectives	133

Chapter 1

Introduction

Diffusive transport is central in many areas of physics, chemistry, biology and soft matter [1, 2, 3, 4]. The regular functionality and development of cells, and in general of all biological organisms, could not prescind from the efficient delivery of a great number of molecules to their proper destination. New products are continuously synthetized and assembled inside the nucleus, and from there they have to reach different compartments. Conversely, degraded elements have to find their way back to the nucleus to be processed. Intracellular transport consists of two mechanisms: passive diffusion and active transport driven by molecular motors. Passive diffusion involves the movement of molecules through membranes (filtration) or within the cytosol, resulting from concentration gradients between two regions. Conversely, active transport forces particles to move against their concentration gradient. For this reason, it requires chemical energy. Living cells are indeed complex systems, whose maintenance involves a huge number of processes in which enzymes catalyze reactions, interact with each other and with cell products, and where proteins feedback to regulate the synthesis of other molecules and to trigger defensive measures in case of attack by hostile agents. In general, molecules diffuse in the hosting medium, chasing the target partner for a chemical reaction to take place. Thus, to the extent of providing an overall description of the cell metabolism, it is a matter of fundamental importance to characterize the steps through which the actors of the different reactions get in contact before binding. Moreover, dysfunctions in molecule transport can compromise seriously the integrity of biological tissues, as it has been recently pointed out by numerous studies which connected anomalous diffusion of proteins to neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimers [5]. Diffusion is a key process also for biomedical and industrial application and materials science. Catalysis, drug delivery, filtration, development of nanotechnologies are just some examples of activities where transport phenomena involving diffusion are central and call for a self-consistent description.

The classical approach to diffusion, based on Fick's law is strictly valid only for ideal, infinitely diluted solutions, where one is allowed to neglect the interaction among diffusing particles and between the molecules and the environment. Real media however, either biological structures or artificial technologies, are far from the diluted limit: cells for example contain a large number of membranes, compartments, and other smaller organelles that occupy up to 30 - 40% of the available volume and that cannot overlap with each other. Crowding and confinement effects on diffusion-influenced phenomena pose hence fundamental vet unanswered questions. Concerning molecular mobility, for example, several computational and experimental indications exist of anomalous diffusion in the cell cytoplasm depending on the amount and type of crowding [6, 7], suggesting that living cells behave much like fractal or otherwise disordered systems [8, 9]. However, strong evidences also exist in favour of normal (Brownian) diffusion: in this scenario crowding and confinement result in (often nontrivial) modifications of the diffusion coefficient [10, 11, 12, 13]. Another related issue is that of diffusion-limited reactions [14], which are ubiquitous in many domains of biology and chemistry, touching upon problems such as association, folding and stability of proteins [15, 16] and bimolecular reactions in solution [17, 18, 19, 20, 21], including enzyme kinetics [22], but also the dynamics of active agents [23]. Many theoretical models of intracellular diffusion have been derived in the past 30 years, and many aspects such as viscosity, crowding, confinement, and signaling mechanisms have been recently investigated in order to assess their impact on the transport of particles and the consequent reactions between components. Nevertheless, a full theoretical comprehension of transport in nonideal media remains an elusive task, Fick's law itself and the very notion of effective diffusion coefficient being questionable in a disordered medium [9]. The aim of this thesis is to shed some light on the effect of crowding and complex geometries on the mobility of molecules, and to provide different approaches to include these aspects in the general investigation of diffusive processes and diffusion influenced reactions. In the first part of this work we will concentrate on the effect of crowding, describing at the microscopic level the interaction between diffusive agents, while the analysis of diffusion-regulated processes occurring in complex geometries will be the subject of the second part of the thesis.

The second chapter is devoted to characterize the influence of a densely populate medium on the transport of molecules, in different settings which account respectively for unbiased and biased diffusion in homogeneous and non homogeneous media. For all the studied problems we aim at deriving continuum models starting from microscopic stochastic processes with exclusion, which describe the dynamics of the single agents. We will show how the effect of crowding is lost when passing from the point-like agent based models to the continuum equations in the absence of bias and spatial anisotropy. Conversely, we will see that the excluded volume effects are always recognizable in the mean field models if some degree of asymmetry or inhomogeneity is present or if specific agents are tagged.

The third chapter deals with the analysis of diffusion-influenced reactions occurring between molecules which are diffusing in confined domains, accounting for the presence of obstacles and traps. Different degrees of chemical affinity between the reactants are envisioned. The general binding process is studied by solving the stationary diffusion equation using techniques of harmonic analysis, based on addition theorems for spherical harmonics [24]. The model enables us to compute exactly the rate of a general pseudo first order reaction for an arbitrary configuration of bodies in a confined domain (the unbounded case is a simple generalization of this setting), and to analyze the diffusive interaction between particles that are reactive with the same species. Moreover, we provide closed formulas, obtained through simple approximations of the analytical solution and through perturbative expansions in powers of appropriate parameters, which allow one to characterize the dependence of the rate of the reaction on the relevant physico-chemical and geometrical parameters.

In chapters 4 and 5 we present two applications of our method. First, the analytical framework is employed within an industrial-chemical setting to analyze the catalytic optimization of a nanoreactor consisting of metal particles embedded in a thermosensitive microgel. Thereafter, we use the analytical method to evaluate the binding rate of an antibody-antigen reaction, and to identify the role of the protein's flexibility in the expression of the binding dynamics. Moreover we propose a simplified effective description which captures the essence of the investigated process.

In the last chapter, the time dependence is re-introduced to analyze gated diffusion-influenced reactions, where the binding process between a protein and a substrate is limited by structural fluctuations of the protein conformation which control the accessibility of the binding sites. The problem has been tackled through a suitable adaptation of Duhamel's theory to the diffusion equation with timedependent boundary conditions for an isolated receptor. The original problem of computing the rate of the gated reaction is thus reduced to the solution of a linear Volterra equation of the second kind, which is then solved with an appropriate algorithm. Finally, we present a brief analysis of the different regimes that can be classified depending on the function that regulates the accessibility of the site.

Chapter 2

Diffusion in crowded environments: from microscopic stochastic processes to modified diffusion models

In this chapter we will provide several models for molecular diffusion in crowded environments. As a common strategy for all the processes, we will base our analysis on the description of the motion of the individual agents, following the procedure presented in the next section.

2.1 The standard diffusion equation and its microscopic derivation

Diffusion is a fundamental process in nature that describes the spread of particles subject to random forces from regions of high density to regions of low density [1]. The standard diffusion equation was originally derived by Adolf Fick in 1855. It is obtained by the combination of the first Fick's law:

$$\mathbf{J} = -D\nabla\rho$$

which relates the diffusive flux J to the concentration ρ of particles, together with his second law, which is nothing but a continuity equation for the concentration:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \mathbf{J} = 0,$$

which states the conservation of the mass.

The result, for a constant diffusion coefficient D, is the well-known diffusion equation:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = D \,\nabla^2 \rho. \tag{2.1}$$

However, while the mathematics of diffusive processes in dilute and simple media is fairly well developed and understood [1], many interesting and relevant diffusive processes take place in strongly non-ideal conditions. These include a wealth of different highly dense media, from non-ideal plasmas [25] to biological membranes [26], media with complex topological structures, including porous media [27, 28, 29] and living cells [10, 30] and strongly confining environments [31, 32, 33, 3, 34].

In many cases it is extremely complicated to understand how to modify the standard models of transport in order to account for non-ideal conditions. For several situations it may prove simpler or more effective to describe a complex transport process (or a simple one occurring in a complex medium) at the microscopic level. This means that, instead of describing the evolution of global quantities, such as the density of particles, we concentrate on the behavior of individual molecules which are seen as agents capable of moving according to specific rules. With this strategy we obtain different stochastic equations (corresponding to different deviations from the standard conditions) for the variation over time of the probability to find the system in a certain state. The macroscopic picture can then be recovered straightforwardly as the continuum limit of the agent-based model. As we will see in the following sections, the transition from the microscopic to the continuum description is a delicate procedure that often causes the loss of important information. It is thus important to investigate how the two levels of description interface with each other.

The standard diffusion equation (2.1) is the classic example of a macroscopic transport equation which can be obtained starting from an agent based model. Let us focus on the motion of the individual diffusing particles. If we denote with $P_i(n)$ the probability that an agent is at site *i* on some discrete manifold in one dimension at time $n\Delta t$, a simple unbiased random walk corresponds to the update rule

$$P_i(n+1) = \frac{1}{2} [P_{i-1}(n) + P_{i+1}(n)]$$
(2.2)

as it is assumed that at each time step the walker can either jump to its right or to its left with equal probability. Thus introducing the time step Δt and the spacing Δx we have:

$$\frac{P_i(n+1) - P_i(n)}{\Delta t} = \frac{\Delta x^2}{\Delta t} \frac{1}{2\Delta x^2} [P_{i-1}(n) + P_{i+1}(n) - 2P_i(n)], \quad (2.3)$$

where we can recognize the discrete laplacian on the right-hand side.

Letting the lattice spacing Δx and the time step Δt go to zero, such that

$$\lim_{\Delta x, \Delta t \to 0} (\Delta x^2 / 2\Delta t) = D_s$$

one obtains the diffusion equation (2.1) in the continuum limit.

In performing the continuum limit one is tacitly assuming that many walkers are performing as many uncorrelated random walks and that a probability of being at x at time t can be defined by averaging over such uncorrelated trajectories. This requires the walkers to be transparent to each other. It is interesting to ask the following question. If some exclusion rule is enforced, such that a walker can only jump on an *empty* site, how will the macroscopic equation be modified? And what kind of process will they describe?

Starting from microscopic models we want to understand to which extent relaxing the hypotheses of diluted medium, homogeneous space and absence of external potentials leads to a modification of the standard diffusion equation.

2.2 Diffusion of tagged particles in a crowded medium

2.2.1 Effects of crowding on the diffusion properties: normal or anomalous diffusion?

The study of molecular diffusion under crowded conditions represents a particularly crucial topic for its applications to cellular biology. At high density, particles diffusion is impeded and excluded-volume effects may no longer be ignored.

The hallmark of diffusive transport is the linear growth in time of the mean square displacement (MSD) of the spreading particles: $\langle \Delta R^2 \rangle \propto t$. This is a simple conclusion that follows directly from the law of conservation of matter (in the form of a continuity equation), when a simple constitutive equation is assumed, stating that the particle current is proportional to the concentration gradient. The latter law, known as the (first) Fick's law, can be regarded as a simple linear-response prescription, thus only appropriate to describe the relaxation of small density fluctuations.

Despite the fact that Fickean diffusion is generally appropriate to describe the spontaneous spatial rearrangement of particles in suspension, deviations are expected to occur in various situations of interest, e.q. if fixed obstacles are present (confinement) [35] or when different, and thus distinguishable species compete for the available space at high concentration, a scenario often referred to in cellular biology as macromolecular crowding [36, 37, 10, 38, 39, 12, 40, 41, 7, 32, 42, 43, 30, 44]. Despite the importance of crowding and confinement effects in diffusion-related mechanisms in chemistry and biology, there is no consensus on the mechanisms through which crowding and confinement fine-tune deviations from the classical Fickean picture. This lively debate is reflected by conflicting experimental reports in the literature concerning the role of complex environmental factors in the mobility of biomolecules in the cytoplasm and extra-cellular matrix. Some authors maintain that crowding merely slows down transport by reducing in a complex fashion the diffusion coefficient but does not alter the MSD exponent [10, 11, 45, 43], while others [46, 47, 7, 48] contend the identification of crowding with anomalous (typically sub-diffusive) transport [9, 49, 50, 51], a feature observed in lateral diffusion in cellular membranes [52, 53, 54]. In this case one would have $\langle \Delta R^2 \rangle \propto t^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha < 1$ (sub-diffusion) or $\langle \Delta R^2 \rangle \propto t^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha > 1$ (super-diffusion). It is worthwhile to underline that reports of anomalous transport connected to crowding are not limited to sub-diffusion. For example, Upadhaya and collaborators [55] have recorded super-diffusive behavior in the motion of endodermal Hydra cells, which they traced back to long-range correlations within the scrutinized sample, while Stauffer and collaborators [56] proposed a minimalistic model of random barriers in a percolation network as a tool to mimic diffusion in a crowded environment.

To add an important piece of information to the debate, it is interesting to remark that most often claims of anomalous diffusion in three-dimensional crowded environments *in vitro* and *in vivo* rely on fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) data that are analyzed through *ad hoc* modifications [47] of standard theories of fluorescence photobleaching recovery [57, 58]. It is interesting to remark that to our knowledge no first-principle derivations of fluorescence recovery curves in the anomalous diffusion regime have yet been reported, analogous to the long-known standard derivations performed in the context of normal diffusion [57, 58].



Figure 2.1: The simple exclusion rule implemented in the model of tagged particle diffusion. In this configuration, the tagged particle (filled circle) sitting at site i can only jump towards the (empty) neighboring site i - 1. The jump towards site i + 1 is instead impeded, as the target site is occupied by a crowder (empty circles). Crowders can also diffuse towards neighboring sites.

As it is often the case, the truth probably reflects an intermediate picture. Possibly, complex (even multiple) crossovers are to be expected between anomalous and normal diffusion [59], or, alternatively, one needs to consider complex spaceand geometry-dependent diffusion coefficients [60, 13], as modeled *e.g.* by Fick-Jacobs [61] and related theories [62, 63]. However, as it appears clear from the above recollection, the need for further, systematic investigation of transport in crowded and confining media is evident.

We will investigate hereafter the effect of crowding, by enforcing, in the microscopic model of a random walk, the exclusion rule which prevents the agent to jump to an occupied site. We will consider for the moment an homogeneous space, in the absence of external forces.

Microscopic processes implementing exclusion rules go under the name of simple exclusion processes (SEP). In general, SEPs are space-discrete, agent-based stochastic processes modeling some kind of transport according to specific rules and bound to the constraint that no two agents can ever occupy the same site. SEPs play a central role in non-equilibrium statistical physics [64, 65]. While the first theoretical ideas underlying such processes can be traced back to Boltzmann's works [66], SEPs were introduced and widely studied in the 70s as simplified models of one-dimensional transport for phenomena like hopping conductivity [67] and kinetics of biopolymerization [5]. Along the same lines, the asymmetric exclusion process (ASEP), originally introduced by Spitzer [68], has become a paradigm in non-equilibrium statistical physics [69, 70, 71] and has now found many applications, such as the study of molecular motors [72], transport in the cytoskeleton [73] through nano-channels [74] and depolymerization of microtubules [75].

The idea is to move from a space-discrete simple exclusion process specifying the competition for space at the microscopic level: the probability of an agent jumping from its current position in i on a neighboring site $(i \pm 1)$ is conditioned to the probability $(1 - P_{i\pm 1})$ of finding the site empty. If we enforce the excluded volume effect in the master equation for a single species diffusing in an isotropic space we

obtain again the standard diffusion equation in the continuum limit. The excluded volume constraint is lost in the continuum limit: that happens because the agents are not distinguishable. By contrast if we make the agent distinguishable, either accounting for different species or (as we will show hereafter) tagging individual particles belonging to the same population, we obtain a modified diffusive behavior. More specifically cross-diffusive terms linking multiple diffusive components appear, modifying the standard Laplacian term [76]. If one takes into account two populations, in [76] the following macroscopic equations are obtained for the evolution of their densities ϕ and ψ :

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = D_{\phi} \left[\nabla^2 \phi + \phi \nabla^2 \psi - \psi \nabla^2 \phi \right] \\ \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial t} = D_{\psi} \left[\nabla^2 \psi + \psi \nabla^2 \phi - \phi \nabla^2 \psi \right] \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

where the cross terms $\phi \nabla^2 \psi - \psi \nabla^2 \phi$ and $\psi \nabla^2 \phi - \phi \nabla^2 \psi$ derive from imposing the excluded volume constraints in the microscopic equations.

Another way to keep track of the excluded volume effect in the macroscopic dynamic is by making a few molecules recognizable inside a single population of diffusive agents and monitoring the evolution of the system. In the following sections we will consider the diffusive process of an ensemble of particles, the *tagged* species, immersed in a densely populated background of co-evolving agents, hereafter the *crowders*.

This is a quite general scenario, which can be invoked to describe different experimental conditions, typical of fluorescence-based single-molecule tracking experiments. Hereafter we will present briefly the main experimental techniques typically employed to track single molecules.

2.2.2 Experimental particle tracking

The direct observation of the motion of single particles *in vivo* is a powerful method for describing the interaction between a diffusing molecule and the surrounding environment. Numerous optical techniques have been developed to provide a characterization of the diffusion of particles into living cells, in terms of their velocity and diffusion coefficients. Single Particle Tracking (SPT) consists in observing single molecules, which are made distinguishable with different probes (such as fluorophores) that can be excited by laser light at specific intensities. The individual trajectories are retraced through images acquired at different times, in which the coordinates of the single molecules are recorded, and subsequently assembled to reproduce the motion. The main limitation of SPT is that it is not suitable for measuring diffusion in three dimensions (because of the high velocity of three dimensional diffusion and the fact that the images obtained are projected on a surface), thus this technique is used mainly for membrane diffusion.

For diffusion in the cytosol, 3D-FRAP (Fluorescence Recovery After Photobleaching) has proven to be a very useful technique. In FRAP a selected volume is at first visualized at low intensity light, and the fluorescence (arising because the monitored diffusing particles are fluorescently labeled) is recorded. Then the region



Figure 2.2: Subsequent frames in a typical Single Particle Tracking experiment.

is invested with higher intensity light, causing the fluorophores to bleach and thus reducing the fluorescence. After the fluorescence in the area has reached the minimum value, it starts increasing again because of the unbleached molecules that are diffusing back inside the region. The analysis of the fluorescence intensity curve allows to obtain information on the diffusive parameters. The diffusion constant D can be calculated as

$$D = \frac{R^2}{4t_D}$$

where R is the radius of the beam (the profile is assumed to be gaussian) and t_D is the characteristic time of diffusion.



Figure 2.3: Fluorescence intensity of the monitored volume against time. The steady state intensity differs from the initial value because of the fraction of molecules which are immobilized at the bleached spot.

2.2.3 Derivation of the equations for the tagged particles and for the bulk species

We will introduce now a strategy to describe the diffusion of recognizable agents among a dense population. The tagged particles are assumed to be sufficiently diluted. Following a microscopic approach, we derive a system of partial differential equations for the mean-field densities of both the tagged particles and the crowders. The model is formulated at the microscopic level as a stochastic process with simple exclusion interference. In the thermodynamic limit, the excluded-volume constraints will result in nonlinear coupling terms between the two concentrations. To simplify the discussion, let us consider a one-dimensional problem. As shown in the following, the derivation can be readily extended to higher dimensions without altering the ensuing physical picture. Let us consider a one-dimensional lattice of spacing a. Each site can be occupied by either a crowder or a tagged particle. We denote with the binary variables $m_i(k)$ and $n_i(k)$ the occupancy of site i at time $t = k\Delta t$ for the tagged and crowding particles, respectively. Hence $m_i(k), n_i(k)$ can be either zero or one depending on whether site i is occupied or not by the respective particle.

The stochastic process that governs jumps of the tagged particles can be cast in the following form

$$m_{i}(k+1) - m_{i}(k) = (z_{i-1}^{+}m_{i-1}(k) + z_{i+1}^{-}m_{i+1}(k))[1 - m_{i}(k)][1 - n_{i}(k)] - z_{i}^{+}m_{i}(k)[1 - m_{i+1}(k)][1 - n_{i+1}(k)] - z_{i}^{-}m_{i}(k)[1 - m_{i-1}(k)][1 - n_{i-1}(k)]$$
(2.5)

Eq. (2.5), and its analogue for species $n_i(k)$, can be regarded as the update rule for a simple Monte Carlo process. If the target site is occupied by either a crowder or a tagged particle, the move cannot occur. The quantities z_i^{\pm} are variables that take the value 0 or 1 depending on a random number ξ_i uniformly distributed between 0 and 1. By considering homogeneous jump probabilities, $q_j^{\pm} = q$ for $j = i, i \pm 1$, one can formally write

$$z_{i-1}^{+} = \theta(\xi_{i}) - \theta(\xi_{i} - q)$$

$$z_{i+1}^{-} = \theta(\xi_{i} - q) - \theta(\xi_{i} - 2q)$$

$$z_{i}^{+} = \theta(\xi_{i} - 2q) - \theta(\xi_{i} - 3q)$$

$$z_{i}^{-} = \theta(\xi_{i} - 3q) - \theta(\xi_{i} - 4q)$$
(2.6)

where $\theta(x)$ is the Heaviside step function and we are assuming $q \leq 1/4$. Eqs. (2.56) entail $\langle z_j^{\pm} \rangle = q$, where $\langle \dots \rangle$ denotes an average over many values of ξ_i for a fixed configuration $\{n_i, m_i\}$. The above process is entirely determined by the jump probabilities q, which we here assume constant and homogeneous.

A (discrete-time) master equation can be obtained by averaging over many Monte Carlo realizations performed according to the rule (2.5) and starting from the same initial condition (we denote this average by $\langle \langle \dots \rangle \rangle$). Introducing the one-body occupancy probabilities $\rho_i(k) = \langle \langle m_i(k) \rangle \rangle$ and $\phi_i(k) = \langle \langle n_i(k) \rangle \rangle$ and assuming a mean-field factorization for the two-body and three-body correlations, one finds equations

$$\begin{split} \rho_i(k+1) - \rho_i(k) &= q \left(\rho_{i-1}(k) + \rho_{i+1}(k) \right) \left[1 - \rho_i(k) \right] \left[1 - \phi_i(k) \right] \\ &- q \rho_i(k) \left[2 - \left(\rho_{i-1}(k) + \rho_{i+1}(k) \right) - \left(\phi_{i-1}(k) + \phi_{i+1}(k) \right) \right] \\ &+ \phi_{i+1}(k) \rho_{i+1}(k) + \phi_{i-1}(k) \rho_{i-1}(k) \right] \\ \phi_i(k+1) - \phi_i(k) &= w \left(\phi_{i-1}(k) + \phi_{i+1}(k) \right) \left[1 - \phi_i(k) \right] \left[1 - \rho_i(k) \right] \\ &- w \phi_i(k) \left[2 - \left(\phi_{i-1}(k) + \phi_{i+1}(k) \right) - \left(\rho_{i-1}(k) + \rho_{i+1}(k) \right) \right] \\ &+ \phi_{i+1}(k) \rho_{i+1}(k) + \phi_{i-1}(k) \rho_{i-1}(k) \right], \end{split}$$

where w denotes the jump probability associated with crowders' motion. To proceed in the analysis, we assume that the concentration of tagged particles is small, $\rho_i \ll 1$. We therefore approximate the previous equations as

$$\rho_{i}(k+1) - \rho_{i}(k) = q \left(\rho_{i-1}(k) + \rho_{i+1}(k)\right) \left[1 - \phi_{i}(k)\right]
- q \rho_{i}(k) \left[2 - \left(\phi_{i-1}(k) + \phi_{i+1}(k)\right)\right]
\phi_{i}(k+1) - \phi_{i}(k) = w \left(\phi_{i-1}(k) + \phi_{i+1}(k) - 2\phi_{i}(k)\right).$$
(2.7)

Eq. (2.7) tells us that the microscopic exclusion constraint is lost in the equation for the crowders occupancy probability ϕ_i . The tagged particles are in fact highly diluted and thus they interfere negligibly with the diffusive motion of the crowders.

Let us now move to the continuum. This can be formally achieved by letting

$$\rho(x,t) = \lim_{a,\Delta t \to 0} \rho_i(k) \text{ and } \phi(x,t) = \lim_{a,\Delta t \to 0} \phi_i(k),$$

where we recall that a is the lattice spacing and Δt is the time step. In addition we must require

$$\lim_{a,\Delta t\to 0} qa^2/\Delta t = D_{\rho} \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{a,\Delta t\to 0} wa^2/\Delta t = D_{\phi},$$

where D_{ρ} and D_{ϕ} denote the diffusion coefficients of the tagged particles and the crowders, respectively. Making use of the above definitions, one readily obtains the continuum limit of Eqs. (2.7)

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = D_{\phi} \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2}
\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = D_{\rho} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[(1 - \phi) \rho \right] + 2\rho \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x} \right\}.$$
(2.8)

The mean-field density of crowders ϕ evolves in time following a standard diffusion equation: the undisturbed dynamic is a consequence of the hypothesis of dilution of the tagged particles, which allowed us to neglect their feedback on the crowders. On the contrary, the density ρ obeys a Smoluchowski equation where the density of crowders plays the role of an external potential, which embodies the excludedvolume rules imposed at the microscopic level. In the next section we give an alternative derivation of eqs.(2.8), following a perturbative calculation inspired by the Van Kampen system size expansion [77]. We note that the equation for the evolution of ρ has also been derived in Ref. [78] for a constant non-homogeneous background field $\phi(x)$. A derivation analogous to the one described above can be repeated in higher dimensions (see the next section), leading to a straightforward generalization of Eqs. (2.8)

$$\frac{\partial \phi(\mathbf{x}, t)}{\partial t} = D_{\phi} \nabla^2 \phi(\mathbf{x}, t)$$
$$\frac{\partial \rho(\mathbf{x}, t)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \mathbf{J}(\mathbf{x}, t) = 0$$
(2.9)

where $\mathbf{J} = -D_{\rho} \{\nabla [(1 - \phi)\rho] + 2\rho \nabla \phi\}$ is the total (osmotic plus force) current for the tagged species. In section 2.2.6 the above equations are integrated numerically, both in one and two dimensions. As we shall demonstrate, the *effective* force term leads to the emergence of sub-diffusive or super-diffusive transients in the dynamics of the tagged species, depending on the chosen initial conditions.

2.2.4 Derivation of the mean-field equations in higher dimensions and alternative approaches

As stated before, the equations governing the evolution of the particles, which have been obtained for a 1D setting, can be extended to higher dimensions. In the following we will provide a detailed derivation for the mean field equations in 2D. We will first generalize straightforwardly to a higher dimensional space the procedure described in the previous section and then turn to consider two alternative approaches: the first is inspired to the work of Landman and collaborators (see *e.g.* [79]), while the second makes use of the Van Kampen expansion [77].

To progress in the analysis we assume each site of the two-dimensional lattice to be labeled with two indices (i, j). In the 2D case, the selected particle can jump to four nearest neighboring sites. This is a slight modification of the one-dimensional geometry where each site counts only two adjacent neighbors. The binary variables at time k are hence here labeled with $m_{i,j}(k)$ and $n_{i,j}(k)$.

The stochastic process reads:

$$\begin{split} m_{i,j}(k+1) &- m_{i,j}(k) = \\ z_{i-1}^+ m_{i-1,j}(k) [1 - m_{i,j}(k)] [1 - n_{i,j}(k)] + z_{i+1}^- m_{i+1,j}(k) [1 - m_{i,j}(k)] [1 - n_{i,j}(k)] \\ &+ z_{j-1}^+ m_{i,j-1}(k) [1 - m_{i,j}(k)] [1 - n_{i,j}(k)] + z_{j+1}^- m_{i,j+1}(k) [1 - m_{i,j}(k)] [1 - n_{i,j}(k)] \\ &- z_i^+ m_{i,j}(k) [1 - m_{i+1,j}(k)] [1 - n_{i+1,j}(k)] - z_i^- m_{i,j}(k) [1 - m_{i-1,j}(k)] [1 - n_{i-1,j}(k)] \\ &- z_i^+ m_{i,j}(k) [1 - m_{i,j+1}(k)] [1 - n_{i,j+1}(k)] - z_i^- m_{i,j}(k) [1 - m_{i,j-1}(k)] [1 - n_{i,j-1}(k)] \end{split}$$

with the stochastic variables z^{\pm} defined in analogy to the one dimensional case. The equation governing the evolution of $n_{i,j}(\cdot)$ can be equivalently modified. After introducing the one-body occupancy probabilities

$$\rho_{i,j}(k) = \langle \langle m_{i,j}(k) \rangle \rangle \tag{2.10}$$

$$\phi_{i,j}(k) = \langle \langle n_{i,j}(k) \rangle \rangle \tag{2.11}$$

and assuming a mean-field factorization for the two-body and three-body correlations (the validity of these assumptions will be checked in Sec. 2.2.5), one eventually ends up with

$$\begin{split} \rho_{i,j}(k+1) &- \rho_{i,j}(k) \\ &= q \left(\rho_{i-1,j}(k) + \rho_{i+1,j}(k) + \rho_{i,j-1}(k) + \rho_{i,j+1}(k) \right) \left[1 - \rho_{i,j}(k) \right] \left[1 - \phi_{i,j}(k) \right] \\ &- q \rho_{i,j}(k) \left[4 - \left(\rho_{i-1,j}(k) + \rho_{i+1,j}(k) \right) - \left(\rho_{i,j-1}(k) + \rho_{i,j+1}(k) \right) \right] - \left(\phi_{i-1,j}(k) + \rho_{i-1,j}(k) + \rho_{i-1,j}(k) \right) \\ &+ \phi_{i+1,j}(k) \right) - \left(\phi_{i,j-1}(k) + \phi_{i,j+1}(k+1) \right) + \phi_{i+1,j}(k) \rho_{i+1,j}(k) + \phi_{i-1,j}(k) \rho_{i-1,j}(k) \\ &+ \phi_{i,j+1}(k) \rho_{i,j+1}(k) + \phi_{i,j-1}(k) \rho_{i,j-1}(k) \right] \\ &= w \left(\phi_{i-1,j}(k) + \phi_{i+1,j}(k) + \phi_{i,j-1}(k) + \phi_{i,j+1}(k) \right) \left[1 - \phi_{i,j}(k) \right] \left[1 - \rho_{i,j}(k) \right] \\ &- w \phi_{i,j}(k) \left[4 - \left(\phi_{i-1,j}(k) + \phi_{i+1,j}(k) \right) - \left(\phi_{i,j-1}(k) + \phi_{i,j+1}(k) \right) - \left(\rho_{i-1,j}(k) + \rho_{i-1,j}(k) \right) \\ &+ \rho_{i+1,j}(k) \right) - \left(\rho_{i,j-1}(k) + \rho_{i,j+1}(k) \right) + \phi_{i+1,j}(k) \rho_{i+1,j}(k) + \phi_{i-1,j}(k) \rho_{i-1,j}(k) \\ &+ \phi_{i,j+1}(k) \rho_{i,j+1}(k) + \phi_{i,j-1}(k) \rho_{i,j-1}(k) \right]. \end{split}$$

If one assumes the concentration of the tagged particles to be small, namely $\rho_{i,j} \ll 1$, then the following approximated relations are found:

$$\rho_{i,j}(k+1) - \rho_{i,j}(k) = q(\rho_{i-1,j}(k) + \rho_{i+1,j}(k)
+ \rho_{i,j-1}(k) + \rho_{i,j+1}(k)) [1 - \phi_{i,j}(k)]
- q\rho_{i,j}(k) [4 - (\phi_{i-1,j}(k) + \phi_{i+1,j}(k)
+ \phi_{i,j-1}(k) + \phi_{i,j+1}(k))]
\phi_{i,j}(k+1) - \phi_{i,j}(k) = w(\phi_{i-1,j}(k) + \phi_{i+1,j}(k) - 2\phi_{i,j}(k)
+ \phi_{i,j-1}(k) + \phi_{i,j+1}(k) - 2\phi_{i,j}(k))$$

After introducing the continuous variables

$$\rho(x, y, t) = \lim_{a, \Delta t \to 0} \rho_{i,j}(k), \qquad \phi(x, y, t) = \lim_{a, \Delta t \to 0} \phi_{i,j}(k), \tag{2.12}$$

where $a \operatorname{and}\Delta t$ respectively stand for the linear size of the lattice site and the characteristic time step of the microscopic dynamics and after defining the diffusion coefficients as it has been done for the one dimensional case, we get the sought-for generalized model:

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = D_{\phi} \nabla^2 \phi$$

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = \nabla^2 \left[D_{\rho} (1 - \phi) \rho \right] + 2 D_{\rho} \nabla \cdot \left(\rho \nabla \phi \right).$$
(2.13)

As anticipated, we shall now turn to discussing an alternative derivation of the above equations, obtained in line with the procedure used in [80]. To this end, we define the variable

$$\gamma_{i,j}(k) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if site } (i,j) \text{ is occupied by an agent of species } m \text{ at time step } k \\ 2, & \text{if site } (i,j) \text{ is occupied by an agent of species } n \text{ at time step } k \\ 0 & \text{if site } (i,j) \text{ is empty at the time step } k \end{cases}$$

We write then the master equation for the motion of the tagged particles as:

$$\mathbb{P}^{1}(\gamma_{i,j}(k+1)=1) - \mathbb{P}^{1}(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=1) = -\alpha \left[\mathbb{P}^{2} \left(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=1, \gamma_{i+1,j}(k)=0 \right) + \mathbb{P}^{2} \left(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=1, \gamma_{i,j+1}(k)=0 \right) + \mathbb{P}^{2} \left(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=1, \gamma_{i,j-1}(k)=0 \right) \right] + \alpha \left[\mathbb{P}^{2} \left(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=0, \gamma_{i+1,j}(k)=1 \right) + \mathbb{P}^{2} \left(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=0, \gamma_{i-1,j}(k)=1 \right) + \mathbb{P}^{2} \left(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=0, \gamma_{i,j+1}(k)=1 \right) + \mathbb{P}^{2} \left(\gamma_{i,j}(k)=0, \gamma_{i,j-1}(k)=1 \right) \right]$$

$$(2.15)$$

where \mathbb{P}^2 stands for a joint probability, while \mathbb{P}^1 is the probability of a single event and α is the rate of success of the selected jump. The master equation for the population n is similar, the variable γ assuming the value 2 instead of 1 and β labeling the associated jump rate (in principle the two population can have different jump probabilities). In the mean field limit, we factorize the joint probabilities \mathbb{P}^2 in the master equations as:

$$\mathbb{P}^{2}(\gamma_{i,j}(k) = 1, \gamma_{i,j+1}(k) = 0) = \mathbb{P}^{1}(\gamma_{i,j}(k) = 1)\mathbb{P}^{1}(\gamma_{i,j+1}(k) = 0).$$

To perform the continuum limit we use the following Taylor expansion for the three different probability functions \mathbb{P}^1 :

$$\mathbb{P}(\gamma_{i\pm 1,j}(k) = 1) = \rho \pm a \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x} + \frac{1}{2}a^2 \frac{\partial^2 \rho}{\partial x^2} + o(a^2)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(\gamma_{i,j\pm 1}(k) = 1) = \rho \pm a \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial y} + \frac{1}{2}a^2 \frac{\partial^2 \rho}{\partial y^2} + o(a^2)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(\gamma_{i\pm 1,j}(k) = 2) = \phi \pm a \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x} + \frac{1}{2}a^2 \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x^2} + o(a^2)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(\gamma_{i,j\pm 1}(k) = 2) = \phi \pm a \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial y} + \frac{1}{2}a^2 \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial y^2} + o(a^2)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(\gamma_{i\pm 1,j}(k) = 0) = \mu \pm a \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial x} + \frac{1}{2}a^2 \frac{\partial^2 \mu}{\partial x^2} + o(a^2)$$

$$\mathbb{P}(\gamma_{i,j\pm 1}(k) = 0) = \mu \pm a \frac{\partial \mu}{\partial y} + \frac{1}{2}a^2 \frac{\partial^2 \mu}{\partial y^2} + o(a^2).$$
(2.16)

where, as stated before, a represents the linear size of each site. Making use of the relation $\mu = 1 - \rho - \phi$ and defining the usual limits:

$$\lim_{a,\Delta t\to 0} \frac{\alpha a^2}{\Delta t} = D_{\rho} \quad \lim_{a,\Delta t\to 0} \frac{\beta a^2}{\Delta t} = D_{\phi},$$

we obtain the following equation for the tagged species:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = D_{\rho}((1-\phi)\nabla^2 \rho + \rho \nabla^2 \phi).$$

Under the hypotesis of low concentration of the tagged agents, we get the coupled equation for the evolution of the bulk density:

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = D_{\phi} \nabla^2 \phi$$

We want to introduce now another alternative approach that leads to the continuum model (2.8), through a coarse-grained description of the scrutinized problem. The procedure is here explained in one dimension, but it readily generalizes to the relevant d = 3 setting. We consider the physical space to be partitioned in Ω patches, also called *urns*. Each patch has a maximum carrying capacity (it can be filled with N particles at most). Labeling m_i the number of tagged particles contained in urn i, and with n_i the corresponding number of crowders, one can write:

$$n_i + m_i + v_i = N \quad \forall i$$

where v_i stands for the number of vacancies, the empty cases in patch *i* that can be eventually filled by incoming particles. The excluded-volume effect is here enforced by requiring that the particles can move only into the nearest-neighbor patches that exhibit vacancies, as exemplified by the following chemical reactions:

$$\mathcal{M}_{i} + V_{j} \xrightarrow{\frac{\delta}{z\Omega}} \mathcal{M}_{j} + V_{i}$$

$$\mathcal{N}_{i} + V_{j} \xrightarrow{\frac{\delta}{z\Omega}} \mathcal{N}_{j} + V_{i}.$$
(2.17)

Here z is the number of nearest-neighbor patches and $\mathcal{M}_i, \mathcal{N}_i, V_i$ are respectively a particle of type \mathcal{M} (the tagged particles), of type \mathcal{N} (the crowders) or a vacancy belonging to the *i*-patch.

This is a stochastic process which is governed, under the Markov hypothesis, by a Master equation for the probability $P(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}, t)$ of finding the system in a given state which is specified at time t by the 2 Ω dimensional vector $(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}) =$ $(n_1, ..., n_\Omega, m_1..., m_\Omega)$. The Master equation reads:

$$\frac{\partial P(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}, t)}{\partial t} = \sum_{\substack{n \neq n', m \neq m' \\ -T(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}' | \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}) P(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}) - T(\mathbf{n}', \mathbf{m} | \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}) P(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}) - T(\mathbf{n}', \mathbf{m} | \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m}) P(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m})],$$

where $T(\mathbf{a}|\mathbf{b})$ is the rate of transition from a state **b** to a compatible configuration **a**. The allowed transitions are those that take place between neighboring patches as dictated by the chemical reactions (2.17). For example, the transition probability associated with the second of equations (2.17) reads

$$T(n_i - 1, n_j + 1 | n_i, n_j) = \frac{\delta}{z\Omega} \frac{n_i}{N} \frac{v_j}{N} = \frac{\delta}{z\Omega} \frac{n_i}{N} \left(1 - \frac{n_j}{N} - \frac{m_j}{N} \right).$$
(2.19)

The transition rates introduce to the equation the explicit dependence on the system size, that is represented by the number N of molecules per patch. To proceed in the analysis, we adopt the Van Kampen system size expansion [77], which enables us to separate the site-dependent mean concentration $\phi_i(t)$ from the corresponding fluctuations ξ_i in the expression of the discrete number density of species \mathcal{N} . The role of fluctuations becomes less important as the number of the agents is increased, as made clear by the following Van Kampen ansatz:

$$\frac{n_i}{N}(t) = \phi_i(t) + \frac{\xi_i}{\sqrt{N}}.$$
(2.20)

In the following we will assume the presence of a single tagged particle. However, the analysis extends straightforwardly to the case where more diluted particles are dispersed in the background of crowders. Since the tagged particle must be located in only one of the patches, it is convenient to look at the evolution of the function:

$$P_k(\mathbf{n},t) = P(\mathbf{n},\underbrace{0,0,...,0}_{k-1},1,\underbrace{0,...,0,0}_{\Omega-k},t)$$

inside the master equation (2.18). $P_k(\mathbf{n}, t)$ is the probability that the target particle is found in the k-patch, for a particular configuration \mathbf{n} of species \mathcal{N} . With these notation the Master equation can be written in the following compact form:

$$\frac{\partial P_k(\mathbf{n},t)}{\partial t} = \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \sum_{j \in i-1, i+1} (\epsilon_j^- \epsilon_i^+ - 1) T(n_i - 1, n_j + 1 | n_i, n_j) P_k(n_i, n_j, t) + \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \left\{ -\sum_{j \in i-1, i+1} \frac{\delta}{z\Omega} \frac{1}{N} \left(1 - \frac{n_j}{N} \right) P_k + \sum_{j \in i-1, i+1} \frac{\delta}{z\Omega} \frac{1}{N} \left(1 - \frac{n_k}{N} \right) P_j \right\}$$
(2.21)

that involves the shift operators:

$$\epsilon_i^{\pm} f(...., n_i,) = f(...., n_i \pm 1,).$$

Using the Van Kampen hypothesis [77], one can expand the transition rates in power of $1/\sqrt{N}$. As a result, equation (2.19) takes the form

$$T(n_i - 1, n_j + 1 | n_i, n_j) = \frac{\delta}{z\Omega} \left\{ (\phi_i(1 - \phi_j)) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} [\xi_i(1 - \phi_j) - \xi_j \phi_i] + \frac{1}{N} [-\xi_i \xi_j - m_j \phi_i] + \frac{1}{N^{\frac{3}{2}}} [-m_j \xi_i] \right\}.$$

Moreover, the shift operators can be expressed as differential operators:

$$(\epsilon_j^- \epsilon_i^+ - 1) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \right) + \frac{1}{2N} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \right)^2 + O(\frac{1}{N^{\frac{3}{2}}})$$

so that

$$\begin{aligned} &(\epsilon_j^- \epsilon_i^+ - 1)T(n_i - 1, n_j + 1 | n_i, n_j)P(n_i, n_j, t) = \\ &\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \bigg[\bigg(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \bigg) \bigg(\frac{\delta}{z\Omega} (\phi_i (1 - \phi_j)) \Pi_k(\xi, t) \bigg) \bigg] + \\ &\frac{1}{N} \bigg[\bigg(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \bigg) \bigg(\frac{\delta}{z\Omega} (\xi_i (1 - \phi_j) + \xi_j \phi_i) \Pi_k(\xi, t) \bigg) + \\ &\frac{1}{2} \bigg(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \bigg)^2 \bigg(\frac{\delta}{z\Omega} (\phi_i (1 - \phi_j)) \Pi_k(\xi, t) \bigg) \bigg] + O\bigg(\frac{1}{N^{\frac{3}{2}}} \bigg). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.22)$$

We stress that the variable m_i/N can not be replaced by a continuum density because the continuum limit is not appropriate to model the evolution of a single tracer.

The following step is to define a new probability distribution $\Pi_k(\boldsymbol{\xi}, \tau)$, which is a function of the vector $\boldsymbol{\xi}$ and of the scaled time $\tau = \frac{t}{N\Omega}$. In terms of Π_k the left hand side of (2.21) becomes

$$\frac{\partial P_k}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}\Omega} \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \frac{\partial \Pi_k}{\partial \xi_i} \dot{\phi}_i + \frac{1}{N\Omega} \frac{\partial \Pi_k}{\partial t}.$$

The leading order contribution in $\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}}\right)$ gives:

$$-\frac{1}{\Omega}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}\frac{\partial\Pi_k}{\partial\xi_i}\dot{\phi}_i = \frac{\delta}{z\Omega}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}\sum_{j\in\{i-1,i+1\}}\phi_i(1-\phi_j)(\frac{\partial\Pi_k}{\partial\xi_i} - \frac{\partial\Pi_k}{\partial\xi_j})$$
(2.23)

which yields

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \frac{\partial \Pi_k}{\partial \xi_i} \dot{\phi}_i = \frac{\delta}{z} \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} -\frac{\partial \Pi_k}{\partial \xi_i} (2\phi_i - \phi_{i-1} - \phi_{i+1}), \qquad (2.24)$$

and finally allows one to obtain:

$$\dot{\phi}_i = \frac{\delta}{2} \Delta \phi_i. \tag{2.25}$$

Here Δ stands for the discrete Laplacian operator defined as:

$$\Delta \phi_i = \frac{2}{z} \sum_{j \in i} (\phi_j - \phi_i),$$

with the sum $\sum_{j \in i}$ running over the sites j, which are nearest-neighbors of site i. By taking the size of the patches to zero, one recovers the standard diffusion equation for the density ϕ of the crowders, in agreement with the result obtained with the other approaches. Taking the following identities:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\delta}{z}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}\sum_{j\in\{i-1,i+1\}}(\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_i}-\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_j})(\xi_i(1-\phi_j)-\xi_j\phi_i)\Pi_k\\ &=\frac{\delta}{z}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}(\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_i}-\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{i-1}})(\xi_i(1-\phi_{i-1})-\xi_{i-1}\phi_i)\Pi_k\\ &+\frac{\delta}{z}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}(\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_i}-\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_{i+1}})(\xi_i(1-\phi_{i+1})-\xi_{i+1}\phi_i)\Pi_k\\ &=\frac{\delta}{z}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_i}\left((\xi_i(1-\phi_{i-1})-\xi_{i-1}\phi_i)\Pi_k+(\xi_i(1-\phi_{i+1})-\xi_{i+1}\phi_i)\Pi_k\right)\\ &-\frac{\delta}{z}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_i}(\xi_{i+1}(1-\phi_i)-\xi_i\phi_{i+1})\Pi_k-\frac{\delta}{z}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_i}(\xi_{i-1}(1-\phi_i)-\xi_i\phi_{i-1})\Pi_k\\ &=\frac{\delta}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{\Omega}-\Delta\xi_i\Pi_k \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\delta}{z} \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \sum_{j \in \{i-1,i+1\}} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \right)^2 (\phi_i(1-\phi_j)) \Pi_k \\ &= \frac{\delta}{z} \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i^2} \left(\phi_i(1-\phi_{i-1}) \Pi_k \right) + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i^2} \left(\phi_i(1-\phi_{i+1}) \Pi_k \right) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_{i+1}^2} \left(\phi_i(1-\phi_{i+1}) \Pi_k \right) \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_{i-1}^2} \left(\phi_i(1-\phi_{i-1}) \Pi_k \right) - \frac{2\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_{i-1}} \left(\phi_i(1-\phi_{i-1}) \Pi_k \right) - \frac{2\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_{i+1}} \left(\phi_i(1-\phi_{i+1}) \Pi_k \right) \\ &= \frac{\delta}{z} \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i^2} (2\phi_i + \phi_{i-1} + \phi_{i+1} - 2\phi_i(\phi_{i+1} + \phi_{i-1})) \Pi_k + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_{i-1}} \left(-2\phi_i(1-\phi_{i-1}) \right) \Pi_k \\ &+ \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi_i \partial \xi_{i+1}} \left(-2\phi_i(1-\phi_{i+1}) \right) \Pi_k \end{split}$$

at the next-to-leading corrections in eq. (2.21) eventually leads to:

$$\frac{\partial \Pi_k}{\partial t} = \frac{\delta}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} \left(-\Delta \xi_i \Pi_k \right) + \frac{\delta}{2z} \sum_{i=1}^{\Omega} \sum_{i=i-1}^{i+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_j} \left(B_{i,j} \Pi_k \right) \\ + \frac{\delta}{z} \left((1 - \phi_k) \Pi_{k-1} - (2 - \phi_{k+1} - \phi_{k-1}) \Pi_k + (1 - \phi_k) \Pi_{k+1} \right).$$

Here B is the diffusion matrix, whose entries are

$$B_{i,i} = 2\phi_i + \phi_{i-1} + \phi_{i+1} - 2\phi_i(\phi_{i+1} + \phi_{i-1})$$

$$B_{i,i-1} = (-2\phi_i(1 - \phi_{i-1}))$$

$$B_{i,i+1} = (-2\phi_i(1 - \phi_{i+1})).$$

(2.26)

To provide a mean-field description we have to consider the probability function of the tagged agent averaged over the fluctuations of the \mathcal{N} -particles. This amounts to consider the quantity:

$$\rho_k(t) = \int \Pi_k d\boldsymbol{\xi}$$

that obeys the following equation:

$$\frac{\partial \rho_k}{\partial t} = \frac{\delta}{z} ((1-\phi_k)\rho_{k-1} - (2-\phi_{k+1} - \phi_{k-1})\rho_k + (1-\phi_k)\rho_{k+1}) = \frac{\delta}{2} (\Delta \rho_k - \phi_k \Delta \rho_k + \rho_k \Delta \phi_k)$$

The last expression involves the discrete laplacian Δ defined above. In the continuum limit, if one considers a straightforward generalization to higher dimensions of the previous calculation, one gets :

$$\frac{\partial \rho(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t} = D_{\rho}(1-\phi(\mathbf{r},t))\nabla^{2}\rho(\mathbf{r},t) + D_{\rho}\rho(\mathbf{r},t)\nabla^{2}\phi(\mathbf{r},t),$$

where D_{ρ} is the diffusion coefficient of the tagged particle. The obtained non-linear equation for ρ can be cast as a Fokker-Plank equation:

$$\frac{\partial \rho(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t} = \nabla^2 \bigg(D(1-\phi(\mathbf{r},t))\rho(\mathbf{r},t) \bigg) + 2D\nabla \bigg(\rho(\mathbf{r},t)\nabla\phi(\mathbf{r},t) \bigg).$$

Hence, by neglecting the role of fluctuations, *i.e.* by operating in the mean-field limit, even in higher dimensions one finds a nonlinear partial differential equation for the density of the tagged species coupled to a standard diffusion equation for the background density:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \phi(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t} = D\nabla^2 \phi(\mathbf{r},t) \\ \frac{\partial \rho(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t} = \nabla^2 \left(D(1-\phi(\mathbf{r},t))\rho(\mathbf{r},t) \right) + 2D\nabla \left(\rho(\mathbf{r},t)\nabla\phi(\mathbf{r},t)\right). \end{cases}$$
(2.27)

This system constitutes the generalization of model (2.8) to higher dimensions. It is worth emphasizing that the second equation in (2.27) can be also cast in form of a continuity equation:

$$\frac{\partial \rho(\mathbf{r},t)}{\partial t} = \nabla \cdot \left(D \left(1 - \phi(\mathbf{r},t) \right) \nabla \rho(\mathbf{r},t) + D \rho(\mathbf{r},t) \nabla \phi(\mathbf{r},t) \right)$$

The last procedure that we described is particularly interesting despite its higher complexity for two main reasons. First of all, it allows to extend the description to higher dimensions with respect to the 1D setting where the traditional SEPs are modeled. This is a matter of great importance since to describe the molecular diffusion inside the cell, and in general inside real media, a three dimensional approach is needed. The second reason that contributes to make the Van Kampen's approach interesting is the potential further analysis. More specifically, starting from the microscopic model, in this framework it is possible to go beyond the mean field analysis and monitor the evolution of the fluctuations, which arise due to the finite size effects. However, this analysis lies outside the purpose of this work, that aims at characterizing the effect of crowding on the macroscopic quantities. To validate the soundness of the mean-field approach in two dimension for the aforementioned setting, we will provide hereafter a brief comparison between the mean-field prediction in 2D with the stochastic model.

2.2.5 On the validity of the mean-field approximation: comparing stochastic and mean-field simulations in 2D

To test the adequacy of the proposed mean-field model we have performed a campaign of numerical simulations, with reference to the 2D setting. More specifically we have implemented a Monte Carlo scheme to solve the stochastic process under scrutiny and so trace the evolution of the tagged particle in time. At each time iteration, all crowders and the tagged particle can update their position, moving at random, and with equal probability, in one of the four allowed directions, provided the selected target site is unoccupied. If the destination site is occupied, the move is rejected and the particles keep their original positions. The order of selection of the particles is, at each iteration, randomized. By averaging over many independent realizations, one can reconstruct the normalized histogram of the position visited by the tagged particles at a given time t and compare it with the density profile ρ obtained upon integration of the mean-field system (2.27). To carry out the numerical integration of the above partial differential equations we assumed a forward difference approximation in time and replaced the spatial derivatives by centered approximations. The result of the comparison is reported in figures 2.4(a) and 2.4(b), for two choices of the initial conditions. In figure 2.4(a), the tagged particle is initially positioned in the middle of a two dimensional waterbag, filled with crowders, with average density equal to ϕ_0 . In figure 2.4(a), the tagged particle is instead positioned, at time t = 0, in the center of an empty region, a square of assigned size. The crowders are instead assumed to occupy an adjacent domain with average uniform density ϕ_0 . In both cases, the agreement between stochastic and mean field simulations is satisfying.

2.2.6 Evolution of the mean square displacement: sub- and superdiffusive transients

Once the equations (2.8) describing the evolution of the density of the tagged species and the bulk population have been recovered, we shall use the results to identify the effect of the crowding on the global kinetics. More specifically, to understand how it impacts the motion of the tagged species, we study the time evolution of the mean square displacement (MSD) $\mu_2(t)$ of the recognizable particle, defined as:

$$\mu_2(t) = \int \rho(\mathbf{x}, t) |\mathbf{x} - \langle \mathbf{x} \rangle|^2 d^n \mathbf{x}$$
(2.28)

where $\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle = \int \rho(\mathbf{x}, t) \mathbf{x} d^n \mathbf{x}$, and the superscript *n* denotes the space dimension.

It is well known that the MSD scales linearly with time for unobstructed diffusion, while a sub-linear growth of the MSD is often interpreted as a direct manifestation of the microscopic competition for available space in crowded media. As we shall prove in the following, this is an overly simplistic picture, as more complex scenarios can easily be obtained by direct integration of Eqs. (2.8), where nonlinear MSDs emerge only as *transient* regimes. We are particularly interested in a specific class of initial condition, symmetric in the domain of definition, so that $\langle \mathbf{x} \rangle = 0$.

Let us first illustrate the one-dimensional case. At time t = 0, the tagged species is localized at the origin, while the crowders populate a compact domain also centered at the origin. In formulae, $\rho(x,0) = \delta(x)$, where $\delta(\cdot)$ is Dirac delta, and $\phi(x,0) = \phi_0 \left[\theta(x+x_0) - \theta(x-x_0)\right]$, with $\phi_0 \in [0,1]$ gauging the crowding strength (see inset in the upper panel of Fig. 2.5). From here on, as a further simplification, we assume $D_{\rho} = D_{\phi} = D$.

Fig. 2.5 shows the rescaled MSD of the tagged species as a function of time as obtained by integrating Eqs. (2.8) numerically. At short times, the tagged species is immersed in the almost uniform sea of surrounding crowders. Since ϕ is approximately constant, the tagged particles diffuse normally with an effective diffusion coefficient equal to $D(1-\phi_0)$. In the long-time limit, the crowders are evenly spread over the one-dimensional support (which we imagine closed but very large so as to neglect boundary effects). Consequently, the density ϕ is small and its contribution can be neglected in the Smoluchowski equation for the evolution of ρ (zero



Figure 2.4: Comparison between stochastic (black solid lines) and mean field simulations (red solid line). The stochastic simulations are averaged over 20000 realizations. Here $\phi(x, 0) = 0.5$. Two dimensional snapshots of the stochastic simulations are also displayed. The crowders are plotted as small black circles. The tagged particle is represented by the filled red square. Upper panel: initial condition (see first snapshot, top-left panel) originating a super-diffusive transient. Lower panel: initial condition (see first snapshot, top-left panel) causing a sub-diffusive transient. The two kinds of initial condition are the same considered in section 2.2.6

force). Again, we recover normal diffusion, but with a larger diffusion coefficient D. In short, the scaled MSD $\mu_2/2Dt$ is close to $(1 - \phi_0)$ at short times and converges asymptotically to 1. The two regimes of normal diffusion appear bridged by



Figure 2.5: Rescaled MSD of the tagged species as function of time for different crowding strengths in 1D. Time is expressed in units of $\tau_1 = x_0^2/2D$.

a super-diffusive crossover.

It is remarkable, and to some extent counter-intuitive, that a super-diffusive transient is found in a model accounting for crowding in the absence of driving. In fact, excluded-volume interactions among diffusing agents are customarily believed to lead to slower-than-diffusive spread of concentrations. We observe that the time duration of the super-diffusive transient increases quadratically with x_0 , the width



Figure 2.6: Rescaled MSD of the tagged species as function of time for different crowding strengths in 2D. Time is expressed in units of $\tau_2 = r_0^2/2D$. The qualitative behavior is the same observed for the 1D domain.

of the initial density of crowders.

Of course, the origin of the observed dynamics can be traced back to the force term in the current of tagged particles. The effective force $F(x,t) = -\partial \phi(x,t)/\partial x$ induced by the crowders acts as a systematic bias in the evolution of the density ρ . Initially, ρ evolves freely, as $\phi(x,t) \simeq \phi_0$ for all values of x where ρ is non-zero. Then, after a time of the order of $\tau \propto x_0^2$, the support of ρ extends to a domain where it is no longer possible to assume $\phi(x,t)$ constant. In particular, $\partial \phi(x,t)/\partial x < 0$ for x > 0 and $\partial \phi(x,t)/\partial x > 0$ when x < 0, which implies F(x,t) > 0, hence a forceinduced *boost* over the osmotic current. The mean-field force, which stems from the microscopic competition for space between crowders and tagged particles, pulls the distribution ρ away from the origin, stretching the right (left) tail towards the direction of positive (negative) x. This leads to the super-diffusive transient shown in the upper figure of Fig. 2.5.

A dual situation can be imagined yielding a sub-diffusive transient. To this end, let us consider the crowders to be initially distributed uniformly in a (large) one-dimensional domain of size 2L. At time t = 0, the crowders that populate a segment of width $2x_0$, centered around the origin, are removed from the system. This amounts to considering the initial distribution $\phi(x,0) = \phi_0 \left[1 - \theta(x+x_0) + \theta(x-x_0)\right]$ (see inset in the bottom panel of Fig. 2.5). At short times, the diffusion of tagged particles is not affected by the crowders. The rescaled MSD $\mu_2/2Dt$ is hence approximately equal to one and stays constant over a finite time window of order x_0^2/D . At long times, the crowders will have approximately relaxed to the uniform concentration $\phi_L = \phi_0(1 - x_0/L)$. Hence, the tagged particles will find themselves diffusing in a uniform medium with a reduced diffusion coefficient $D(1-\phi_L)$. The bottom panel of Fig. 2.5 confirms our reasoning, as the rescaled MSD $\mu_2/2Dt$ is seen to decrease monotonously, interpolating between the initial plateau $\mu_2/2Dt = 1$ and the final value $\mu_2/2Dt = (1 - \phi_L) < 1$. In this case, one thus observes a sub-diffusive crossover. In fact, in this case $\partial \phi(x,t)/\partial x > 0$, for x > 0, which implies F(x,t) < 0, *i.e.* an effective force that opposes the osmotic thrust to delocalization.

Let us now turn to considering the spreading of tagged particles in two dimension. To this end, we consider a straightforward generalization of the initial conditions discussed above, as exemplified by the cartoons reported in Figure 2.6. Sub and super-diffusive transients are again observed depending on the initial conditions, in stringent analogy with what observed in one dimension. Along the same lines, the observed behavior can be rationalized in terms of the effective force on the tagged species caused by the crowders. In this case, the total radial current is $J_r = -D\{\nabla_r[(1-\phi)\rho] + 2\rho\nabla_r\phi\}$. Again, we see that an effective force in the radial direction $F = 2\nabla_r \phi$ arises when the tagged particles diffuse into regions of changing density of crowders, yielding a current boost (super-diffusive crossover) or a drop (sub-diffusive crossover) depending on the initial conditions.

The situations described above can be easily recreated in laboratory experiments, by initially confining the particles, including those whose evolution is to be tracked, within a finite portion of the available space.

In summary, our results prove that both super-diffusion and sub-diffusion transients can occur as a result of crowding in one and higher dimensions in the absence of driving, depending on the initial conditions. These findings strongly warn against the simplistic identification of crowding with anomalous transport *tout court*.

2.3 The persistent random walk with exclusion and its continuum limit

In this section we want to introduce a different rule in the microscopic description of a random walk, prescribing that the agents, in addition to being subject to the excluded volume effects, also have a bias to keep hopping in the same direction as they did in the past.

A random walk in which the walker has probability α of continuing in the same direction as the previous step is known as persistent random walk (PRW). While the continuum limit of standard RWs is the diffusion equation, which yields an infinite propagation velocity, the continuum limit of the PRW is the so-called *telegraph equation*, which displays a transition from ballistic to diffusive transport at a characteristic time. The PRW and its connection with the telegraph equation were first studied by Goldstein in 1951 [81]. An interesting discussion of many applications of the telegraph equation can be found in a recent review by G. Weiss [82].

Working again in the same framework of SEPs models, we generalize the concept of persistent random walk to the case of interest where exclusion effects are to be accounted for. In the classical microscopic formulation of the telegraph equation, individual walkers are assumed to jump towards neighboring sites, with constant probability. One could imagine to modify the PRW by introducing an explicit constraint in the probability of jumps that weights the occupancy of the target sites. In doing so, we will obtain a generalized telegraph equation which includes non linear terms, reflecting the microscopic competition for the available spatial resources. It will appear how, while the nonlinear terms prove negligible in the diluted limit, when working at high densities excluded-volume corrections do matter. We will substantiate this claim both analytically and numerically.

From here on we will refer to the generalized model here introduced as to a persistent simple exclusion process (PSEP).

2.3.1 Mathematical model for the persistent random walk with exclusion

Let us consider a number N walkers on a one-dimensional lattice with spacing dand length L. According to the definition of persistent random walk [81], at regular intervals Δt a walker can jump in the same direction as it did at the previous step with probability p or invert its direction with probability q. We take q = 1-p, which amounts to assuming that there is no leakage [81] in the system. Let us denote with $a_i(n)$ the probability that a walker is at site i at time $n\Delta t$ having been at site i-1at time $(n-1)\Delta t$ (right-bound flow) and with $b_i(n)$ the probability that a walker is at site i at time $n\Delta t$ having been at site i+1 at time $(n-1)\Delta t$ (left-bound flow). If walkers are invisible to each other, the following relations hold

$$a_i(n) = p a_{i-1}(n-1) + q b_{i-1}(n-1)$$
(2.29)

$$b_i(n) = p \, b_{i+1}(n-1) + q \, a_{i+1}(n-1). \tag{2.30}$$

The above equations describe a discrete stochastic process. The continuum limit can be obtained by introducing the continuous probability density

$$P(x,t) = \langle P_i(n) \rangle \equiv \langle a_i(n) + b_i(n) \rangle,$$

where $\langle \dots \rangle$ denotes average over the trajectory of many agents, obtained by letting $d \to 0, \Delta t \to 0, q \to 0$. Working in this framework, it is known that one gets the telegraph equation [82]

$$\frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial t^2} + 2r \frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = v^2 \frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial^2 x}$$
(2.31)

with

$$\lim_{d,\Delta t\to 0} \frac{d}{\Delta t} = v \qquad \lim_{q,\Delta t\to 0} \frac{q}{\Delta t} = r.$$
(2.32)

In this section we wish to study how a persistent random walk is modified by enforcing the constraint that prevents two walkers to occupy the same site at the same time. That is, if the probability to jump to a given site is gauged by the current occupancy of that site. Along the same line of reasoning of SEPs and ASEPs, we modify Eqs. (2.29) and (2.30) in the following way:

$$a_{i}(n) - a_{i}(n-1) = [p a_{i-1}(n-1) + q b_{i-1}(n-1)][1 - P_{i}(n)]$$
(2.33)
$$-a_{i}(n-1)\{p[1 - P_{i+1}(n-1)] + q[1 - P_{i-1}(n-1)]\}$$

$$b_{i}(n) - b_{i}(n-1) = [p b_{i+1}(n-1) + q a_{i+1}(n-1)][1 - P_{i}(n)]$$
(2.34)
$$-b_{i}(n-1)\{p[1 - P_{i-1}(n-1)] + q[1 - P_{i+1}(n-1)]\}$$

where $P_i(n) = a_i(n) + b_i(n)$. Again, the idea is to gauge jump probabilities by the occupancy of the target sites. For example, the first term in the right hand side of eq.(2.33) states that a net increase of the probability at site *i* associated with the right-bound flow is only possible with a transition rate proportional to the amount of *free room* at site *i*, *i.e.* $(1 - P_i)$. If $P_i = 1$, no further increase of a_i nor of b_i is possible.

In order to take the continuum limit, we first divide Eqs. (2.33) and (2.35) by Δt and substitute q = 1 - p. Then, recalling the definitions (2.32), we get

$$\frac{\partial a}{\partial t} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} [a(1-P)] = -rJ(1-P)$$
$$\frac{\partial b}{\partial t} - v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} [b(1-P)] = rJ(1-P)$$
(2.35)

where P(x,t) = a(x,t) + b(x,t) and J(x,t) = a(x,t) - b(x,t). For the sake of the argument, let us consider the propagation of pulses in a fluid, *i.e.* traveling density fluctuations. Eqs. (2.35) contain the single-particle probability field P, which is a number between zero and one. The value P = 1 should correspond to the maximum density allowed in the system. Thus, more *physical* equations can be obtained by introducing the agent densities

$$\rho(x,t) \equiv \rho_M P(x,t) \tag{2.36}$$

$$\mathcal{J}(x,t) \equiv \rho_M J(x,t) \tag{2.37}$$

$$\rho_+(x,t) = \rho_M a(x,t) \tag{2.38}$$

$$\rho_{-}(x,t) = \rho_M b(x,t) \tag{2.39}$$

where ρ_M is the maximum allowed density, which in principle could be regarded as a parameter of the model. If we imagine that the agents have a finite size σ , *i.e.* we regard them as hard rods, one simply has $\rho_M = 1/\sigma$. Introducing the density ρ_M , eqs.2.35 become

$$\frac{\partial \rho_{+}}{\partial t} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[\rho_{+} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}} \right) \right] = -r \mathcal{J} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}} \right)$$
$$\frac{\partial \rho_{-}}{\partial t} - v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[\rho_{-} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}} \right) \right] = r \mathcal{J} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}} \right). \tag{2.40}$$

A system of equations for the densities $\rho(x,t)$ and $\mathcal{J}(x,t)$ can be obtained by adding and subtracting the two equations 2.35

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[\mathcal{J} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) \right] = 0$$
$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{J}}{\partial t} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[\rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) \right] = -2r \mathcal{J} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right)$$
(2.41)

As a general remark, we see that the microscopic exclusion constraint results in the appearance of nonlinear terms. The standard evolution of the PRW leading to the telegraph equation is obtained in the *dilute* limit $\rho \ll \rho_M$. Conversely, we may consider the full system (2.41) when describing transport in a crowded medium. The nonlinear equations here embody the microscopic excluded-volume constraint that impact strongly the evolution at high densities.

2.3.2 Mean square displacement in the limits $t \to 0$ and $t \to \infty$

We turn now to analyzing how the excluded-volume constraint affects the propagation of an initially localized pulse. It is well known that the PRW displays a transition from ballistic to diffusive transport, as exemplified by the mean square displacement (MSD),

$$\mu_2(t) \equiv \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}} \left[\langle x^2(t) \rangle_{\rho} - \langle x(t) \rangle_{\rho}^2 \right]$$
(2.42)

with

$$\langle x^m(t) \rangle_{\rho} = \int x^m \rho(x,t) dx$$
 and $\mathcal{N} = \int \rho(x,t) dx$.

As it is customarily done, we shall here restrict to a class of symmetric initial pulses, namely such that $\rho(x, t = 0) = \rho(-x, t = 0)$ and $\mathcal{J}(x, t = 0) = 0$. This amounts to considering the initial distribution of the right-headed agents equal to that of the left-headed ones. In this case, it is straightforward to show that $\langle x(t) \rangle = 0 \quad \forall t$. For the PRW one has

$$\mu_2(t) - \mu_2(0) = \frac{v^2}{2r^2} (2rt - 1 + e^{-2rt}) \simeq \begin{cases} v^2 t^2 & \text{for } t \ll 1/2r \\ \left(\frac{v^2}{r}\right) t & \text{for } t \gg 1/2r \end{cases}$$

When excluded-volume effects are important, it appears impossible to obtain a closed expression for $\mu_2(t)$. However, one can still capture the asymptotics in a particular symmetric regime and in the absence of boundary terms. Let us consider the Taylor expansion of $\mu_2(t)$

$$\mu_2(t) = \mu_2(0) + \mu'_2(0) t + \frac{1}{2}\mu''_2(0) t^2 + O(t^3)$$
(2.43)

In order to evaluate the coefficients of the expansion, let us multiply the first equation of eq. (2.41) by x^2 and the second one by x and integrate. Integrating by parts and assuming that boundary terms vanish, we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x^2 \rangle_{\rho} - 2v \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}} + \frac{2v}{\rho_M} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}\rho} = 0$$
$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}} - v \int \rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) dx + 2r \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}} - \frac{2r}{\rho_M} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}\rho} = 0 \tag{2.44}$$

where $\langle \ldots \rangle_{\mathcal{J}}$ and $\langle \ldots \rangle_{\mathcal{J}\rho}$ denote averages with respect to the corresponding (products of) densities.

Since the initial condition is symmetric, the first equation of (2.44) shows that $\mu'_2(0) = 0$. Differentiating the same equation with respect to time, recalling equations 2.41 and integrating by parts eventually leads to

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} \langle x^2 \rangle_{\rho} = 2v \frac{d}{dt} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}} - \frac{2v}{\rho_M} \frac{d}{dt} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}\rho}$$
$$= 2v \left(v \int \rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) dx - 2r \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}} + \frac{2r}{\rho_M} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}\rho} \right)$$
$$- \frac{2v}{\rho_M} \left(v \int \rho^2 \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) dx + v \int x \rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x} dx \right)$$
(2.45)

Evaluating the previous expression at t = 0 makes the terms involving \mathcal{J} disappear. Thus

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} \langle x^2 \rangle_{\rho} \bigg|_{t=0} = 2v^2 \int \rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right)^2 dx \bigg|_{t=0} - \frac{2v^2}{\rho_M} \int x\rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) \frac{\partial\rho}{\partial x} dx \bigg|_{t=0} \quad (2.46)$$

which yields:

$$\mu_2(t) \approx \mu_2(0) + v_{\rm e}^2 t^2 \tag{2.47}$$

with

$$v_{\rm e} = \frac{v}{\sqrt{\mathcal{N}}} \left[\int \rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right)^2 dx \bigg|_{t=0} - \frac{1}{\rho_M} \int x \rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_M} \right) \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x} dx \bigg|_{t=0} \right]^{1/2}$$
(2.48)

where we have used the fact that the quantity $\mathcal{N} = \int \rho(x, t) dx$ is constant if the boundary terms can be neglected. This is the case corresponding to a broad initial conditions, such as in the propagation of pulses initially displaying a finite support.

Fig. 2.7 shows the time evolution of μ_2 obtained by integrating numerically the system (2.44) with a forward-difference approximation in time and replacing the spatial derivatives by centered Euler approximations. The initial conditions are generalized Gaussian pulses of the type

$$\rho(x,t=0) = \phi \, e^{-x^{2\beta}/2\sigma^2}.$$
(2.49)

This choice allows us to investigate the propagation of a pulse whose shape varies continuously from Gaussian ($\beta = 1$) to a sharp step function $\beta \gg 1$, while the parameter $\phi < 1$ gauges the crowding. It is not difficult to compute $v_{\rm e}$ analytically


Figure 2.7: Mean square displacement for a pulse of the kind (2.49) with $\beta = 10$ as a function of time for different choices of the crowding parameter ϕ . The dashed lines are straight lines of slope v_e as predicted by eq.(2.48). Inset: approach to the diffusive regime. The parameter $D = v^2/2r$ is the theoretical diffusion coefficient. The solid line refers to the PRW and vanishes as t^{-1} . The dashed line is an inversepower law with exponent 0.4, to be used as a guide for the eye.

from eq. (2.48) as a function of ϕ for a pulse of the kind (2.49). After straightforward calculations, one gets

$$v_{\rm e}(\phi) = v \left[1 - \frac{3\phi}{2\gamma} + \frac{2\phi^2}{3\gamma} \right]^{1/2}$$
(2.50)

where $\gamma = 1 + 1/2\beta$. It is clear from the figure that the approximation (2.50) captures to an excellent extent the initial ballistic stage. Furthermore, the numerical integration of eqs. 2.44 shows that asymptotically the propagation becomes diffusive, with the same diffusion coefficient $v^2/2r$ as the PRW. This is to be expected as $\rho \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$ and therefore the excluded-volume constraints (that is, the nonlinear terms) become negligible. Nevertheless, the inset in fig. 2.7 clearly shows that the approach to the diffusive regime is considerably slowed down as a result of crowding, and the more the greater the excluded-volume constraint.

Our analysis shows that the initial behavior of the mean square displacement is qualitatively the same as in the PRW, *i.e.* the propagation is ballistic. The effect of crowding is to decrease the velocity that characterizes the initial stage of the evolution. In Fig. 2.8 the effective velocity $v_{\rm e}$, normalized to the diluted limit v, is plotted as function of the level of crowding and for different choices of the parameter



Figure 2.8: Effective velocity (2.50) as a function of the intensity of crowding for a Gaussian pulse , for a generalized Gaussian with $\beta = 10$ and for a step pulse $(\beta \rightarrow \infty)$.

 β . Interestingly, v_e depends on the *shape* of the initially localized density pulse. The ballistic spreading of a super-Gaussian pulse, nearly a sharp step, proceeds with a considerably lower speed as compared to the spreading of a pure Gaussian pulse (see again eq. (2.48)). At large times, the mean square displacement for the telegraph equation becomes linear. Our goal is to understand whether the excluded-volume effects alter this behavior. Let us suppose that (ρ, \mathcal{J}) tends to a stationary solution for the system (2.41) as t goes to ∞ . Then we have:

$$\begin{cases} \lim_{t \to \infty} \rho(x, t) = \rho_{\infty} \\ \lim_{t \to \infty} \mathcal{J}(x, t) = 0 \end{cases}$$

where ρ_{∞} depends on the size of the domain since $\int \rho(x, t) dx = C$, with the constant C fixed by the initial conditions. Indeed

$$C = \lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{-\frac{L}{2}}^{\frac{L}{2}} \rho(x, t) dx = \rho_{\infty} L.$$
 (2.51)

The effect of the term due to the crowding $\int \rho^2 dx$ within the system (2.44) is negligible with respect to $\int \rho(x, t) dx$ as the domain becomes larger

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\int_{-\frac{L}{2}}^{\frac{L}{2}} \rho^2(x, t) dx}{\int_{-\frac{L}{2}}^{\frac{L}{2}} \rho(x, t) dx} = \frac{C}{L} \ll 1 \quad \text{if} \quad L \gg 1.$$
(2.52)

Hence the system (2.44) for $t \gg 1$ is approximated by:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt} \langle x^2 \rangle_{\rho} - 2v[z] = 0\\ \frac{d}{dt} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}} - vC + 2r[z] = 0 \end{cases}$$

where $z = \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}} - \frac{2}{\rho_M} \langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}\rho}$.

If we make the assumption that $\langle x \rangle_{\mathcal{J}}$ tends to some constant value, we get from the previous system

$$\frac{d}{dt}\langle x^2 \rangle_{\rho} = \frac{v^2 C}{r} \tag{2.53}$$

resulting in the same expression for the mean square displacement in the ∞ -limit that we find in the diluted case

$$\mu_2(t) \sim \frac{v^2}{r} t + \mu_2(0) \quad \text{if} \quad t \gg 1/2r.$$
 (2.54)

2.4 Discussion on the emergence of transient regimes

In last two sections we have analyzed the excluded-volume effects on two examples of random walks governed by different microscopic rules. Working with a tagged particle, we have shown that the excluded-volume effect can emerge in the macroscopic picture as a transient regime, either sub-diffusive or super-diffusive, depending on the specific initial conditions. When the crowders are uniformly dispersed around an isolated patch where the tagged species is initially confined, a sub-diffusive scaling for the mean square displacement of the density of the tagged species is observed. This crossover regime persists within a finite, possibly very long time window. On the contrary, if the tagged agents are trapped inside a uniform patch of crowders confined in a much larger, otherwise empty container, the excluded-volume interactions produce an effective force term in the current of tagged particles, that accelerates their spread with respect to the osmotic current, yielding a super-diffusive transient. The effect of the crowding is thus temporary, as standard diffusion is recovered in the long time limit.

A similar temporary effect is observed in the analysis of the persistent random walk with exclusion. The continuous limit of the persistent random walk with exclusions undergoes a transition from ballistic to diffusive regimes, showing the same transition as the corresponding persistent random walk which holds under diluted conditions. Thus, from a qualitative point of view, both the SEP and the PSEP models yield the same behavior. Nevertheless, by evaluating the parameters, we pointed out that the crowding causes the velocity in the ballistic phase to decrease. The effective velocity depends on the shape of the initially localized density pulse: the ballistic spreading of a sharp step function proceeds with a considerably lower velocity, as compared to that associated with a pure Gaussian pulse. Asymptotically, the propagation becomes diffusive, and it displays the same diffusion coefficient as the PRW, making the excluded-volume effect disappear in the long limit. We stress that crowding affects the macroscopic picture by inducing transitions between nonanomalous (standard) evolution regimes. These transitions can be mistaken for more general hallmarks if one restricts himself to insufficiently long time series.

2.5 Excluded-volume effects in non-homogeneous media

In the previous description we have described stochastic processes with homogeneous jump probabilities. More specifically, by taking $q_j = q$ in all the described processes, we assumed that diffusion did not depend on the agent's position within the domain. This amounts to model diffusion of particles in homogeneous environments, and eventually leads to a constant diffusion coefficient in the macroscopic picture. We will now move on to analyze diffusion processes inside inhomogeneous media. This, at the microscopic level, amounts to considering stochastic processes where the jumps are controlled by site-dependent hopping rates. We will show how, enforcing these rules, one can obtain three different nonlinear advection-diffusion equations in the continuum limit, depending on the particular rule that is used to embody site inequivalence at the microscopic level. Moreover we will see that the macroscopic description changes whether we take into account or not the excluded volume effect.

A stochastic jump process on a 1D lattice with inequivalent sites in the presence of a field and with excluded volume effect describes the most general SEP in one dimension:

$$n_{i}(k+1) - n_{i}(k) = z_{i-1}^{+} n_{i-1}(k) [1 - n_{i}(k)] + z_{i+1}^{-} n_{i+1}(k) [1 - n_{i}(k)] - z_{i}^{+} n_{i}(k) [1 - n_{i+1}(k)] - z_{i}^{-} n_{i}(k) [1 - n_{i-1}(k)].$$
(2.55)

Similarly to the previous processes, eq. (2.55) is to be regarded as the update rule for a Monte Carlo process, where $n_i(k)$ is the occupancy of site *i* at time $t = k\Delta t$, which can be either zero or one. The variables z_i^{\pm} take the value 0 or 1 according to a random number ξ_i which has a uniform distribution between 0 and 1. By defining the jump probabilities q_i^{\pm} $(j = i, i \pm 1)$ one can formally write:

$$z_{i-1}^{+} = \theta(\xi_i) - \theta(\xi_i - q_{i-1}^{+})$$

$$z_{i+1}^{-} = \theta(\xi_i - q_{i-1}^{+}) - \theta(\xi_i - q_{i-1}^{+} - q_{i+1}^{-})$$

$$z_i^{+} = \theta(\xi_i - q_{i-1}^{+} - q_{i+1}^{-}) - \theta(\xi_i - q_{i-1}^{+} - q_{i+1}^{-} - q_{i}^{+})$$

$$z_i^{-} = \theta(\xi_i - q_{i-1}^{+} - q_{i+1}^{-} - q_{i}^{+}) - \theta(\xi_i - 1)$$
(2.56)

where $\theta(\cdot)$ stands for the Heaviside step function and where we are assuming that $q_{i-1}^+ + q_{i+1}^- + q_i^+ + q_i^- = 1$. The ordering of appearance of the q_j^{\pm} in the above expressions is arbitrary. Equations (2.56) entail that $\langle z_j^{\pm} \rangle = q_j^{\pm}$, where $\langle \cdot \rangle$ indicates an average over many values of ξ_i , for a given configuration $\{n_i\}$. The above process is fully determined by the fields q_i^{\pm} , specifying the probability of jumping from site i to site i + 1 (q_i^+) or from site i to site i - 1 (q_i^-) in a time interval Δt .

A (discrete-time) master equation for the above SEP can be obtained by averaging over many Monte Carlo cycles performed according to rule (2.55)

$$P_{i}(k+1) - P_{i}(k) = q_{i-1}^{+}[P_{i-1}(k) - P_{i,i-1}(k)] + q_{i+1}^{-}[P_{i+1}(k) - P_{i,i+1}(k)] - q_{i}^{+}[P_{i}(k) - P_{i,i+1}(k)] - q_{i}^{-}[P_{i}(k) - P_{i,i-1}(k)]$$
(2.57)

where we have defined the one-body and two-body site occupancy probabilities

$$P_i(k) = \langle \langle n_i(k) \rangle \rangle \tag{2.58}$$

$$P_{i,i\pm1}(k) = \langle \langle n_i(k)n_{i\pm1}(k) \rangle \rangle \tag{2.59}$$

Here $\langle \langle \cdot \rangle \rangle$ denotes averages performed over many independent Monte Carlo cycles performed until time $k\Delta t$ starting from the same initial condition. We emphasize that the same equation has been derived through a slightly different procedure by Richards in 1977 [67].

A pondering pause is required at this point before carrying out the continuum limit. In fact, a moment's thought is enough to realize that there are (at least) three ways one can enforce quenched disorder, corresponding to spatially varying hopping rates, in a jump process with the aim of modeling propagation in a inhomogenous medium. The master equation (2.57) reflects only one of the possible choices.

Let us consider the jump from site *i* to site i + 1. The probability of an agent taking an $i \to i + 1$ leap can be equally well taken as (1) proportional to q_i^+ , (2) proportional to q_{i+1}^+ or (3) proportional to $(q_i^+ + q_{i+1}^+)/2$.

Let a be the lattice spacing and let us define a *reversal* probability ϵ_i , such that

$$q_i^+ = Q_i \qquad q_i^- = Q_i - \epsilon_i \tag{2.60}$$

The condition (2.60) (with $\epsilon_i > 0$) amounts to considering a field introducing a bias in the positive x direction. In order to take the continuum limit $\lim_{a,\Delta t\to 0} P_i(k) = P(x,t)$, we must require

a

$$\lim_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{Q_i a^2}{\Delta t} = D(x) \tag{2.61}$$

$$\lim_{a,\Delta t \to 0} \frac{\epsilon_i a}{\Delta t} = v(x) \tag{2.62}$$

Eq. (2.61) defines the position-dependent diffusion coefficient, while eq. (2.62) defines the field-induced drift velocity. Note that we are assuming that the reversal probability vanishes linearly with a.

All three cases correspond to the same space-dependent function D(x) in the continuum limit, as prescribed by eq. (2.61). However, as we shall see in the following, depending on whether rule (1), (2) or (3) is chosen, one is led to totally different advection-diffusion equations in the continuum limit.

2.5.1 Processes without exclusion

In order to illustrate this subtle point, let us start with jump processes in the presence of quenched disorder but with no exclusion constraints on the allowed moves. Following the same reasoning on the correlation probability, it is not difficult to realize that the three possible choices (1), (2) and (3) referred above lead to the following master equations

$$P_{i}(k+1) - P_{i}(k) = q_{i+1}^{-}P_{i+1}(k) + q_{i-1}^{+}P_{i-1}(k) - (q_{i}^{+} + q_{i}^{-})P_{i}(k)$$
(2.63)

$$P_{i}(k+1) - P_{i}(k) = q_{i}^{-}P_{i+1}(k) + q_{i}^{+}P_{i-1}(k) - (q_{i+1}^{+} + q_{i-1}^{-})P_{i}(k)$$
(2.64)

$$P_{i}(k+1) - P_{i}(k) = \left(\frac{q_{i+1}^{-} + q_{i}^{-}}{2}\right) P_{i+1}(k) + \left(\frac{q_{i-1}^{+} + q_{i}^{+}}{2}\right) P_{i-1}(k) -P_{i}(k) \left[\left(\frac{q_{i+1}^{+} + q_{i}^{+}}{2}\right) + \left(\frac{q_{i-1}^{-} + q_{i}^{-}}{2}\right) \right]$$
(2.65)

In the first case, eq. (2.63) (already obtained above), the rate for a given jump depends on the starting site, while the second, eq. (2.64), is the opposite, the rate depends on the index of the target site. The third case, eq. (2.65) is an intermediate, symmetric situation where jump rates are associated with *links* rather than with *nodes*. In the continuum limit $a, \Delta t \rightarrow 0$ one has

$$Q_{i\pm 1} \approx Q(x) \pm \frac{\partial Q}{\partial x}a + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^2 Q}{\partial x^2}a^2 + \dots$$

$$\epsilon_{i\pm 1} \approx \epsilon(x) \pm \frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial x}a + \dots$$

$$P_{i\pm 1}(k) \approx P(x,t) \pm \frac{\partial P}{\partial x}a + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^2 P}{\partial x^2}a^2 + \dots$$

(2.66)

Therefore, recalling eqs. (2.61) and (2.62), we have from eqs. (2.63), (2.64) and (2.65), respectively,

$$\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial J_1(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
(2.67)

$$\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial J_2(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
(2.68)

$$\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial J(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
(2.69)

where

$$J_1(x,t) = -D(x)\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial x} + \left[v(x) - \frac{\partial D(x)}{\partial x}\right]P(x,t)$$
(2.70)

$$J_2(x,t) = -D(x)\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial x} + \left[v(x) + \frac{\partial D(x)}{\partial x}\right]P(x,t)$$
(2.71)

$$J(x,t) = -D(x)\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial x} + v(x)P(x,t).$$
(2.72)

We see that the stochastic processes (2.63), (2.64) and (2.65) correspond to diffusion with drift (or, equivalently, in an external potential). In the cases of the two processes (2.63) and (2.64) the drift velocity comprises two contributions: the difference between the right-bound and left-bound jump rate fields and a contribution arising from the spatial variation of the diffusion coefficient. Interestingly, the latter term has the opposite sign depending on whether jumps at the microscopic level are controlled by the rates evaluated at the start or at the target sites. Conversely, considering symmetrized jump rates does not result in the appearance of such additional term in the drift velocity.

2.5.2 Enforcing the excluded-volume constraint

We can now come back to our original aim, *i.e.* taking the continuum limit of the master equation (2.55). It is now clear that, if we want to consider an inhomogeneous medium, we must not restrict to the prescription leading to eq. (2.55), but we must also consider the other two kinds of processes described above in the absence of exclusion.

Extending the reasoning that led us to eq. (2.55) and assuming the customarily mean-field (MF) factorization from the microscopic stochastic process described by

$$P_{i,i\pm1}(k) \equiv \langle \langle n_i(k)n_{i\pm1}(k)\rangle \rangle = \langle \langle n_i(k)\rangle \rangle \langle \langle n_{i\pm1}(k)\rangle \rangle = P_i(k)P_{i\pm1}(k), \qquad (2.73)$$

we obtain:

$$P_{i}(k+1) - P_{i}(k) = [q_{i+1}^{-}P_{i+1}(k) + q_{i-1}^{+}P_{i-1}(k)][1 - P_{i}(k)] -P_{i}(k)\{q_{i}^{+}[1 - P_{i+1}(k)] + q_{i}^{-}[1 - P_{i-1}(k)]\}$$
(2.74)
$$P_{i}(k+1) - P_{i}(k) = [q_{i}^{-}P_{i+1}(k) + q_{i}^{+}P_{i-1}(k)][1 - P_{i}(k)] -P_{i}(k)\{q_{i+1}^{+}[1 - P_{i+1}(k)] + q_{i-1}^{-}[1 - P_{i-1}(k)]\}$$
(2.75)
$$P_{i}(k+1) - P_{i}(k) = \left(\frac{q_{i+1}^{-} + q_{i}^{-}}{2}\right) P_{i+1}(k)[1 - P_{i}(k)] + \left(\frac{q_{i+1}^{+} + q_{i}^{+}}{2}\right) P_{i-1}(k)[1 - P_{i}(k)] - \left(\frac{q_{i+1}^{+} + q_{i}^{-}}{2}\right) P_{i}(k)[1 - P_{i+1}(k)] - \left(\frac{q_{i-1}^{-} + q_{i}^{-}}{2}\right) P_{i}(k)[1 - P_{i-1}(k)].$$
(2.76)

The continuum limit $a, \Delta t \to 0$ of the above master equations is readily obtained by introducing as above the Taylor expansions of q(x) and P(x, t). In this way we find:

$$\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{J}_1(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
(2.77)

$$\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{J}_2(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
(2.78)

$$\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{J}_3(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
(2.79)

where

$$\mathcal{J}_{1}(x,t) = -[1-P(x,t)]\frac{\partial}{\partial x}[D(x)P(x,t)] - D(x)P(x,t)\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial x} + v(x)P(x,t)[1-P(x,t)]$$

$$\mathcal{J}_{2}(x,t) = P(x,t)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\{D(x)[1-P(x,t)]\} - D(x)[1-P(x,t)]\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial x}$$
(2.80)

$$+ v(x)P(x,t)[1 - P(x,t)]$$
(2.81)

$$\mathcal{J}_3(x,t) = -D(x)\frac{\partial P(x,t)}{\partial x} + v(x)P(x,t)[1-P(x,t)].$$
(2.82)

We see that even in the case of excluded-volume interactions, the mean-field equations can be cast in the form of continuity equations with suitably defined currents given by eqs. (2.80), (2.81) and (2.82). Moreover, as for the symmetric exclusion process without quenched disorder, the microscopic exclusion constraint disappears in taking the continuum limit of the master equation (2.76) for $q_i^+ = q_i^-$, which yields a zero-advection-diffusion equation, eq. (2.79), identical to its counterpart with no exclusion, eq. (2.69).

Eqs. (2.77), (2.78) and (2.79) are nonlinear advection-diffusion equation, appropriate for describing the continuum limit of a microscopic exclusion process occurring on a lattice of inequivalent sites in the presence of a field. It is interesting to note that in the case of equivalent sites, which translates to a constant diffusion coefficient, the diffusive parts become linear, *i.e.* the microscopic exclusion rule is *lost* in the diffusive part. In the case of zero field, one then simply recovers the ordinary diffusion equation for the three jump processes, which, as it is widely known, can be derived from a microscopic jump process with no exclusion rules. This curious observation has been first reported by Huber [83]. If both the diffusion coefficient and the drift velocity are constant, eqs. (2.77), (2.78) and (2.79) all reduce to

$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = D\nabla^2 P - v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} [P(1-P)]$$
(2.83)

an equation already obtained recently in Ref. [84].

Eqs. (2.77), (2.78) and (2.79) contain the single-particle probability field P(x,t), which is a number between zero and one. The value P = 1 should correspond to the maximum density ρ_M allowed in the system. Thus, more *physical* equations can be obtained as in section 2.3 by introducing the agent density

$$\rho(x,t) \equiv \rho_M P(x,t) = \frac{\phi_M}{v_d(\sigma/2)} P(x,t)$$
(2.84)

where

$$v_d(r) = \frac{(\pi^{1/2}r)^d}{\Gamma(1+d/2)}$$
(2.85)

is the volume of a *d*-dimensional sphere ¹ of radius r and ϕ_M is the maximum packing fraction for systems of *d*-dimensional hard spheres, $\phi_M = 1$ (d = 1), $\phi_M = \pi/\sqrt{12} \approx$ 0.907 (d = 2) and $\phi_M = \pi/\sqrt{18} \approx 0.740$ (d = 3) [85]. With these definitions, and using a more general vector notation, eqs. (2.77), (2.78) and (2.79) become

$$\frac{\partial \rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)}{\partial t} = -\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{1}(\boldsymbol{x},t)$$

$$\frac{\partial \rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)}{\partial t} = -\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{2}(\boldsymbol{x},t)$$

$$\frac{\partial \rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)}{\partial t} = -\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x},t)$$
(2.86)

¹We emphasize that we use the general terminology of d-dimensional hard spheres. Obviously, these are hard rods in one dimension and hard disks in two.

with

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{1}(\boldsymbol{x},t) &= -\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}}\right)\nabla[D(\boldsymbol{x})\rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)] - D(\boldsymbol{x})\left(\frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}}\right)\nabla\rho(\boldsymbol{x},t) \\ &+ \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x})\rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}}\right) \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{2}(\boldsymbol{x},t) &= \rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)\nabla\left[D(\boldsymbol{x})\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}}\right)\right] - D(\boldsymbol{x})\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}}\right)\nabla\rho(\boldsymbol{x},t) \\ &+ \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x})\rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}}\right) \\ \boldsymbol{\mathcal{J}}_{3}(\boldsymbol{x},t) &= -D(\boldsymbol{x})\nabla\rho(\boldsymbol{x},t) + \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x})\rho(\boldsymbol{x},t)\left(1-\frac{\rho}{\rho_{M}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

For a homogeneous medium in the absence of a field these reduce to a simple diffusion equation. Only for inequivalent sites and/or in the presence of a field the microscopic exclusion constraint does survive in the mean-field limit.

As a final remark, we note that analogous models have been derived following similar lines in Ref. [86, 87]. Nonlinear mean-field equations for exclusion process of this type have been used since the 70s to investigate one-dimensional transport in solids [83]. In fact, despite mean-field descriptions for the inhomogeneous ASEP are known to provide imperfect descriptions of certain non-equilibrium observables in one dimension, *e.g.* the current-density relation and critical exponents [88], continuum descriptions can be employed reliably to track the time-evolution of large-wavelength density fluctuations [86, 89, 90, 80, 91, 92, 93, 84].

2.6 Extended crowding

In the previous section we described how to derive macroscopic mean-field equations starting from microscopic master equations which account for exclusion effects. In our description we did not take into account the size and the shape of the agents by prescribing that each molecule can occupy just one site and can not jump into a site which is already occupied by another agent. To recover a macroscopic continuous description, we performed the limit for vanishing lattice spacing. This strategy amounts to considering agents of vanishing size in the continuum limit. We term this peculiar situation in the macroscopic world *point-like crowding*, as opposed to the concept of *extended crowding* which takes into account the finite dimension of the particles. As we have shown in the previous sections, considerable microscopic information is lost in the continuum limit with point-like agents. The point-like characterization has to be the reason why the mean-field approximation loses the memory of the microscopic exclusion constraint and the diffusion equation is recovered for equivalent sites in the absence of a field. In this spirit we want to investigate whether working in the framework of extended crowding allows one to keep track of the excluded volume effects even in the absence of external forces or inhomogeneities in the domain. Moreover, in many biological contexts, the different shape and dimension of individuals in various populations which are diffusing in the same environment do have an influence on the extent of the collective motion. For these reasons we are interested in microscopic exclusion processes involving agents characterized by a finite size, as opposed to standard SEPs.

2.6.1 Extended crowding models and possible interpretations

The fact that cells are often elongated and rod-shaped inspired the development of exclusion process models using elongated agents in the form of *hard rods* as the individual units [94, 95]. The first model for the diffusion of extended particles with exclusion interactions on a one-dimensional lattice is described in Ref. [96] for a general process involving symmetric, as well as asymmetric, hopping dynamics of the rods (the theory is named L-ASEP). Referring to rods of length L, where Lhas to be interpreted as the aspect ratio between the dimensions of the elongated agent, the authors derive a mean-field equation for the one-dimensional exclusion process. In the absence of a field and for equivalent sites the equation for the density of particles reads:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = D_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x^2} \left[\frac{\rho}{1 - (L - 1)\rho} \right]. \tag{2.87}$$

The previous equation shows that, at least in one dimension, the extendedcrowding procedure yields a modified diffusion term even in the absence of external fields or spatial inhomogeneities. By defining a density-dependent diffusion coefficient $D(\rho) = D_0/[(1-(L-1)\rho]^2)$, which has to be regarded as a collective diffusivity, eq. (2.87) can be reformulated as a nonlinear transport equation:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[D(\rho) \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x} \right]$$
(2.88)

The nonlinear diffusion equation (2.87) has been derived through an ingenious but complicate change of variables based on a quantitative mapping between the L-ASEP and the zero-range process [96], however, it turns out that it can be regarded as the local-density approximation (LDA) of a simple general property of one-dimensional exclusion processes. As pointed out in 1967 by Lebowitz and Percus [97] concerning bulk properties:

"For many purposes, however, adding a finite diameter does not introduce any new complications; it merely requires the replacement in certain expressions of the actual volume per particle ρ^{-1} by the reduced volume $\rho^{-1} - \sigma$, i.e. $\rho \to \rho/(1 - \sigma \rho)$."

In that sense, the quantity $\rho/[1 - (L-1)\rho]$ is recognized as an effective density in Ref. [98] while computing the velocity of finite sized particles which occupy Lunits of lattice spacing in one dimension. By performing the substitution

$$\rho(x,t) \rightarrow \frac{\rho(x,t)}{\left[1 - (L-1)\rho(x,t)\right]}$$

in the Ficks law, one recovers (2.87). Point-like crowding in the mean field approximation corresponds to systems of fully penetrable spheres, while extended-size crowding yields a transport equation suitable for systems of totally impenetrable (hard) spheres. We stress that the case of point-like crowding is recovered for agents of aspect ratio L = 1. The discussion above which leads to equation (2.87) applies to one dimensional systems. Starting from this setting, one can raise the question whether similar arguments might be employed to obtain a modified nonlinear equation accounting for excluded volume effects in the diffusion of hard spheres in two and three dimensions. Unfortunately, the strategy used to recover equation (2.87) in [96] can not be employed to provide a description of the extended crowding in higher

dimensions. Several other models have been proposed for two and three dimensional domains [94, 99, 100], starting from stochastic processes enforced with different microscopic rules. Depending on the shape of the agents (hard rods or hard spheres), on the prescribed hopping rules, on the allowed mechanisms for changing the orientation of the agents (rotation or *reptation*), and on the mean field assumptions made to recover the macroscopic picture, different equations are derived for the density of extended particles in higher dimensions.

In Ref.[99] the diffusion of dimers (hard rods with L = 2) is studied from microscopic rules in one and two dimensions. In the one dimensional lattice, for the simplest case of a single population without overlapping processes, the authors propose a discrete model for the probability of a site *i* being occupied by the right side of an agent after *n* time steps. A mean-field equation is then obtained by restricting the correlation between the occupancy probabilities to the nearest neighboring sites. The continuum limit for the average right side occupancy *R* in 1D reads:

$$\frac{\partial R}{\partial t} = D_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left((1 + 2(L-1)R) \frac{\partial R}{\partial x} \right).$$
(2.89)

The inconsistency between equation (2.87) and (2.89) is only apparent. In fact, due to the approximation on the probabilities of occupancy (the probability of a site being occupied is assumed to depend only on the occupancies of the next (L - 1) neighboring sites), eq. (2.89) is more accurate at low densities. At once, the collective diffusivity in (2.88) at low densities becomes $D(\rho) \simeq D_0(1+2(L-1)\rho)$. For a two-dimensional domain the description is modified by allowing the agents (only dimers are considered here) to be oriented along their longer or shorter dimension, and to change configuration through *reptation* or traslation. For the simplest nonoverlapping case, after constructing a covering lattice and mapping the problem onto a monomer problem for the motion of the center of the particles, a mean field hypothesis on the correlation of occupancy probabilities for neighboring sites is enforced. The resulting PDE for the total agent occupancy T (both orientations are considered) is:

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = D_0 \nabla \cdot [(1+2T)\nabla T].$$
(2.90)

Several extension of this model are considered, for example by accounting for the presence of k different species of dimers, the authors obtain the following equations, respectively in 1D and 2D :

$$\frac{\partial R_k}{\partial t} = D_{0,k} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left((1-R) \frac{\partial R_k}{\partial x} + 3R_k \frac{\partial R}{\partial x} \right), \tag{2.91}$$

$$\frac{\partial T_k}{\partial t} = D_{0,k} \nabla \cdot \left[(1 - \frac{3}{2}T) \nabla T_k + \frac{7}{2}T_k \nabla T \right]$$
(2.92)

where R_k is the right side occupancy of species k, R is the right side occupancy of all species, T_k is the occupancy of species k and T is the total occupancy of all species. It is interesting to note that, unlike the single species case (which can be retrieved by summing the equations on the k index), the equation in 1D and 2D for multiple species are different.

In Ref. [100] the excluded volume effects are analyzed with regard to the diffusion of finite-size hard speres in a box in two or three dimension. Starting from stochastic

stationary ensembles of d-dimensional spheres of diameter σ [101]									
	d = 1	d = 2	d = 3						
Fully penetrable spheres	1	1	1						
Totally impenetrable spheres	$\frac{1}{1-\phi}$	$a_0 = \frac{1}{(1-\phi)^2}$	$b_0 = \frac{1 + \phi + \phi^2 - \phi^3}{(1 - \phi)^3}$						

Table 2.1: The coarse grained particle conditional pair distribution function G_p for

differential equations for the position of the centers of all the N particles, the authors obtain the following equation for the packing fraction ϕ of the spheres in the limit of large N:

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t}(x,t) = \nabla \cdot \left[(1 + 4(d-1)\phi)\nabla\phi \right] \quad , \tag{2.93}$$

where d is the space dimension. In all the aforementioned models, for one, two and three dimension, the description of the transport of finite-size impenetrable particles leads to the same structure of the nonlinear diffusion equation. This motivates us to extend the aforementioned arguments by Lebowitz and Percus to higher dimensions.

We can identify the substitution made by Lebowitz and Percus as a mapping between certain statistical properties characterizing systems of fully penetrable spheres and totally impenetrable (hard) spheres, with reference to standard definitions of micro-structural descriptors in d dimensions [85]. More precisely, let us introduce the so-called *conditional pair distribution function* (CPDF) $G_p(r)$. Let r denote the distance from the center of some reference particle in a system with bulk density ρ_0 . Then, by definition $\rho_0 s_d(r) G_p(r) dr$ equals the average number of particles in the shell of infinitesimal volume $s_d(r) dr$ around the central particle, given that the volume $v_d(r)$ of the *d*-sphere of radius *r* is empty of other particle centers. Here

$$s_d(r) = \frac{dv_d(r)}{dr} = \frac{2\pi^{d/2}r^{d-1}}{\Gamma(d/2)}.$$
(2.94)

The CPDF for systems of fully penetrable and totally impenetrable systems are reported in Table (2.1) in the approximation of $r \gg \sigma$ which amounts to omit in the definition of the CPDF additional terms which scale as negative powers of the distance. In practical terms, restricting to large values of r amounts to imposing an effective degree of coarse graining, and so neglecting the fine detailed modulations which occur at small spatial scales. More precisely, this choice is expected to be more accurate at low densities, where neglecting the density fluctuations in the first coordinate in a shell does not introduce large errors. Form the analysis of Table 2.1 one can readily recognize the Lebowitz and Percus substitution as a mapping between the FPS and TIS CPDFs in one dimension.

This analogy suggests a highly speculative procedure to generalize the L-ASEP to describe excluded-volume effects in more than one dimension in the mean-field approximation in a homogeneous medium and zero field. For a spherically symmetric problem we posit

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = D_0 \nabla^2 [\rho \,\bar{G}_p(\rho)] \tag{2.95}$$

where it is understood that, according to the local density approximation, one should replace ϕ with $v_{\sigma}\rho(r,t)$, where $v_{\sigma} \equiv v_D(\sigma/2)$ is the volume of one hard ddimensional sphere, so that \bar{G}_p depends on r implicitly through $\rho(r)$. This is a highly speculative proposal, which however returns the correct description in the limit of low density: operating in this setting, the two-dimensional and three-dimensional non-linear equations for hard spheres (2.93) are recovered from (2.95).

In order to provide another a posteriori justification for eq. (2.95), it is instructive to consider how the classical problem of diffusion to an absorbing sphere is modified in a non-ideal fluid. Let us imagine a fixed sink of radius R_s that absorbs hard spheres of radius $\sigma/2$ and bulk density ρ_0 . The rate k measuring the number of particles absorbed by the sink per unit time equals the total flux into the sink. For ordinary Fickian diffusion, one has the classical result $k \doteq k_S = 4\pi D_0 (R_s + \sigma/2)\rho_0$, known as the Smoluchowski rate [14]. This result is indeed the prediction of a twobody problem, *i.e.* it amounts to considering the absorption of non-interacting, or equivalently fully penetrable, spheres. Thus, it describes the problem in the infinite dilution limit. Eq. (2.95) can now be employed to repeat the same exercise for hard spheres at finite densities, that is, the Smoluchowski problem with excluded-volume interactions accounted for. One should then solve the following boundary-value problem

$$\nabla^2 [\rho \, \bar{G}_p(v_\sigma \rho)] = 0 \tag{2.96}$$

$$\rho(r = R_s + \sigma/2) = 0 \tag{2.97}$$

$$\lim_{r \to \infty} \rho(r) = \rho_0. \tag{2.98}$$

The rate can be computed readily without really solving the (modified) Laplace equation. From (2.96), we have directly

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left[\rho(r) \bar{G}_p(\phi(r)) \right] = \frac{k}{4\pi D_0 r^2}$$
(2.99)

where we have defined $\phi(r) = v_{\sigma}\rho(r)$, so that $\phi_0 = v_{\sigma}\rho_0$ denotes the bulk packing fraction of the hard spheres. Integrating eq. (2.99) between $R_s + \sigma/2$ and infinity and taking into account the boundary conditions (2.97) and (2.98), it is straightforward to obtain

$$\frac{k}{k_s} = \bar{G}_p(\phi_0) \tag{2.100}$$

where $\bar{G}_p(\phi_0) = \lim_{r\to\infty} \bar{G}_p(\phi(r))$. In three dimensions, one thus has $k/k_s = b_0(\phi_0)$, where one can recognize $b_0(\phi)$ as the compressibility $Z(\phi)$ of the hard sphere fluid in the Carnahan-Starling approximation [102]. We see that eq. (2.95) allows one to recover the known result $k/k_s = Z(\phi)$, obtained in two different ways, by assuming a density-dependent mobility in the diffusion equation [103] and from a transport equation derived in the local-density approximation [104].

In all the models derived thus far the diffusion is treated as a non-ideal process because of the high concentration of molecules. In the following part of this thesis, we will abandon the microscopic level to examine a different kind of complexity. We will study the interplay between reaction and diffusion, and the non-ideal conditions will be determined by the complex geometry where the processes are analyzed.

Chapter 3

Theory of diffusion influenced reactions in complex geometries

In the second part of this thesis, we will move on to analyze chemical reactions occurring between different species in complex environments. Aggregation of proteins in composite structures of protein-protein complexes and reactions occurring between microscopic components such as substrates and enzymes are central activities underlying the function of living cells. These processes can be classified as *diffusion-influenced reactions* (DI), because they involve the diffusion of the reagents and the subsequent chemical fixation of the encounter product. Virtually all biochemical processes in living media can be counted among them, together with those occurring in an ever-growing number of emerging nano-technologies. The general goal of our study is to develop an analytical strategy to compute the reaction rate constant of such processes, while keeping track of the complexity of the environment. In many biological and industrial processes the diffusion of reactants takes place in a confined and crowded environment: cells for example are occupied for over 30% of their volume by membrane-delimited organelles and different sorts of cytoskeletal structures, as shown in Fig. 3.1.

In general, static or moving objects placed in the domain where the reaction occurs can modify the overall behavior of the diffusing agents and the efficiency of the binding process. Inside a cell, for example, a diffusing ligand encounters a large number of sinks, traps and obstacles that can slow down or even arrest its motion towards the nucleus or the target receptor in the cytoplasm. The extent of the alteration depends on the characteristic of the neighboring elements: number, size, position, shape, and their nature either reactive or non-reactive. To simplify the analysis of the reaction kinetics, these effects are often neglected for systems which are enough diluted to allow one to overlook the influence of other reactants and other space-filling species. In this limit the DI process can be represented as a two-body reaction and tackled through well known analytical and numerical schemes. On the other hand, in the majority of biological and technological media, the concentration of receptors, obstacles and reactive boundaries is sufficiently high to require an accurate analysis of the many-body interactions.

A general way to describe the formation of a product from a bimolecular reaction



Figure 3.1: Scheme of the interior of a cell showing the high density and heterogeneity of cytoskeletal structures.

between two microscopic components A and B in solution is:

$$[A] + [B] \xrightarrow[k_{D_{-D}}]{k_{D_{-D}}} [AB]^* \xrightarrow{k^*} [P]$$

$$(3.1)$$

where, following the standard notation, the symbol $[\cdot]$ denotes the concentration. For example, this might represent the catalysis of a substrate-product conversion or the formation of a stable protein-protein complex. The first step leads to the formation of the encounter complex $[AB]^*$. This process is driven by diffusion and characterized by a rate constant k_D . Once the encounter complex is formed, it can be either chemically fixed to give rise to a stable complex (with a finite probability expressed by k^* , or else the two molecules can diffuse away (with rate constant k_{-D}). In the quasi-equilibrium approximation, which amounts to consider a stationary intermediate product concentration (or equivalently, to be in a situation where the concentration of the substrate molecules B that are turned into product P is much larger than the concentration of A), the reaction scheme (3.1) can be approximated by the pseudo first-order reaction

$$[A] + [B] \xrightarrow{k} [P] \tag{3.2}$$

with reaction rate constant

$$k = \frac{k_D k^*}{(k^* + k_{-D})}.$$



Figure 3.2: Scheme of the bimolecular reaction (3.1).

k is the rate of formation of products, *i.e.* the number of B molecules turned into product P per unit time (it has the physical dimension of $[t^{-1}]$).

For the case of chemical reactions connoted by a high chemical affinity, such as antigen-antibody reactions (see section 5), one has $k^* \gg k_{-D}$ and the limiting step for the process is given by diffusion, because the agents react immediately upon getting in contact. The overall rate constant in this case is equal to the encounter rate $k \simeq k_D$. The reactions belonging to this class are named *diffusion-controlled* or *diffusion-limited*.

In 1917 M. Von Smoluchowski showed how to compute the rate constant k_D that controls the diffusion-limited formation of the encounter complex between a ligand (B) and a receptor (A) in a simple approximation of high dilution. The idea is that, under the hypotheses that:

- both ligand and receptor are represented as diffusing spherical bodies
- A molecules diffuse much more slowly than B molecules (they are of much larger size),
- both species are highly diluted
- the bulk concentration of A molecules is much smaller than the bulk concentration of B molecules,

it is possible to consider a single receptor at rest in the domain where the ligands are diffusing, and the chemical reaction can be mapped onto a two-body boundary problem [105]. More precisely, the receptor is represented as a spherical sink centered in the reference frame, with radius equal to the sum of the linear dimensions of the two molecules, $R = R_A + R_B$, while the ligands are point-like agents diffusing in the open domain with the effective diffusivity $D = D_A + D_B$. When a molecule of the species B reaches the boundary it is immediately absorbed: this physically amounts to say that the two agents react immediately when they get in contact. Here the hypothesis of high dilution allows one to neglect the encounter probability of two A and the effects of crowding for the ligands, in the sense that two B agents never interact with each other. With those assumptions, in the long time limit (we are assuming $t \gg t_D$, being t_D the characteristic relaxation time for diffusion), the concentration of the diffusing population obeys the Laplace equation, enforced with absorbing boundary conditions at the encounter surface, namely:

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^2 c = 0\\ c|_{|\mathbf{r}|=R} = 0\\ \lim_{|\mathbf{r}|\to\infty} c = c_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

where c_0 is the bulk concentration of ligands and the boundary $|\mathbf{r}| = R$ is a spherical sink of effective radius $R_A + R_B$ (the ligand-receptor encounter distance). This description applies for example to a ligand that is diffusing towards the receptor-covered surface of a cell (see figure 3.4 and the discussion in the conclusive chapter).

The solution of the stationary problem can be worked out explicitly as:

$$c(\mathbf{r}) = c_0 \left(1 - \frac{R}{r}\right). \tag{3.4}$$

The overall rate of the reaction (the parameter k defined in 3.2) corresponds mathematically to the flux across the sink surface (number of B molecules crossing the surface per unit time):

$$k = -\int_{\partial\Omega} J \cdot \mathbf{n} \quad d\sigma = D \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{\partial c}{\partial r} d\sigma = 4\pi DRc_0 := k_S$$

where **n** is the normal vector to the surface of integration and $\partial\Omega$ is the boundary of the sink. The specific value of the rate constant relative to the Smoluchowski model is customarily denoted as k_S^{-1} . The *perfectly* absorbing boundary condition at the separation surface of the two reactants characterizes the process as *diffusion limited*, because the reaction happens with probability 1 when the agents are at the encounter distance.

Our goal is to extend this simple setting by relaxing the hypotheses of extreme dilution and open domain, and accounting for partially reactive surfaces and more complex shapes of receptors. Before moving on to consider the many-body problem, it is useful to spend a few words to see how to introduce the partial reactivity in the mathematical description of the simple two-body setting (3.3). The idea, first proposed by Collins and Kimball in 1949 in [106], is that the chemical fixation rate k^* can be thought of yielding a finite absorption probability for ligand molecules: the encounter complex only gives rise to the chemical transformation with a certain

¹We note that the same symbol k_S is used in the literature to refer to the *rate constant*, with dimension $[M^{-1}s^{-1}]$



Figure 3.3: The problem of Smoluchowski

probability. According to this idea, the boundary condition in (3.3) can be modified to accommodate for this effect, yielding the so-called radiative boundary conditions:

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^2 c = 0\\ (R \frac{\partial c}{\partial r} - hc)|_{r=R} = 0\\ \lim_{r \to \infty} c = c_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

Here the parameter $h = k^*/(4\pi DR)$ can assume an arbitrary value between the limiting cases 0 and infinity. The meaning of the boundary condition in (3.5) is immediately clear: the reaction rate (which is the flux across the sink) is equal to the intrinsic rate constant, multiplied by the concentration of ligands at the separation surface. The solution of problem (3.5) maintains the spherical symmetry of equation (3.4):

$$c(r) = c_0 \left(1 - \frac{R}{r} \left(\frac{k^*}{k^* + 4\pi DR} \right) \right)$$

and yields the modified rate constant:

$$k = k_S \left(\frac{k^*}{k^* + 4\pi DR}\right).$$

By taking $k^* \to \infty$ in the previous expression, we recover the Smoluchowski rate constant k_S , while in the limit $k^* = 0$, the rate constant vanishes and the BCs become perfectly reflecting, $\partial c/\partial r = 0$. In the chemical physics community, chemical

reactions which are neither rate-limited by diffusion nor by reaction, that is with intermediate values of k^* , are termed generically *diffusion-influenced* [107].

Now that we have shown how to account for the partial reactivity of a given boundary, we can move on to describe the multi-body problem, which will provide a more suitable instrument for modeling diffusion-reaction processes in complex environments. In fact, in many realistic situations in chemical and biochemical kinetics, a single ligand (B) has to diffuse among many competing reactive particles (A). In addition, it might be forced to find its target within a specific confining geometry, which in principle can be modeled through a collection of reflecting boundaries.

Let us consider a confined spherical domain, containing an arbitrary number of spherical boundaries, each one characterized by a specific size and a specific reactivity. These structures are meant to represent all the reactive or inert bodies with which a diffusing molecule gets in contact while moving in a complex medium. For example, in describing intracellular diffusion, cellular organelles and other cytoskeletal structures which do not react with the specific ligands, can be represented as fully reflecting spheres or assemblies of spheres to make up other non-spherical shapes. This choice amounts to consider $k^* = 0$ in the BC, while the reactive targets are associated with values of $k^* > 0$. In this way, a diffusing molecule which gets in contact with one of the hard spheres can either be absorbed if the body is reactive, or just have its motion obstructed due to the steric effects of a nonreactive body.

To match this description, the Laplace equation for the density of ligands is enforced with (N+1) radiative boundary conditions, where $\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_N$ is the collection of reactive boundaries included in the domain Ω_0 :

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^2 c = 0 \\ \left(4\pi D R_{\alpha}^2 \frac{\partial c}{\partial r_{\alpha}} - k_{\alpha}^* c \right) \Big|_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} = 0 \qquad \forall \alpha = 1...N \\ \left(\frac{\partial c}{\partial r_0} - h_0(c_0 - c) \right) \Big|_{\partial \Omega_0} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

Here c_0 stands for the constant bulk density of ligands, k_{α}^* , R_{α} are the chemical and geometrical parameters which characterize the selected boundary, and h_0 specifies the reactivity of the inner surface of the confining sphere Ω_0 (we will discuss its interpretation in subsection 3.1.2). The solution of this boundary problem can not be worked out as easily as in the previous cases, since the global spherical symmetry is lost by taking into account multi-body boundary conditions. We will see in the next section that the confinement of the domain and the presence of multiple spheres require the use of more elaborate mathematical tools.

3.1 Analytical solution

The problem stated in the previous section can be solved both in the unbounded domain outside the given set of spherical boundaries, or within a bounded spherical domain that contains all the reactive boundaries. For the moment, we will restrict our analysis to the domain: N

$$\Omega = \Omega_0 \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha=1} \overline{\Omega}_{\alpha}$$
 as represented in Fig. 3.4. In the following (see chapter 4) we will



Figure 3.4: Schematic representation of the domain $\Omega = \Omega_0 \setminus \bigcup_{\alpha=1}^N \overline{\Omega}_{\alpha}$ where we look for the solution of the boundary problem (3.6).

show how to describe a situation where we consider $\partial \Omega_0$ (the boundary of Ω_0) as a permeable barrier between two regions with different properties.

Let us introduce the non dimensional quantities: the density normalized on the bulk value $u(\mathbf{x}) = c(\mathbf{x})/c_0$ and the variables $\xi_{\alpha} = r_{\alpha}/R_{\alpha}$ and $\xi_0 = r_0/R_0$, normalized on the radii of the reactive boundaries. The boundary problem (3.6) becomes:

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^2 u = 0 \\ \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \xi_{\alpha}} - h_{\alpha} u \right) \Big|_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} = 0 \quad \forall \alpha = 1...N \\ \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial \xi_{0}} - h_{0}(1-u) \right) \Big|_{\partial \Omega_{0}} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

We will refer to the parameter $h_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha}^*/4\pi DR_{\alpha}$, which determines the reactivity of the α -th sphere, as to the *intrinsic reactivity* of the selected boundary. Similarly, the parameter h_0 is the intrinsic reactivity of the inner surface of the spherical domain Ω_0 , which can be interpreted as carrying some information on the space external to $\partial\Omega_0$, even if the problem is considered only inside. More specifically, it can be interpreted as the ratio between the diffusion constants within the media lying at either



Figure 3.5: Multiple coordinate system for a general domain.

side of $\partial \Omega_0$: $h_0 = D/D_{out}$ ($D := D_{in}$, see also the detailed discussion in subsection 3.1.2). If system (3.6) is employed to model intracellular diffusion, and $\partial \Omega_0$ is meant to represent the cell membrane this ratio is usually < 1. Boundary problems of the kind (3.7), featuring multi-connected domains, are customarily solved numerically, with finite element methods, employed to avoid the substantial analytical difficulties of the calculations. Even if the numerical strategy proves to be effective, due to its high versatility, it does not provide any analytical insight and it involves extremely high computational costs, even for a limited number of reactive boundaries.

Our aim is thus to provide an analytical solution, which enables one to solve the problem to any desired accuracy for an arbitrary composition of the domain, which means for any choice of number, position and dimension of the reactive boundaries. The idea is to take into account (N + 1) spherical coordinate systems, one for each spherical boundary considered in the domain. Then we can write the solution of the Laplace equation as a sum of linear combinations of spherical harmonics, each one expressed in the spherical system associated with the selected $\alpha - th$ boundary. The global solution, which is formally expressed in (N + 1) different coordinate systems, contains one set of coefficients per each harmonic expansion. The global set of coefficients must be determined as usual by imposing the boundary conditions. This poses the biggest challenge, because in the neighborhood of each sphere this operation requires to express the global density as a function of the local coordinates. This is required since each boundary equation is expressed in spherical symmetry with respect to the corresponding local coordinate system.

We start by considering the (N + 1) spherical coordinate systems corresponding to each boundary (see figure (3.1)): $\mathbf{r}_0 = (r_0, \theta_0, \phi_0)$ and $\mathbf{r}_\alpha = (r_\alpha, \theta_\alpha, \phi_\alpha) \quad \forall \alpha =$ $1, 2, \ldots N$, where θ and ϕ identify, respectively, the polar and the azimuthal angles. It is known that the solution of the Laplace equation within a spherical boundary can be written as a linear combination of regular harmonics:

$$u_{0}^{+} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} u_{mn}^{+}(\mathbf{r_{0}}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} \xi_{0}^{n} Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r_{0}})$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} \left(\frac{r_{0}}{R_{0}}\right)^{n} P_{n}^{m}(\cos\theta_{0}) e^{im\phi_{0}},$$
(3.8)

while a basis of irregular harmonics must be used to express the solution within an unbounded domain outside a given spherical boundary (the regular harmonics diverge at infinity):

$$u_{\alpha}^{-} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} u_{mn}^{-}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} \xi_{i}^{-n-1} Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha})$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{r_{\alpha}}{R_{\alpha}}\right)^{-n-1} P_{n}^{m}(\cos\theta_{\alpha}) e^{im\phi_{\alpha}}.$$
(3.9)

Using the superposition principle for the Laplace equation, we can write the solution in Ω as a sum of linear combinations of regular (for solving (3.7) inside Ω_0) and irregular harmonics (for expressing the solution outside each Ω_{α}):

$$u = u_0^+ + \sum_{\alpha=1}^N u_\alpha^- = \sum_{n=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-n}^n A_{mn} \xi_0^n Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r_0}) + \sum_{n=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-n}^n B_{mn}^\alpha \xi_i^{-n-1} Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r_\alpha})$$

The values of coefficients of the above expansion are determined by imposing the boundary conditions. In the neighborhood of each boundary we have to express all the bases as a function of the local coordinates. More precisely, to determine the values of A_{mn} and B_{mn}^{α} , in a neighborhood of each $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}(\alpha = 1, 2, \ldots, N)$, we have to express u_0^+ and u_j^- , $j \neq i$, as a function of the \mathbf{r}_{α} coordinates, and similarly, in a neighborhood of $\partial \Omega_0$, we have to write every u_{α}^- as a function of \mathbf{r}_0 . To this purpose, we will make use of the addition theorems for spherical harmonics, [24].

Let us start by imposing the condition on $\partial\Omega_0$. Let $L_{0\alpha}$ be the constant vector connecting the center of $\partial\Omega_0$ to the center of $\partial\Omega_\alpha$, so that $\mathbf{r}_\alpha = \mathbf{r}_0 - L_{0\alpha}$. The relation $|L_{0\alpha}| < |\mathbf{r}_0|$ holds for all value of $\alpha = 1, 2, ..., N$ in a neighborhood of $\partial\Omega_0$, thus for every u_{α}^- we need the re-expansion formula from irregular to irregular harmonics (third panel on fig. 3.6)

$$r_{\alpha}^{-n-1}Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r_{\alpha}}) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{s=-n}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{l+s}(n+l-m+s)!}{(n-m)!(l+s)!} L_{0\alpha}^{l}Y_{sl}(-\boldsymbol{L_{0\alpha}})r_{0}^{-(n+l)-1}Y_{m-s,n+l}(\boldsymbol{r_{0}})$$
(3.10)

that after the change of indexes:

$$\begin{cases} n+l=q\\ m-s=g \end{cases}$$
(3.11)

can be written as:

$$r_{\alpha}^{-n-1}Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r_{\alpha}}) = \sum_{q=n}^{\infty} \sum_{g=m-(q-n)}^{m+(q-n)} \frac{(-1)^{q-n+m-g}(q-g)!}{(n-m)!(q-n+m-g)!} L_{0\alpha}^{q-n}Y_{m-g,q-n}(-\boldsymbol{L_{0\alpha}})r_{0}^{-q-1}Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r_{0}}).$$
(3.12)

After multiplying by R_{α}^{n+1} we obtain the non-dimensional form of the re-expansion formula:

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{\alpha}^{-n-1} Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) \\ &= \sum_{q=n}^{\infty} \sum_{g=m-(q-n)}^{m+(q-n)} \frac{(-1)^{q-m+n-g}(q-g)!}{(n-m)!(l+s)!} \left(\frac{L_{0\alpha}}{R_0}\right)^{q-n} Y_{m-g,q-n}(-\boldsymbol{L}_{0\alpha}) \left(\frac{R_0}{R_\alpha}\right)^{-n-1} \xi_0^{-q-1} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_0) \\ &= \sum_{q=n}^{\infty} \sum_{g=m-(q-n)}^{m+(q-n)} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \xi_0^{-q-1} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_0) \end{aligned}$$
(3.13)

where

$$V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} = \frac{(-1)^{q-n+m-g}(q-g)!}{(n-m)!(q-n+m-g)!} \left(\frac{L_{0\alpha}}{R_0}\right)^{q-n} \left(\frac{R_0}{R_\alpha}\right)^{-n-1} Y_{m-g,q-n}(-L_{0\alpha})$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^{q-m+n-g}(q-g)!}{(n-m)!(q-n+m-g)!} \eta_{0\alpha}^{q-n} \chi_{\alpha}^{n+1} Y_{m-g,q-n}(-L_{0\alpha}).$$
(3.14)

and we have defined $\forall i, j = 0, 1, \dots, N$:

$$\eta_{i,j} := \frac{L_{i,j}}{R_0} \quad \text{with} \quad \eta_{i,j} = \eta_{j,i}$$

$$\chi_i := \frac{R_i}{R_0}.$$
(3.15)

Hence the solution of our problem in the vicinity of $\partial \Omega_0$ can be written as

$$u = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} \xi_{0}^{n} Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r_{0}}) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} \sum_{q=n}^{\infty} \sum_{g=m-(q-n)}^{m+(q-n)} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \xi_{0}^{-q-1} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_{0}})$$

$$= \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} A_{gq} \xi_{0}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_{0}}) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} \sum_{q=n}^{\infty} \sum_{g=m-(q-n)}^{m+(q-n)} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \xi_{0}^{-q-1} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_{0}})$$

$$= \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_{0}}) \bigg[A_{gq} \xi_{0}^{q} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \xi_{0}^{-(q+1)} \mathbf{1}_{\{q\geq n\}} \mathbf{1}_{\{m-(q-n)\leq g\leq m+(q-n)\}} \bigg]$$

$$= \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_{0}}) \bigg[A_{gq} \xi_{0}^{q} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{q} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \xi_{0}^{-(q+1)} \mathbf{1}_{\{g-(q-n)\leq m\leq g+(q-n)\}} \bigg]$$

$$(3.16)$$

while the first derivative of the stationary density field with respect to ξ_0 reads:

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial \xi_0} = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_0}) \bigg[q A_{gq} \xi_0^{q-1}
- (q+1) \xi_0^{-(q+2)} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{q} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \mathbf{1}_{\{g-(q-n) \le m \le g+(q-n)\}} \bigg].$$
(3.17)

In the previous expression we have introduced the characteristic function:

$$\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{A}}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in A \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin A \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

where the subset A is identified by a set of inequalities involving the indices of the spherical harmonics. Having obtained the expression of the density in the coordinate system relative to Ω_0 allows us to impose the boundary condition on Ω_0 , namely:

$$\sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_0}) \bigg[q A_{gq} \xi_0^{q-1} + (-q-1) \xi_0^{-(q+2)} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{q} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \\ \mathbf{1}_{\{g-(q-n) \le m \le g+(q-n)\}} - h_0 \bigg(A_{gq} \xi_0^q + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{q} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \xi_0^{-(q+1)} \\ \mathbf{1}_{\{g-(q-n) \le m \le g+(q-n)\}} \bigg) \bigg] + h_0 \bigg|_{\partial\Omega_0} = 0.$$
(3.19)

Since the spherical harmonics are a base on the sphere, equation (3.19) implies:

$$A_{gq}(q-h_0) + (-h_0 - q - 1) \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{q} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \mathbf{1}_{\{g-(q-n) \le m \le g+(q-n)\}}$$
(3.20)
= $-h_0 \delta_{((g,q),(0,0))}$

which gives for every q = 0, 1, ..., N and g = -q, -q + 1, ..., q - 1, q:

$$A_{gq} + \frac{-h_0 - q - 1}{(q - h_0)} \sum_{\alpha=1}^N \sum_{n=0}^q \sum_{m=-n}^n B_{mn}^\alpha V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \mathbf{1}_{\{g - (q-n) \le m \le g + (q-n)\}} = 1.$$
(3.21)

Let us now consider the boundary conditions on the N spheres within Ω_0 . In the neighborhood of each $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$, we must express u_0^+ and each u_{β}^- with $\beta \neq \alpha$ in the \mathbf{r}_{α} coordinates. Let us first focus on the re-expansion of u_0^+ . Once we have expressed $\mathbf{r}_0 = \mathbf{r}_{\alpha} + \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{0}\alpha}$, where $\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{0}\alpha}$ is the constant vector connecting the center of Ω_0 with the center of Ω_{α} , we can use the re-expansion formula from regular to regular harmonics (see first panel on fig. 3.6)

$$r_0^n Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r_0}) = \sum_{q=0}^n \sum_{g=-q}^q \frac{(n+m)!}{(n-q+m-g)!(q+g)!} L_{0\alpha}^{n-q} Y_{m-g,n-q}(\mathbf{L_{0\alpha}}) r_{\alpha}^q Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r_{\alpha}}).$$
(3.22)

After dividing by \mathbb{R}_0^n we obtain the non-dimensional relation:

$$\xi_0^n Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r_0}) = \sum_{q=0}^n \sum_{g=-q}^q \binom{n+m}{q+g} \left(\frac{L_{0\alpha}}{R_0}\right)^{n-q} \left(\frac{r_\alpha}{R_\alpha}\right)^q \left(\frac{R_\alpha}{R_0}\right)^q Y_{m-g,n-q}(\boldsymbol{L_{0\alpha}}) Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r_\alpha})$$
$$= \sum_{q=0}^n \sum_{g=-q}^q H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \xi_\alpha^q Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r_\alpha})$$
(3.23)

where we have defined the matrix H:

$$H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} = \binom{n+m}{q+g} \chi_{\alpha}^{q} \eta_{0\alpha}^{n-q} Y_{m-g,n-q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{0\alpha}).$$

In order to express u_{β}^{-} with $\beta \neq \alpha$ on $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$, we consider $r_{\beta} = L_{\beta\alpha} + r_{\alpha}$. Since the relation $|L_{\beta\alpha}| > |r_{\alpha}|$ holds in a vicinity of $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$, we must use the irregular-to-regular re-expansion formula (see the second panel in fig. 3.6)

$$r_{\beta}^{-n-1}Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\beta}) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} L_{\beta\alpha}^{-(n+q)-1} Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha}) r_{\alpha}^{q} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}).$$
(3.24)

that becomes as a function of dimensionless variables:

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{\beta}^{-n-1}Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\beta}) \\ &= \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} \left(\frac{L_{\beta\alpha}}{R_{0}}\right)^{-(n+q)-1} \left(\frac{R_{\alpha}}{R_{0}}\right)^{q} \left(\frac{r_{\alpha}}{R_{\alpha}}\right)^{q} \left(\frac{R_{0}}{R_{\beta}}\right)^{-n-1} \\ Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha})Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) \\ &= \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} \eta_{\beta\alpha}^{-(n+q)-1} \chi_{\alpha}^{q} \chi_{\beta}^{n+1} Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha}) \xi_{\alpha}^{q} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) \\ &= \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} \xi_{\alpha}^{q} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}). \end{aligned}$$
(3.25)

where

$$W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} = (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} \eta_{\beta\alpha}^{-(n+q)-1} \chi_{\alpha}^{q} \chi_{\beta}^{n+1} Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha}).$$
(3.26)

Hence in the vicinity of each $\partial\Omega_{\alpha}$ we can write the solution as :

$$u = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha}^{-n-1} Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}) + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\beta} \xi_{\beta}^{-n-1} Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r}_{\beta}) + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} \xi_{0}^{n} Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r}_{0}) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} B_{gq}^{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha}^{-q-1} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}) + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\beta} \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} \xi_{\alpha}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}) + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} \sum_{q=0}^{n} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \xi_{\alpha}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}) \mathbf{1}_{q\leq n} = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}) \Big[B_{gq}^{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha}^{-q-1} + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} \xi_{\alpha}^{q} + \sum_{n=q}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \xi_{\alpha}^{q} \Big].$$
(3.27)

The derivative with respect to ξ_α is:

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial \xi_{\alpha}} = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) \left[(-q-1) B_{gq}^{\alpha} \xi_{\alpha}^{-q-2} + q\xi_{\alpha}^{q-1} \left(\sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} + \sum_{n=q}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \right) \right].$$
(3.28)

Imposing the boundary condition yields :

$$\sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) \left[(-q-1-h_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}) B_{gq}^{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}^{-q-2} + (q\xi_{\alpha}^{q-1} - h_{\alpha}\xi_{\alpha}) \left(\sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} + \sum_{n=q}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \right) \right] \Big|_{\partial\Omega_{\alpha}} = 0,$$
(3.29)

which gives for every q = 0, 1, ..., N and g = -q, -q + 1, ..., q - 1, q:

$$-(q+1+h_{\alpha})B_{gq}^{\alpha}+(q-h_{\alpha})\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-n}^{n}(A_{mn}H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)}\mathbf{1}_{q\leq n}+\sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N}B_{mn}^{\beta}W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)})=0.$$
(3.30)

We have thus obtained the second equation:

$$-B_{gq}^{\alpha} + \frac{(q - h_{\alpha})}{(h_{\alpha} + q + 1)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} \left(A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \mathbf{1}_{q \le n} + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} \right) = 0.$$
(3.31)



Figure 3.6: Scheme of the the application of the addition theorems (3.10), (3.22) and (3.24) for expressing the boundary conditions in the local coordinates on $\partial \Omega_0$ and on each $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$. The choice of the appropriate addition theorem depends on the ratio between the distance between the centers of each pair of reference systems and the norm of the position vector in the new reference system (see the discussion in subsection 3.1.1.)

To summarize, by using the addition theorems together with the uniqueness of the spherical harmonics expansions, we managed to map the boundary problem (3.7) to the solution of an infinite-dimensional linear system that has to be solved for the coefficients of the spherical harmonics expansion. More precisely, we have for all the multipoles $q = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ and $g = -q, -q + 1, \ldots, q - 1, q$ and for each reactive boundary Ω_{α} with $\alpha = 1, 2, \ldots, N$:

$$\begin{cases} -B_{gq}^{\alpha} + \frac{(q - h_{\alpha})}{(h_{\alpha} + q + 1)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} \left(A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \mathbf{1}_{q \le n} + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} \right) = 0 \\ A_{gq} + \frac{-h_0 - q - 1}{(q - h_0)} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{q} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} \mathbf{1}_{\{g - (q - n) \le m \le g + (q - n)\}} = \delta_{(g,q) = (0,0)}. \end{cases}$$
(3.32)

where

$$V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} = \frac{(-1)^{q-n+m-g}(q-g)!}{(n-m)!(q-n+m-g)!} \eta_{0\alpha}^{q-n} \chi_{\alpha}^{n+1} Y_{m-g,q-n}(-\boldsymbol{L}_{0\alpha})$$
(3.33)

$$H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} = \binom{n+m}{q+g} \chi^q_{\alpha} \eta^{n-q}_{0\alpha} Y_{m-g,n-q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{0\alpha})$$
(3.34)

$$W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} = (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} \eta_{\beta\alpha}^{-(n+q)-1} \chi_{\alpha}^{q} \chi_{\beta}^{n+1} Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha}), \quad (3.35)$$

where $\chi_i := \frac{R_i}{R_0}$ and $\eta_{i,j} := \frac{L_{ij}}{R_0}$ with $\eta_{ij} = \eta_{ji}$. The matrix representation of system (3.32) reads:

1	V^1	V^2		V^N		A_{00} :		1 :
H^1	—1	$W^{1,2}$		$W^{1,N}$		$\frac{A_{N_M N_M}}{B_{00}^1}$		0 0
H^2	$W^{2,1}$	-1		$W^{2,N}$	×	$\vdots B^1_{N_M N_M}$	=	: 0
	÷	÷	·	÷		B_{00}^N		: <u></u> 0
H^N	$W^{N,1}$	$W^{N,2}$		-1		$\vdots \\ B^N_{N_M N_M}$: 0

where the physical, chemical and geometrical parameters (radii of the sinks, distances between the centers, reactivities of the boundaries) are hidden inside the matrices W, V, H.

In order to solve the infinite-dimensional system (3.32) one needs to truncate the expansion, by including a finite number of multipoles, N_t , which ensures that a desired accuracy is attained. The resulting truncated system for N internal boundaries comprises $(N + 1)(N_t + 1)^2$ equations.

The rate of a reaction between the ligand and a selected boundary Ω_{α} can be computed easily, by calculating the incoming flux as

$$k_{\alpha} = -\int_{\partial\Omega_{\alpha}} Jds$$
 where $J = -D\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial r_1} = D\frac{\rho_0}{R_1}\frac{\partial u}{\partial\xi_1}$

Substituting equation (3.28) in the definition of k_{α} , and using the properties of

Legendre polynomials, we get:

$$\frac{k_{\alpha}}{k_{S_{\alpha}}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} \left[(-q-1)B_{gq}^{\alpha} + q \left(\sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,q,q)} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \mathbf{1}_{q\leq n} \right) \right] \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{ig\phi_{\alpha}} d\phi_{\alpha} \int_{-1}^{1} P_{gq}(\mu_{\alpha}) d\mu_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \left[(-q-1)B_{0q}^{\alpha} + q \left(\sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,0,q)} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,0,q)} \mathbf{1}_{q\leq n} \right) \right] \int_{-1}^{1} P_{0q}(\mu_{\alpha}) d\mu_{\alpha} = -B_{00}^{\alpha} \tag{3.36}$$

where $k_{S_{\alpha}} = 4\pi D R_{\alpha} c_0$ is the Smoluchowski rate computed for an isolated sphere of the same radius in the unbounded domain. The procedure that has led us to the result is quite cumbersome, but we stress that once the initial effort is made to derive the structure of the linear system, we can directly use it to compute the reaction rate to an arbitrary distribution of boundaries. More precisely, given an arrangement of spherical boundaries, it suffices to substitute the structural and chemical parameters that characterize the configuration into the matrices V, W, Hand then choose a tolerance for the solution.

The analytical method that we have developed is an useful tool. On the one hand it can be employed to compute the reaction rate constant for a broad choice of *reactive landscapes*, made by assembling spherical boundaries of selected size at given locations in space and endowed with arbitrary surface reactivity, with much less computational effort than required by the usual numerical methods. On the other, the linear system (3.32) allows one to derive simple approximate analytical formulas that can be used to investigate naturally occurring reactive geometries and to assist in the design of artificial technological setups such as core-shell or yolkshell nanoreactors. In ref. [108] a similar method based on expansion formulas is used for solving the time dependent problem associated with eq. (3.7). The authors explicitly compare the efficiency of the analytical calculation with numerical methods based on finite elements, showing how the analytic approach reduces the computation time from the orders of hours to the order of minutes. We note that our method is utterly general, as it can be easily extended to accommodate for reactive environments realized with more complex, non-spherical boundaries. The only requirement is that one of the coordinate systems in which Laplace's equation is separable be used [109], and that addition theorems exist for the corresponding elementary solutions [110].

3.1.1 Rules for selecting the appropriate Addition Theorem

The addition theorems for spherical harmonics allow one to express a combination of spherical harmonics, written in multiple coordinate systems, as a function of a chosen one. They were of fundamental importance for the analytical derivation of the system (3.32), because they allowed us to impose the boundary condition on each sphere. Depending on the type of spherical harmonic that one wants to reexpand (regular or irregular) and on the geometrical parameters characterizing the



Figure 3.7: Vectors expressing the position of a point P in two different coordinate system S_{α} and S_{β}

domain, one among three addition theorems has to be chosen in each specific case. Let us suppose to have spherical harmonics $u^+(\mathbf{r}_{\beta})$ and $u^-(\mathbf{r}_{\beta})$ written in a spherical coordinate system centered in S_{β} , that we want to express in a given point P as a function of the S_{α} -coordinate system (see figure 3.7). The relation $\mathbf{r}_{\beta} = \mathbf{L}_{\beta\alpha} + \mathbf{r}_{\alpha}$ holds. The regular harmonics $u^+(\mathbf{r}_{\beta})$ are always expressed as a function of the regular harmonics $u^+(\mathbf{r}_{\beta})$ are always expressed as a function of the regular harmonics $u^+(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha})$:

$$r_{\beta}^{n}Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r}_{\beta}) = \sum_{q=0}^{n} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} \frac{(n+m)!}{(n-q+m-g)!(q+g)!} L_{\beta\alpha}^{n-q} Y_{m-g,n-q}(\mathbf{L}_{\beta\alpha}) r_{\alpha}^{q} Y_{gq}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}).$$
(3.37)

If one has to re-expand an irregular harmonic $u^{-}(\mathbf{r}_{\beta})$, two cases are possible, depending on the ratio between the distance $L_{\beta}\alpha$ between the centers of the old and new reference systems, and the norm of the the vector \mathbf{r}_{α} expressing the position of P in the new system S_{α} . More precisely, if $|\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}| < |\mathbf{L}_{\beta\alpha}|$, then we have to write the irregular harmonic as a function of the regular harmonics centered in S_{α} :

$$r_{\beta}^{-n-1}Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\beta}) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{g=-q}^{q} (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} L_{\beta\alpha}^{-(n+q)-1} Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha}) r_{\alpha}^{q} Y_{gq}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}).$$
(3.38)

Conversely, if $|\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}| > |\mathbf{L}_{\beta\alpha}|$, then we have to write the irregular harmonic as a function of the irregular harmonics centered in S_{α} :



Figure 3.8: Schematic representation of the domain $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\Omega}_1$ where we look for the solution of the boundary problem (3.40).

$$r_{\beta}^{-n-1}Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\beta}) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{s=-n}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{l+s}(n+l-m+s)!}{(n-m)!(l+s)!} L_{\alpha\beta}^{l}Y_{sl}(-\boldsymbol{L}_{\alpha\beta})r_{\alpha}^{-(n+l)-1}Y_{m-s,n+l}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}).$$
(3.39)

To summarize, one can use the following scheme to change variable from system S_{β} to S_{α} :

•
$$u^+(\mathbf{r}_{\beta}) = f(u^+(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}))$$

• $u^-(\mathbf{r}_{\beta}) = \begin{cases} f(u^+(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha})) & \text{if } |\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}| < |\mathbf{L}_{\beta\alpha}| \\ f(u^-(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha})) & \text{if } |\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}| > |\mathbf{L}_{\beta\alpha}| \end{cases}$

3.1.2 An interpretation for the boundary condition on the internal boundary Ω_0

In this section, we provide a plausible physical interpretation for the boundary conditions imposed on the internal surface of the spherical cavity Ω_0 considered in the problem depicted in Fig. 3.8.

Let us consider the following stationary problem defined in $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\Omega}_1$ in spherical coordinates

$$\begin{cases} \nabla \cdot \left[D(r) \nabla \rho \right] = 0 \\ \rho|_{r=R_1} = 0 \\ \lim_{r \to \infty} = \rho_B \end{cases}$$
(3.40)

where the diffusion coefficient is a step function

$$D(r) = \begin{cases} D_{\text{in}} & \text{if} \quad R_1 < r < R_2 \\ D_{\text{out}} & \text{if} \quad r > R_2. \end{cases}$$

The solution can be found as

$$\rho(r) = \rho_B \int_{r=R_1}^r \frac{dx}{x^2 D(x)} \left[\int_{R_1}^\infty \frac{dx}{x^2 D(x)} \right]^{-1},$$
(3.41)

and the rate of the reaction k becomes

$$k = 4\pi R_1^2 D_{\rm in} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial r} \bigg|_{r=R_1} = 4\pi \rho_B \bigg[\int_{R_1}^{\infty} \frac{dx}{x^2 D(x)} \bigg]^{-1} = \frac{k_S}{(1-\epsilon) + \chi\epsilon}$$
(3.42)

where $\chi = D_{\rm in}/D_{\rm out}$ and $\epsilon = R_1/R_2$ and $k_S = 4\pi D_{\rm in}R_1\rho_B$. Given $\epsilon = R_1/R_2 < 1$, and the fact that for many applications the ratio $\chi = D_{\rm in}/D_{\rm out} < 1$, the rate of the reaction is greater than the Smoluchowski rate to a sink embedded in an infinite domain characterized by a diffusivity $D_{\rm in}$:

$$k = \frac{k_S}{1 - \epsilon(1 - \chi)} > k_S.$$
(3.43)

We want to understand which are the hypotheses that make the system (3.40) equivalent to the following boundary value problem considered in the bounded domain $\Omega_2 \setminus \overline{\Omega}_1$

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^2 \rho = 0\\ \rho|_{r=R_1} = 0\\ \left(4\pi D_{\rm in} R_2^2 \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial r} - k^* (\rho_B - \rho) \right) \Big|_{r=R_2^-} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.44)

where k^* is the intrinsic rate constant. After defining $h = k^*/4\pi D_{\rm in}R_2$, it is straightforward to show that the function

$$\rho(r) = \rho_B \left[\frac{h}{h(1-\epsilon) - \epsilon} \right] \left(1 - \frac{R_1}{r} \right)$$
(3.45)

solves the problem (3.44) in $\Omega_2 \setminus \overline{\Omega}_1$, and yields the reaction rate

$$k = \frac{h}{h(1-\epsilon)+\epsilon}.$$
(3.46)

By comparing the reaction rates (3.42) and (3.46) obtained for the two systems, we see that the two problems are equivalent provided that

$$h = \frac{1}{\chi} = \frac{D_{\text{out}}}{D_{\text{in}}}.$$
(3.47)



Figure 3.9: Schematic illustration of an axially symmetric arrangement of spherical boundaries Ω_{α} inside a larger spherical domain Ω_0 .

3.2 Axially symmetric problems

It is instructive to consider axially symmetric problems as a start to illustrate our methods, as the calculations are substantially less involved. Let us consider an axially symmetric domain, with the centers of the spheres Ω_0 , Ω_k lying on the same line, as depicted in figure (3.9). The origin of our reference system is located at the center of Ω_0 with the z-axis passing through the centers of the other spheres. This choice allows us to take into account only the variables r_i and θ_i because the solution is no longer dependent on the azimuthal angles ϕ_i . The stationary concentration of diffusing molecules for a configuration involving N internal spheres centered on the z-axis is simply obtained by setting g = m = 0 in the system (3.32), since the solution is independent of ϕ . For this reason, the expansions involve the simpler expressions

$$u_0^+ = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n u_n^+(\mathbf{r}_0) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n \xi_0^n P_n(\cos\theta_0)$$

$$u_\alpha^- = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n u_n^-(\mathbf{r}_\alpha^-) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n \xi_\alpha^{-n-1} P_n(\cos\theta_\alpha).$$
(3.48)

In this case, the system (3.32) reduces to

$$\begin{cases} -B_{q}^{\alpha} + \frac{(q - h_{\alpha})}{(h_{\alpha} + q + 1)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(A_{n} H_{0,n}^{(\alpha,0,q)} \mathbf{1}_{q \leq n} + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{n}^{\beta} W_{0,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,0,q)} \right) = 0 \\ A_{q} + \frac{-h_{0} - q - 1}{(q - h_{0})} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{q} B_{n}^{\alpha} V_{0,q}^{\alpha,0,n} = \delta_{(q,0)}, \end{cases}$$
(3.49)

with

$$V_{0,q}^{\alpha,0,n} = (-1)^{q-n} {\binom{q}{n}} {\left(\frac{L_{0\alpha}}{R_0}\right)}^{q-n} {\left(\frac{R_{\alpha}}{R_0}\right)}^{n+1} P_{q-n}(\cos\theta_{L_{\alpha 0}}), \qquad (3.50)$$

$$H_{0,n}^{(\alpha,0,q)} = \binom{n}{q} \left(\frac{R_{\alpha}}{R_0}\right)^q \left(\frac{L_{0\alpha}}{R_0}\right)^{n-q} P_{n-q}(\cos\theta_{L_{0\alpha}}),\tag{3.51}$$

$$W_{0,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,0,q)} = (-1)^q \binom{n+q}{q} \left(\frac{L_{\beta\alpha}}{R_0}\right)^{-n-q-1} \left(\frac{R_\alpha}{R_0}\right)^q \left(\frac{R_\beta}{R_0}\right)^{n+1} P_{n+q}(\cos\theta_{L_{\beta\alpha}}).$$
(3.52)

The structure of the matrices H, V, W is much simpler here because the Legendre polynomials are evaluated in 1 or -1 (we recall that $P_n(-1) = (-1)^n$, $P_n(1) = 1$) because $\theta_{L_{\beta\alpha}} = \pm \pi$ depending on the relative position of the spheres. Moreover the dimension of the linear system (3.49) is substantially reduced: fixing a number N_M of multipoles leads to a system of $(N + 1)N_M$ equations.

3.2.1 The concept of diffusive interactions

When a ligand can react with two neighboring boundaries, the overall reaction rate is smaller than the sum of the rates associated with two isolated boundaries. This effect amounts to the existence of an effective interaction between two neighboring reactive surfaces. The described interaction goes by the name of *Diffusive Interaction* (DI). To illustrate this, let us consider two perfectly absorbing sinks whose centers are separated by a distance L. In 1976 Deutch, Felderhof and Saxton first introduced the concept of DI in the context of this problem [111], whose exact solution was first reported by Samson and Deutch in [112]. In the context of our theory, an approximate solution can be obtained easily within the monopole approximation (MOA) which amount to keeping but the q = 0 and n = 0 terms $(N_t = 1)$ in the system (3.49). By doing this in the unbounded domain $(R_0 \to \infty)$, it is straightforward to show that the rate per sink in the two-sinks problem reads [111]

$$\frac{k}{k_S} = \frac{1}{1 + R/L}.$$
(3.53)

As mentioned before, the overall reaction rate is less than $2k_S$, *i.e.* less than the sum of the fluxes into two isolated sinks. The two spheres compete for the flux of ligand molecules and shield part of the flux from each other. Furthermore, one immediately notices that the diffusive interaction is a long range effect, akin to the Coulomb interaction since it persists within any finite distance. This result was extended by S. Traytak in ref. [113] to the case of two different sinks of radii R_{α} and R_{β} :

$$\frac{k_{\alpha}}{k_{S_{\alpha}}} = \frac{1 - \epsilon_{\beta}}{1 - \epsilon_{\alpha}\epsilon_{\beta}} \quad \text{where} \quad \epsilon_{\alpha} = \frac{R_{\alpha}}{L}, \quad \epsilon_{\beta} = \frac{R_{\beta}}{L}.$$
(3.54)



Figure 3.10: Rate constant normalized to the rate of an isolated sink of the same size for a two-sink configuration with $R_{\alpha}/R_{\beta} = 5$ in the MOA (3.55). The rates are plotted versus the distance L/R

This generalization is a non-trivial result, for it allows to highlight an intriguing aspect of the diffusive interaction which arises only for different choices of the linear dimension of the sinks. Let us re-write formula (3.54) for $R_{\alpha} = cR$ and $R_{\beta} = R$ and let us consider the MOA for the rate constant relative to the boundary $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$:

$$\frac{k_{\alpha}}{k_{S_{\alpha}}} = \frac{1 - R/L}{1 - c(R/L)^2}.$$
(3.55)

If we analyze the behavior of $k_{\alpha}/k_{S_{\alpha}}$ as a function of the distance L between the centers, we find a non monotonic trend for selected values of the ratio c. More specifically, a minimum for the rate constant exists at $L = cR + R\sqrt{c^2 - c}$ for values of $c > (1 + \sqrt{5})/2$. This means that while the rate of the smaller sink increases monotonically with the distance L from the other particle, the same value for the larger sphere is first seen to decrease for small L (see Fig. 3.10). This is the result of the competition between two effects. When the small particle lies very close to the surface of the large sink Ω_{α} , the latter behaves as an effective isolated sink of size $R_{eff} < R_{\alpha}$, absorbing a flux $k_{eff} = 4\pi D R_{eff}$. Upon increasing the distance L, the total flux to the small sink will increase (its active surfaces get larger). The effect of this on the flux to Ω_{α} will depend on the size of the particle Ω_{β} . If R_{β} is small enough, R_{eff} is not much smaller than R_{α} , so that its flux at the contact distance is not much smaller than $k_{\alpha}(L \to \infty) = k_{S_{\alpha}}$. Under these conditions, the flux into the large sink starts decreasing, as the other screening particle effectively steal more and more flux from it. However, upon increasing L past a critical distance, the small particle can no longer catch enough ligand flux, so that the flux to Ω_{α} starts increasing, as it should, towards $k_{S_{\alpha}}$.



Figure 3.11: Normalized rate to the large sink in a system of two spheres for different choices of the ratio $c = R_1/R_2$. The rate is plotted versus the distance δ between the boundaries, normalized to the small sink's linear dimension. The symbols are the results of the analytical computations, the solid lines are plots of eq. (3.55). The position of the minimum, that is absent for c = 1, is shifted to the right as c is increased.

To verify that the non-monotonic growth is a physical effect and not just an anomaly introduced by the monopole truncation, we computed the exact reaction rate by solving the system (3.49) and we compared it with the monopole approximation. As it is clear from Fig (3.11), the MOA provides a good interpolation of the exact results, and the accuracy increases with the the ratio between the sinks' sizes. The position of the minimum is also well approximated by eq. (3.55).

As a second simple illustration of our theoretical procedure, let us consider the rate into a sink confined within a spherical cavity bonded by a permeable membrane. This problem has been considered in ref. [114] where a solution is worked out by posing the calculation in bispherical coordinates. This analysis is motivated by the fact that some bimolecular reactions are enhanced by confining the diffusion of the reagents to a restricted domain (see for example the recent studies on the reactivity of reactions confined inside micelles, vesicles and nanoreactors [115, 116]). In ref. [114] the flux into the inner surface of the spherical cavity is seen to increase monotonically as the sink approaches the boundary of the cavity. The two limiting cases, concentric spheres and internally tangential, are associated with the minimum and maximum rate respectively. This result can be recovered easily by applying our method to calculate the reaction rate for a sphere Ω_1 of radius R_1 placed inside a spherical cavity Ω_0 of radius R_0 , as shown in Fig. 3.12. The boundary conditions read:

$$\left(\left.\frac{\partial u}{\partial \xi_1} - h_1 u\right)\right|_{\partial \Omega_1} = 0 \tag{3.56}$$


Figure 3.12: Schematic illustration of a sink Ω_1 confined within a spherical cavity Ω_0 with the centers of the two spheres lying on the z-axis at a distance L.

$$\left. \frac{\partial u}{\partial \xi_0} - h_0 (1-u) \right|_{\partial \Omega_0} = 0. \tag{3.57}$$

If we let $h_0 \to \infty$, this amounts to considering a fixed concentration of ligands at the membrane $\partial \Omega_0$ *i.e.* equal to the bulk concentration (see also the subsection 3.1.2). The system (3.49) in this case takes the form

$$\begin{cases} -B_l + \sum_{n=l}^{\infty} \frac{(l-h_1)}{(h_1+l+1)} H_{n,l} A_n = 0\\ A_l + \sum_{n=0}^{l} B_n V_{n,l} = \delta_{l,0} \end{cases}$$
(3.58)

with

$$V_{nl} = (-1)^{l-n} {l \choose n} \eta^{l-n} \chi^{n+1} = (-1)^{l-n} {l \choose n} \left(\frac{L}{R_0}\right)^{l-n} \left(\frac{R_1}{R_0}\right)^{n+1}$$
$$H_{nl} = {n \choose l} \chi^l \eta^{n-l} (-1)^{n-l} = {n \choose l} \left(\frac{R_1}{R_0}\right)^l \left(\frac{L}{R_0}\right)^{n-l} (-1)^{n-l},$$

where, for the sake of clarity, we take the convention of placing the center of Ω_1 below the center of Ω_0 (see the scheme in Fig. 3.12). For the case of concentric

spheres (L = 0 inside the system (3.58)), only one coordinate system is needed. This allows one to write the density function in Ω as:

$$u = A_0 + \frac{B_0}{\xi_1} = A_0 + B_0 \frac{R_1}{r}.$$

Thus, in this case the monopole calculation coincides with the exact solution and the normalized rate can be explicitly computed by letting l = n = 0 in the system (3.58):

$$\begin{cases} B_0(1+h_1) + h_1 A_0 = 0\\ A_0 + \chi B_0 = 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.59)

$$\frac{k}{k_S} = -B_0 = \frac{h_1}{(1+h_1) - h_1 \chi}.$$
(3.60)

where $k_S = 4\pi DR_1$. For two totally absorbing boundaries $(h_0 \to \infty \text{ and } h_1 \to \infty)$ the reaction rate is enhanced with respect to the unbounded domain $(R_0 \to \infty)$, and depends only on the ratio between the radii:

$$\frac{k}{k_s} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{R_1}{R_0}}.$$

Before moving on to analyze more complex geometries it is instructive to examine another simple albeit non-trivial problem, namely the diffusive interaction between two sinks confined within a spherical cavity, separated by a permeable membrane from the outside (see figure 3.13). In the monopole approximation the system (3.49) with N = 2 and perfectly absorbing boundary conditions on each sphere reduces to:

$$\begin{cases} B_0^{(1)} + A_0 + B_0^{(2)} \epsilon_2 = 0\\ B_0^{(2)} + A_0 + B_0^{(1)} \epsilon_1 = 0\\ A_0 - B_0^{(1)} \chi_1 - B_0^{(2)} \chi_2 = 1, \end{cases}$$
(3.61)

where $\chi_i = R_i/R_0$, $\epsilon_i = R_i/L$. The normalized absorption rates to the two sinks Ω_1 and Ω_2 are:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{k_1}{k_{S_1}} = -B_0^{(1)} = a_1 \left[\frac{1}{1 + a_1 \chi_2 + a_2 \chi_1} \right] \\ \frac{k_2}{k_{S_2}} = -B_0^{(2)} = a_2 \left[\frac{1}{1 + a_1 \chi_2 + a_2 \chi_1} \right] \end{cases}$$
(3.62)

with

$$a_1 = \frac{1-\epsilon_1}{1-\epsilon_1\epsilon_2}, \quad a_2 = \frac{1-\epsilon_2}{1-\epsilon_1\epsilon_2}$$

The corresponding result in the unbounded domain (3.54) is recovered as $R_0 \to \infty$. To analyze the results, it is convenient to introduce a new function that measures the strength of the interaction between the two sinks:

$$H_D = \frac{k_{(1+2)}^{[2]}}{k_{S_1}^{[1]} + k_{S_2}^{[1]}} - 1.$$
(3.63)



Figure 3.13: Two reactive spherical boundaries inside a spherical cavity separated from the outside by a permeable barrier.

Here $k_{(1+2)}^{[2]}$ denotes the total rate into the two-sphere system, while $k_{S_i}^{[1]} = (1 - \chi_i)^{-1}$ is the rate of a single sink inside the spherical cavity at the i-th position. All the rates are computed here in the monopole approximation. We will refer to the function H_D as to the "diffusive interaction strength" because it quantifies the effects of the competition and cooperation between the reactive boundaries. The sign of H_D identifies the nature of the interaction: a positive H_D characterizes a cooperative interaction, the minus sign instead flags anticooperativity, while if $H_D = 0$ there is no interaction at all. For two identical sinks of radius R, the previous expression gives:

$$H_D = \frac{k_{(1+2)}^{[2]}}{2k_{S_1}^{[1]}} - 1 = \frac{\frac{a_1}{1+2a_1\chi_1}}{\frac{1}{1-\chi_1}} - 1 = -\frac{R/L + 3R/R_0}{1+R/L + 2R/R_0}.$$
 (3.64)

highlighting that in the monopole approximation the behavior is always anticooperative. In computing the solution, the number of multipoles that we need to include increases as the ratio R/R_0 increases. As shown in figure (3.14), if the MOA is not a good approximation for this geometry, even for small sinks, the dipole approximation (obtained with $N_t = 2$) already allows one to grasp the trend, at least for a reasonable range of the parameters. In figure (3.15) the ensemble of the two internal spheres is considered as a rigid body where the distance L between the centers is kept fixed and aligned to the z axis, while the two-body system is moved along the same line. The diffusive interaction is analyzed against as a function of distance



Figure 3.14: Diffusion interaction strength against the normalized distance between two identical sinks of radius R. The computation (symbols) is performed for two values of R. The monopole (dotted line) and dipole approximation (solid line) are compared to the exact results.

between the origin and the center of the rigid body. The figure shows that the anticooperativity is maximum when the barycenter of the two-sink structure is placed in the origin, and it gets weaker as we move one of the sinks closer to the boundary (see again figure (3.13)).

3.3 Diffusive interactions and excluded-volume effects among multiple boundaries

The role of the environment's geometry on the kinetics of bimolecular reactions and the diffusive interaction between many reactive boundaries is a key aspect in modulating the rate constants of diffusion-influenced reactions. For this reason its effect has been widely studied in the literature, mainly experimentally and with numerical methods. The efforts for the minimization of the interaction of a biomolecule with secondary species, that can compromise the efficiency of the primary reaction, is a fundamental goal for example in drug development and industrial pharmacology. Thus many studies have been carried out to quantify the effects of geometry and reactivity characterizing the domain where the reaction takes place, mainly through numerical simulations of mathematical models. This investigation is the goal of a recent theoretical study [117] that analyzes the screening of a sink, due to the presence of neighboring particles that can be either reactive or not with the same diffusing species. The analysis in Ref. [117] is carried out through a numerical finite-element (FE) method, employed to solve the stationary diffusion equation in simplified geometries. This study provides clear-cut hints of the subtle effects brought about by the environment's geometry but also highlights the impossibility of brute-force



Figure 3.15: Diffusion interaction strength against the position of the barycenter of the system of two sinks, for two different choices of the distance L. The variables z_1 and z_2 are the z-coordinates of the centers of Ω_1 and Ω_2 .

numerical approaches to assess the impact of more crowded and sophisticated reactive environments. A spherical representation of the reactants alike to the one introduced in our study is used in Ref. [117] to reproduce globular proteins and the reaction kinetics is described through a diffusion based model. The extremely high computational cost of the numerical FE procedure though, is a limit for the complexity allowed in the environment's representation. More specifically, the authors were able to analyze the diffusive interactions between multiple boundaries only for configurations involving at most 4 bodies, all of the same size. In the following, we will first show how our analytical theory is able to recover the numerical results reported in Ref. [117]. Then we will generalize this problem to include more complex configurations comprising many spherical reactive boundaries. We will show that a comprehensive theory to quantify the role of the environment's reactive geometry can be built by unfolding this many-body problem through our theoretical method, since its generality allows one to compute the rate constant for a given reaction occurring in arbitrary *reactive landscapes*, made of multiple spherical boundaries of given size and reactivity in three dimensions. Moreover, we will demonstrate how ready-to-use closed approximation formulas can be derived easily in most cases, providing a valuable tool to capture the effects of competition and cooperation between neighboring particles.

Let us consider a ligand with bulk concentration c_0 that is absorbed by a sink of radius σ with its center at the origin. The screening action of N particles of specific reactivities h_{α} can be cast in the form of a stationary problem for the normalized density of diffusing ligand molecules $u = c(r)/c_0$:

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^2 u = 0\\ \left(\sigma_{\alpha} \frac{\partial u}{\partial r_{\alpha}} - h_{\alpha} u\right) \Big|_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} = 0 \qquad \forall \alpha = 1...N\\ u \Big|_{\partial \Omega_{0}} = 0\\ \lim_{r \to \infty} u = 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.65)

Even if our method could be employed to examine more complex reactive geometries, realized by assembling a large number of spherical boundaries of arbitrary size and reactivities, for the sake of clarity in comparing our results with the numerical data in [117], we shall specialize here to the case of a central sink Ω_0 of radius σ surrounded by N identical spheres of radius $\sigma_1 = \lambda \sigma$ arranged randomly at a fixed distance dfrom the center of Ω_0 . Moreover, all the surrounding particles are taken to have the same reactivity $h_{\alpha} = h \quad \forall \alpha$. The solution can be written here as an expansion in series of irregular harmonics

$$u = 1 + \sum_{\alpha=0}^{N} u_{\alpha}^{-}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}), \qquad u_{\alpha}^{-} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} \frac{B_{m\ell}^{\alpha}}{r_{\alpha}^{\ell+1}} Y_{m\ell}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}).$$
(3.66)

The expansion (3.66) guarantees that $\lim_{r\to\infty} u(r) = 1$. Following the strategy introduced in section 3.1, we can claim that the boundary value problem is equivalent to the system:

$$-B_{gq}^{\alpha} + \frac{(q - h_{\alpha})}{(h_{\alpha} + q + 1)} \left[\delta_{g0} \delta_{q0} + \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} \sum_{\beta=0, \beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{m\ell}^{\beta} W_{m\ell}^{\alpha\beta gq} \right] = 0$$
(3.67)

for $\alpha = 0, 1, ..., N, q = 1, 2, ..., \infty$ and g = -q, ..., q, where

$$W_{m\ell}^{\alpha\beta gq} = (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(\ell - m + q + g)!}{(\ell - m)!(q + g)!} \times \left(\frac{R_{\alpha}^{q} R_{\beta}^{\ell + 1}}{L_{\beta\alpha}^{\ell + q + 1}}\right) Y_{m-g,\ell+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha})$$
(3.68)

with $L_{\beta\alpha} = X_{\beta} - X_{\alpha}$, where X_{α} is the position vector of the α -th screening sphere. We recall that the normalized rate constant to the central sink is simply:

$$\frac{k_0}{k_{S_0}} = -B_{00}^0$$

In Ref. [117] the solution is worked out by using the default direct linear solver FEniCS to compute the solution of the boundary problem (3.65) for N = 1, 2, 3, 4. Only the two limiting cases $h_{\alpha} = 0 \forall \alpha$ and $h_{\alpha} \to \infty \forall \alpha$ are considered, two choices that amount to consider, respectively, the screening spheres as perfectly reflecting and perfectly absorbing.

In figure 3.16 we compare the numerical FE calculation with the exact solution of (3.65) for N = 2, for both non-reactive and absorbing boundaries. It appears clear that the screening effect is harder to capture via a FE scheme in the case of reflecting obstacles than in the presence of competitive sinks. This discrepancy is in line with the general trend of the computational error involved in the numerical solution, which becomes larger as the reactivity of the neighboring spheres decreases



Figure 3.16: Total ligand flux to the central sink in a two-neighbor model normalized to $k_S = 4\pi D\sigma$. Two cases are shown for the neighbors, reactive (red) and reflecting (blu boundaries). The rate is plotted as a function of the normalized distance to the central particle. The analytical solution of (3.67) is compared to the numerical results taken from Ref. [117]. The different symbols correspond to different angles between the neighbors.

[117]. One remarks immediately that for every choice of the geometrical and chemical parameters the reaction rate to the central particle is reduced with respect to the flux to an isolated sink, because the external objects shield part of the ligand flux from it. It is possible to distinguish two main effects of the diffusive interaction. First of all, one has the excluded volume effect, which arises because the surrounding objects represent an obstacle that the diffusing molecules have to overcome in order to bind to the target site. However, a much stronger effect is represented by the competition among the three sinks for the common resources: the neighboring sites may bind the diffusing ligands, making them unavailable to the target receptor. The correction to the Smoluchowski rate appears to be short-range and non-dependent on the mutual positions of the neighbors for the case of non-reactive boundaries, while it becomes long-range and influenced by the mutual orientation in the case of reactive surrounding sites.

The authors in Ref. [117] suggested that, in the case of non-reactive neighbors, the rate function should depend linearly on the number of neighboring sites. By fitting the rate function with

$$\frac{k}{k_S} \sim 1 - \alpha(d)N,$$

where $\alpha(d)$ is a fit parameter dependent solely on the distance to the central sink, the authors of Ref. [117] obtained for fixed choices of d a good agreement for the inert spheres, and a large discrepancy for the reacting boundaries. This observation is in line with the strong dependency on the configuration for the reactive neighbors case. This problem lends itself perfectly to illustrate the degree of analytical insight afforded by our theory. For this specific problem, it is expedient to look for solutions in the form of perturbative series.

$$\frac{k}{k_S} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon^j C_j(N, \theta, \phi), \qquad (3.69)$$

where $\varepsilon = \sigma/d$ is the perturbation parameter and, in principle, the coefficients $C_j(N, \theta, \phi)$ depend on the configuration of the surrounding spheres and are given by the sum of the many-body interactions. The perturbative procedure consists in expanding the variables of the linear system (3.67) in powers of ε , after truncating the multipole expansion to the value of N_M which allows one to calculate the estimate (3.69) up to power j (see subsection 3.3.1 for detailed calculations). In the case of reflecting obstacles, one gets

$$\frac{k}{k_S} = 1 - \left(\frac{\lambda^3 N}{2}\right)\varepsilon^4 - \left(\frac{2\lambda^5 N}{3}\right)\varepsilon^6 + \dots$$
(3.70)

The approximation does not depend on the screening configuration and it is linear in N, as suggested in Ref. [117]. However, in the subsequent discussion we will show how this only holds up to sixth order in ε : it can be seen from the expansion that the configuration enters explicitly for successive powers of ε .

A similar procedure in the case of N screening sinks yields

$$\frac{k}{k_s} = 1 - \lambda N \varepsilon + \left[\lambda N + \lambda^2 \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \beta = 1 \\ \beta \neq \alpha}}^N \frac{1}{\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}} \right] \varepsilon^2 - \left[\lambda^2 N^2 + \lambda^2 \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \beta = 1 \\ \beta \neq \alpha}}^N \frac{1}{\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}} + \lambda^3 \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \beta, \delta = 1 \\ \beta, \delta \neq \alpha}}^N \frac{1}{\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} \Gamma_{\alpha\delta}} \right] \varepsilon^3 + \dots$$
(3.71)

where

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = 2\sin(\omega_{\alpha\beta}/2),$$

 $\omega_{\alpha\beta}$ being the angle formed by the sinks α and β with respect to the origin.

Eq. (3.71) makes it very clear that the configuration of competitive reactive boundaries does influence the screening effect on the central sink. In fact, in this case the screening boundaries compete with each other for the ligand flux, and the mutual orientation of the neighbors has to be taken into consideration even for small values of ε , because the configuration enters the picture already at the second order term of the expansion through the functions $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}$. The second-order term in the expansion shows clearly the competition effects between the neighboring reactive particles: the closer are the bodies (the smaller is $\Gamma(\alpha, \beta)$), the stronger is the positive second-order contribution to the correction. Thus, the more the neighbors are packed closely, the more the absorbing rate of the central sink is increased. This is evident in Fig (3.16): the screening effect on the central sink is stronger when the angle between the neighbors is larger. In this sense the competition among neighboring reactive particles can prove beneficial to an observed site. A clear



Figure 3.17: Comparison between the numerical solution [117], our solution, and different degrees of approximation in the perturbative expansion (up to the first, second and third order in ε) for N = 2 neighboring spheres separated by an angle of 60°. One can remark the alternation in sign of the consecutive terms of the expansion. The rate constant is represented versus the distance to the central sink, normalized to the diameter of the particles.

signature of this competitive effect is also that the corrections in Eq. (3.71) alternate in sign. This observation sheds considerable light onto the many-body character of the rate constant, whose perturbative series is alternatively reduced by the diffusive interactions between the screening boundaries and the sink (shielding ligand flux from it) and increased by the diffusive interactions among the screening particles (shielding flux from each other, see Fig. 3.17). On the contrary, the screening action of inert obstacles is largely dominated by the excluded-volume effect, and thus can only yield negative corrections at all orders.

Due to its perturbative nature, eq. (3.71) can be used to quantify the shielding action of specific 3D arrangements of sinks only for $N\varepsilon \propto N/d \ll 1$. However, it still provides a powerful analytical tool to *compare* different geometries, as the perturbative rate is always proportional to the true rate. In Fig. 3.18 we compare the perturbative expansion (3.71) of the rate constant corresponding to given configurations with the exact value. More specifically we plot the rate constant for a sink surrounded by competitive perfectly absorbing spheres, computed through eq. (3.71) truncated at the second and third order, as a function of the exact results, obtained by solving the linear system. The purpose of these graphs is to show that even if the perturbative approximation generally overestimates the exact results,



Figure 3.18: Perturbative (eq. (3.71)) vs exact rates to a sink of radius σ screened by N = 50 sinks of radius $\sigma_1 = \sigma/10$ arranged randomly at a fixed distance dfrom it. Each set comprises 100 independent configurations. The values of the rate are normalized to the Smoluchowski rate for the central sink, $k_S = 4\pi D\sigma$. the perturbative rate constants are to an excellent extent proportional to the exact values.

unless $N\varepsilon \propto N/d \ll 1$, it yields a result which is to an excellent extent *proportional* to it. Thus, eq. (3.71) provides an effective figure of merit to compare the effect of different conformations, *e.g.* with the aim of *designing* the special configurations that minimize or maximize the screening effect on the central sink for given values of N and d.

The competitive and excluded volume effects are highlighted in Fig.3.19, where the influence of the configurations is shown and the calculation is compared to the perturbative approximation, for the case of reflecting bodies, and to the MOA approximation of the system (3.67) averaged over many different configurations of the reactive neighbors. The *average* shielding action exerted by N equidistant reactive sinks can be in fact captured analytically in the monopole approximation, *i.e.* by keeping only the $\ell = 0$ and q = 0 terms in eqs. (3.67). The ensuing reduced system can be averaged over different configurations in the hypothesis of vanishing manybody spatial correlations, *i.e.* by averaging the equations over the multi-variate totally uncorrelated probability density of the angles between each pair of spherical sinks

$$\mathcal{P}(\overrightarrow{w}) \equiv \prod_{\alpha \neq \beta} P(\omega_{\alpha\beta}), \qquad (3.72)$$

with $P(\omega_{\alpha\beta}) = \sin \omega_{\alpha\beta}/2$, and $2 \arcsin(\sigma_1/d) \le \omega_{\alpha\beta} \le \pi$ (excluded-volume constraint between screening sinks). The probability density is normalized such that

$$\int_0^{\pi} d\omega_1 \int_0^{\pi} d\omega_2 \dots \int_0^{\pi} d\omega_{N(N-1)/2} \mathcal{P}(\overrightarrow{w}) = 1.$$

The result for the *mean rate* is (see subsection 3.3.2 for the details)

$$\left\langle \frac{k}{k_S} \right\rangle = \frac{1 - \lambda \varepsilon [N - (N - 1)(1 - \lambda \varepsilon)]}{1 - \lambda \varepsilon [N \varepsilon - (N - 1)(1 - \lambda \varepsilon)]}.$$
(3.73)



Figure 3.19: Total flux into a sink of radius σ surrounded by N spherical boundaries of the same size arranged randomly at distance d (normalized to $k_S = 4\pi D\sigma$). Symbols denote the exact results (solution of the linear system), each point marking the average rate computed over 100 independent configurations, while the shaded bands highlight the regions comprised between the minimum and maximum rates. For reflecting screening boundaries, these regions are as small as the truncation error. The light blue and orange lines are plots of the perturbative expansion for the inert neighbors(3.70) and of the monopole approximation (3.73) for the reactive boundaries, respectively, with $\lambda = 1$. Two configurations with N = 50 are shown explicitly with the screening spheres made all absorbing (bottom) and all reflecting (top), with arrows flagging the corresponding values of d and normalized rates. The figure illustrates that the competitive screening greatly reduces the rate constant compared to inert obstacles, and it is strongly modulated by the configuration.

Fig. 3.19 shows that for $\lambda = 1$ eq. (3.73) provides an very good estimate of the configurational averages of the exact results at separations greater than a few diameters, highlighting the dramatic screening action of competitive reactive boundaries with respect to inert obstacles. Furthermore, a simple analysis of the rate *fluctua*tions over the configuration ensembles at fixed d allows one to gauge how sensitive the competitive screening is to the specific 3D arrangement of the sinks. Remarkably, this analysis reveals stretches between the minimum and maximum rates for a given value of d as high as 50 % of the average (see shaded bands in Fig. 2). More precisely, we remark that the variability associated with different geometries is greater (i) at short distances and (ii) for few screening particles.

To stress the importance of the configuration and to relate it to the number

of the particles, it is interesting to extend the previous analysis to the case of Nspheres randomly arranged within a spherical volume around the central sink in a shell centered on the selected sink, and to compare the absorbing rates obtained by varying the packing fraction and the configuration of the neighbors. Fig. 3.20 shows in a clear fashion that the packing fraction alone cannot explain the modulation of the reaction rate: the configuration of the spheres in the volume does matter. Interestingly, allowing the particles to occupy an arbitrary position in a volume around the sink, this effect is evident for both inert and reactive objects. The large variance in the results obtained by varying the arrangement of the agents appears related to the average distance of the crowders from the center as well as to the homogeneity in their distribution. By choosing the standard deviation between the N surrounding spheres as a measure of order for the crowders' assemblies, we see that the heterogeneity in the configuration correlates positively with the modulation of the rate, once the packing fraction is fixed. The normalized rate into the target sink is found to increase for less ordered configurations of the screening spheres, both in the case of reflecting and absorbing neighbors. We can explain this correlation with two effects: as the arrangements become more regular, the increased probability of occurrence of holes in the screening configurations facilitates the diffusion of the ligands. In addition to this effect, the higher competition between the spherical boundaries increases the efficiency of the target sink. The latter effect appears to be stronger, since the modulation of the rate is more evident when we consider the case of screening sinks (right panel in Fig. 3.20). Even if the neighbors shield almost all the flux from the sink (we are considering here N = 34 reacting boundaries), the relative difference between the rates obtained in the less and most ordered settings is as high as 80%.

3.3.1 Outline and details of the perturbative expansions

In order to explain the procedure followed to derive eqs. (3.70) and (3.71), we will describe here in some detail the steps that led us to compute the first two non-trivial terms for the non-reactive boundaries expansion. The extension to higher orders involves longer but straightforward calculations along similar lines. Let us rewrite the linear system obtained for the case of N reflecting spheres, and let us single out the coefficients of the central sink B_{gq}^0 from the B_{gq}^{α} that characterize the reflecting boundaries,

$$\begin{cases} -B_{gq}^{0} - \left(\delta_{(q,g)=0,0} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} \sum_{\beta=1}^{N} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{0\beta gq}\right) = 0\\ -B_{gq}^{\alpha} + \frac{q}{q+1} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{0} W_{m,n}^{\alpha 0gq} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{\alpha\beta gq}\right) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3.74)

where

$$W_{m,n}^{\alpha\beta gq} = (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} \left(\frac{\sigma_{\alpha}^{q} \sigma_{\beta}^{n+1}}{L_{\beta\alpha}^{n+q+1}}\right) Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha})$$
(3.75)

Our goal is to obtain an expansion of the rate to the central sink, $k/k_S = -B_{00}^0$ in powers of the parameter $\varepsilon = \sigma/d$. For this purpose, we have to consider the



Figure 3.20: Normalized rate to a central sink surrounded by N = 34 spheres, for inert and reactive boundaries. Each symbol represents the result corresponding to a given configuration, and the arrangements are ordered on the base of the standard deviation of the distances between the spheres in a given conformation.

following expressions for all the coefficients of the linear system:

$$B_{m,n}^{0} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon^{j} Q_{m,n}^{0,j}$$

$$B_{m,n}^{\alpha} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon^{j} Q_{m,n}^{\alpha,j}$$
(3.76)

where $Q_{m,n}^{\alpha,j}$ is the *j*-th coefficient of the expansion. We have to take into account the number of multipoles which is necessary to obtain the desired order of approximation. The fourth order of the expansion in powers of ε requires only the terms for n = 0 and n = 1, namely

$$\begin{cases} B_{00}^{0} = -1 - \lambda^{2} \varepsilon^{2} \sum_{\beta=1}^{N} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \sin \theta_{\beta 0} e^{-i\phi_{\beta 0}} B_{-11}^{\beta} + \cos \theta_{\beta 0} B_{01}^{\beta} + \sin \theta_{\beta 0} e^{i\phi_{\beta 0}} B_{11}^{\beta} \right) + o(\varepsilon^{2}) \\ B_{-11}^{\alpha} = \lambda \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{2} \sin \theta_{0\alpha} e^{i\phi_{0\alpha}} B_{00}^{0} + o(\varepsilon^{2}) \\ B_{01}^{\alpha} = -\lambda \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon^{2} \cos \theta_{0\alpha} B_{00}^{0} + o(\varepsilon^{2}) \\ B_{11}^{\alpha} = -\lambda \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon^{2} \sin \theta_{0\alpha} e^{-i\phi_{0\alpha}} B_{00}^{0} + o(\varepsilon^{2}) \end{cases}$$

$$(3.77)$$

Substituting the expressions (3.76) in the above equations, the unknown coefficients $Q_{m,n}^{\alpha,j}$ are determined by equating the coefficients of equal powers of ε . With the use of basic trigonometric identities, including $\theta_{0\beta} = \pi - \theta_{\beta 0}$ and $\phi_{0\beta} = \pi + \phi_{\beta 0}$, we get the first coefficients of the expansion:

$$\begin{cases} Q_{00}^{0,0} = -1 \\ Q_{00}^{0,1} = Q_{00}^{0,2} = Q_{00}^{0,3} = 0 \\ Q_{00}^{0,4} = -\lambda^2 \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \sin \theta_{\beta_0} e^{-i\phi_{\beta_0}} Q_{-11}^{\beta,2} + \cos \theta_{\beta_0} Q_{01}^{\beta,2} + \sin \theta_{\beta_0} e^{i\phi_{\beta_0}} Q_{11}^{\beta,2} \right) = \lambda^3 \frac{N}{2} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.78)$$

The corresponding expression for a collection of N reactive boundaries can be obtained with the same procedure, the only additional difficulty being the contribution of the pairwise distance between the neighboring boundaries $L_{\alpha\beta}$, which enter the expansion already in the first-order terms. To carry out the approximation, it is necessary to express $L_{\alpha\beta}$ as a function of the perturbative parameter by using basic trigonometry, *i.e.*

$$\frac{\sigma}{L_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{\varepsilon}{2\sin\left(\frac{\omega_{\alpha\beta}}{2}\right)} \tag{3.79}$$

where $\omega_{\alpha\beta}$ is the angle formed by the sinks α and β with respect to the central sink. As a consequence, the perturbative approximation will depend on the configuration of the surrounding boundaries.

Our perturbative procedure has shown that, in case of N reflecting boundaries, the rate constant is linear in N and depends only on the distance between the obstacles and the sink. The configuration does not appear explicitly. However, this is only the case at large enough separations, as the specific three-dimensional arrangement of obstacles indeed enters the perturbative expansion at the 7-th order in $\varepsilon = \sigma/d$. In order to prove this statement, let us consider two distinct planar configurations of the reflecting spheres, lying at the vertices of an equilateral triangle (configuration C_3) and of a square (configuration C_4). The seventh-order correction



Figure 3.21: Configuration-dependent parameters in the perturbative expansion (3.71).

for a collection of spheres lying in the z = 0 plane, $\theta = \pi/2$, reads

$$Q_{00}^{0,7} = -\frac{1}{16} \sum_{\beta=1}^{N} \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\gamma}^{N} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta,\gamma)^{3}} \left[\left(e^{i(\phi_{0\beta}-\phi_{0\gamma})} + e^{-i(\phi_{0\beta}-\phi_{0\gamma})} \right) + 3\left(e^{i(\phi_{0\beta}+\phi_{0\gamma}-2\phi_{\gamma\beta})} + e^{-i(\phi_{0\beta}+\phi_{0\gamma}-2\phi_{\gamma\beta})} + e^{-i(\phi_{0\beta}+\phi_{0\gamma}-2\phi_{\gamma\beta})} \right) \right] = -\frac{1}{8} \sum_{\beta=1}^{N} \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\gamma}^{N} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta,\gamma)^{3}} \left[\cos(\phi_{0\beta}-\phi_{0\gamma}) + 3\cos(\phi_{0\beta}+\phi_{0\gamma}-2\phi_{\gamma\beta}) \right].$$

One immediately recognizes from eq. (3.80) that the configuration enters the picture through the parameter $\Gamma(\beta, \gamma)$ and through the azimuthal angles $\phi_{\alpha\beta}$. Evaluating the corrections for the two regular polygons, $Q_{00}^{0,7}(\mathcal{C}_3)$ and $Q_{00}^{0,7}(\mathcal{C}_4)$, we find

$$\frac{Q_{00}^{0,7}(\mathcal{C}_3)}{N} = \frac{7}{24\sqrt{3}} \neq \frac{Q_{00}^{0,7}(\mathcal{C}_4)}{N} = \frac{3}{2\sqrt{2}} + \frac{1}{4}.$$

This proves that for orders higher than six in ε , the perturbative expansion of the rate constant to the sink is no longer independent of the specific arrangement of reflecting obstacles. Nevertheless, for a wide range of the parameters ε and N, one can neglect the dependency on the configuration for the case of reflecting boundaries. We have shown that this is no longer true for a collection of reactive neighbors. In fact, already the coefficient of the second order term in the expansion (3.71) do not have a linear dependence on the number of neighboring boundaries, unlike the corresponding formula for the reflecting spheres. To justify this claim, we can estimate explicitly the leading power in N of the second-order coefficient for a particular domain. For the sake of simplicity, we will confine ourselves to a planar configuration with the N centers of the spheres lying at the vertices of a regular polygon and also take $\lambda = 1$. In this case, the pairwise distances for each pair $\Omega_{\alpha}, \Omega_{\beta}$ can be written explicitly, so that

$$\frac{k}{k_s} = 1 - N\epsilon + \left(N + \sum_{\alpha=1}^N \sum_{\substack{\beta \neq \alpha=1}}^N \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha,\beta)}\right) \epsilon^2 + o\left(\epsilon^2\right)$$
$$= 1 - N\epsilon + \left(N + N \sum_{\substack{k=1\\ k=1}}^{N-1} \frac{1}{2\sin(\pi k/N)}\right) \epsilon^2 + o\left(\epsilon^2\right).$$
(3.81)

It can immediately be concluded that the order in N of $Q_{00}^{0,2} = N + a(N)$ is higher than two. One has

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{a(N)}{N^2} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \frac{1}{2\sin(\pi k/N)} = \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{2\sin(\pi x)} = \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{dx}{\sin(x)} \ge \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{dx}{x} \to \infty$$

A more precise estimate can be obtained using the approximation

$$\frac{1}{\sin(\pi k/N)} = \frac{N}{\pi k} + r(k,N)$$

where r(k, N) is the rest. Assuming N odd and using the properties of the harmonic series (for large values of N one has $\sum_{k=1}^{N} k^{-1} \sim \ln N$), we get

$$N\sum_{k=1}^{N-1} \frac{1}{2\sin(\pi k/N)} = N\sum_{k=1}^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \frac{1}{\sin(\pi k/N)} \sim \frac{N^2}{\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{(N-1)/2} \frac{1}{k} \sim \frac{N^2}{\pi} \ln\left(\frac{N-1}{2}\right).$$

Since it is possible to show that $N \sum_{k=1}^{(N-1)/2} r(k, N)$ has order N^2 , we conclude that, at least in the planar ordered configurations considered here, the second coefficient of the expansion has order $N^2 \ln N$. In fact, we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{(N-1)/2} r(k,N) = \sum_{k=1}^{(N-1)/2} \left(\frac{1}{\sin(\pi k/N)} - \frac{N}{\pi k}\right)$$

and

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{2N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\frac{1}{\sin(\pi k/2N)} - \frac{2N}{\pi k} \right) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\sin(y)} - \frac{1}{y} \right) dy < \infty$$

because

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \frac{y - \sin y}{y \sin y} = 0.$$

3.3.2 Monopole approximation

In this subsection we will show how to compute the monopole approximation. This is in general a very powerful approximation, especially when the reactive landscape is dominated by a large number of sinks. Here we will illustrate this technique with reference to the derivation of eq. (3.73). Let us write explicitly the linear system $\forall \alpha = 0, \dots N, \quad \forall q = 0, \dots \infty, \quad \forall g = -q \dots q$:

$$-B_{gq}^{\alpha} + \frac{(q-h_{\alpha})}{(h_{\alpha}+q+1)} \left[\delta_{g0}\delta_{q0} + \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} \sum_{\beta=0,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{m\ell}^{\beta} W_{m\ell}^{\alpha\beta gq} \right] = 0$$

for a configuration of N sinks randomly placed at a distance d from the central sink in the monopole approximation, that is, $\ell = q = 0$. We get $\forall \alpha = 1, 2, ..., N$

$$\begin{cases} B_{00}^{0} = -1 - \sum_{i=1}^{N} B_{00}^{i} W_{00}^{0i00} \\ B_{00}^{\alpha} = -1 - B_{00} W_{00}^{\alpha 000} - \sum_{\beta \neq i=1}^{N} B_{00}^{\beta} W_{00}^{\alpha \beta 00} \quad \forall \alpha = 1 \dots N. \end{cases}$$

We recall that in general the rate to the α -th sink is:

$$\frac{k_{\alpha}}{k_{S_{\alpha}}} = -B_{00}^{\alpha}.$$

After summing the second equation over *i*, and letting $x = B_{00}^0$ and $y = \sum_{i=1}^N B_{00}^i$ we obtain

$$\begin{cases} x+1+\lambda\epsilon y=0\\ y+N+N\epsilon x+\lambda\epsilon\sum_{i=1}^{N}\sum_{\beta\neq i=1}^{N}\frac{B_{00}^{\beta}}{\Gamma_{\alpha,\beta}}=0. \end{cases}$$

Physically, the variable x is the negative of the rate constant to the central sink, $k/k_S = -x$, while the variable y stands for the total rate constant for the ensemble of N screening spheres, namely

$$\sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \frac{k_{\alpha}}{k_{S_{\alpha}}} = -y.$$

Obviously the solution will depend on the configuration of the spherical boundaries, which is embodied in the functions $\Gamma_{\alpha,\beta}$. The value of the *mean* rate can be obtained by averaging both equations over the multi-variate probability density (3.72) of the angles $\omega_{\alpha\beta}$ between each pair of spherical sinks. The excluded-volume constraint among the screening sinks requires two given particles to lie at a distance greater than or equal to their diameter. This means that $2 \arcsin(\lambda \varepsilon) \le \omega_{\alpha\beta} \le \pi \,\forall \alpha, \beta$, with $\lambda = \sigma_1/\sigma$ and $\varepsilon = \sigma/d$. The average of the configuration-dependent terms gives

$$\left\langle \frac{1}{\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}} \right\rangle = \int_{2 \operatorname{arcsin} \lambda\varepsilon}^{\pi} \frac{P(\omega) \, d\omega}{2 \sin(\omega/2)} = 1 - \lambda\varepsilon.$$

Noting that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{\beta \neq i=1}^{N} B_{00}^{\beta} = (N-1) \sum_{i=1}^{N} B_{00}^{i} = (N-1)y$$

we finally get

$$\left\langle \frac{k}{k_S} \right\rangle = -\langle x \rangle = \frac{1 - \lambda \varepsilon [N - (N - 1)(1 - \lambda \varepsilon)]}{1 - \lambda \varepsilon [N \varepsilon - (N - 1)(1 - \lambda \varepsilon)]}.$$
(3.82)

This expression reduces to a well-known formula for a system of two identical sinks [111], $k/k_s = 1/(1 + \varepsilon)$.

In figure 3.19 the averaged MOA approximation is compared to the averaged exact results for reactive sinks in the particular case of $\lambda = 1$, which is the setting analyzed in Ref. [117]. The picture clearly shows how, for the choice $\sigma = \sigma_1$, the rate to the central particle increases monotonically with its distance from the screening spheres.

It is instructive to analyze to which extent this behavior changes if we allow the central sink to have a different size from the screening boundaries. It is straightforward to prove that the averaged MOA displays a minimum as a function of the distance d for certain choices of the parameters N and λ . Since $\varepsilon \propto d^{-1}$, the condition for the existence of a stationary point as the distance d is changed reads

$$\frac{d}{d\varepsilon} \left\langle \frac{k}{k_S} \right\rangle = -\frac{\lambda N(\epsilon(\lambda \epsilon(\lambda(N-1)+1)-2)+1)}{(\lambda \epsilon(\lambda(N-1)\epsilon + N(\epsilon-1)+1)-1)^2} = 0.$$
(3.83)

From eq. (3.83) it follows that a minimum exists for

$$\lambda^2 (N-1) + \lambda - 1 \le 0. \tag{3.84}$$

In this case, the distance d^* at which a minimum is found is

$$d^* = \sigma \left[\sqrt{1 - \lambda [1 + \lambda (N - 1)]} + 1 \right].$$
(3.85)

If a minimum exists, it has to occur at a distance greater than or equal to the contact distance between the central sink and the screening particles. Thus, one should enforce the condition $d^* \ge \sigma + \sigma_1$. Therefore, in view of expression (3.85), it follows that one has to complement eq. (3.84) with the additional requirement

$$\sqrt{1 - \lambda [1 + \lambda (N - 1)]} + 1 \ge 1 + \lambda.$$
 (3.86)

The solution to the system of inequalities (3.84) and (3.86) reads

$$\begin{cases} \lambda \le \lambda^*(N) \equiv (\sqrt{4N+1}-1)/(2N) < 1 & \text{for fixed } N \\ N \le N^*(\lambda) \equiv (1-\lambda)/\lambda^2 & \text{for fixed } \lambda \end{cases}$$
(3.87)

The non monotonicity is another non-trivial effect of the mutual screening and of the diffusive interaction among the reactive boundaries (see the discussion in section 3.2.1). This effect is shown in Fig.3.22, where the exact rate to a sink surrounded by smaller reactive neighbors is compared with the MOA approximation for an average configuration of the particle. We can note that the non monotonicity is here more evident than in the two-sink configuration considered in 3.2.1. Upon increasing the distance d, in fact, the total flux to the many screening sinks will increase because their active surfaces get larger and they also get farther apart from each other.



Figure 3.22: Total flux into a sink of radius σ surrounded by N = 50 smaller sinks of radius $\sigma_1 = \sigma/10$ arranged randomly at a distance d (normalized to $k_S = 4\pi D\sigma$). The left-most and right-most cartoons depict two configurations that screen exactly the same amount of flux, despite being at considerably different distances $(d/\sigma = 1.1$ and $d/\sigma = 8$). The configuration shown in the middle corresponds to the predicted minimum at $d/\sigma = 1 + \sqrt{1 - \lambda[1 + (N - 1)\lambda]} \approx 1.64$. The solid line is a plot of formula (3.73). Each symbol is the average over 250 independent configurations, while the filled band comprises the region between the minimum and maximum rates. The top panel illustrates the case of screening by a large number of tiny particles, highlighting the sizeable non-monotonic effect. The curves are plots of eq. (3.73).

In the following chapters 4 and 5 we will present the application of our model to two examples of diffusion influenced reactions. In chapter 4 we aim at characterizing, as a function of the structural parameters, the efficiency of complex architectures of core-shell nanoreactors where many catalytic metallic nanoparticles are embedded in a polymeric material around a plastic core to form a complex reactor. Chapter 5 deals with the biological, naturally occurring binding reaction between an antigen and an antibody, and more generally points to a way to adapt our procedure to account for ligands binding to complex non-spherical large biomolecules. The approach for modeling the antigen-antibody interaction combines a coarse grained dynamical representation of the protein with the definition of the specific multiple boundaries problem.

Chapter 4

Catalytic rate constant of complex core-shell nanoreactors

A thriving field in modern nano-sciences is the design and fabrication of novel composite catalytic structures. In particular, several strategies have been devised to employ large number of catalytic metal nanoparticles to assist a wide array of oxidation, reduction and hydrogenation reactions. The interest in composite organicmetal active nanostructures arises due to the fact that metals often have totally different properties at the nano-scale [118]. Several metals have been studied and adapted to be used as nanocatalysts: gold, silver, palladium, silica particles have been assembled together within organic meshes of different sorts in various configurations and many efforts have been made to optimize the structure of these composite catalytic systems. The catalytic efficiency of an assembly of metallic nano-particles is directly connected to their global surface area, because a larger global surface allows more reactions to occur at the same time. However, the resulting need for assembling a large number of nanoparticles poses a problem, because the nanoparticles in liquid solutions tend to aggregate at large concentrations. To keep them separated in a fixed position, the catalysts can be either endowed with protective layers or fixed on the surface of static objects, or even immobilized in colloidal carrier systems. A recent innovative line of technology is to use organic meshes whose properties are tunable in response to the variation of external parameters, such as PH and temperature. In this chapter we will focus on particular reactors consisting of several gold, silver or palladium nanoparticles immobilized in a microgel made of poly-N-isopropylamcrylamide (PNIPAM), a polyelectrolite which can shrink and swell following changes in temperature. The microgel is fixed around a spherical plastic core, thus forming a shell where the catalysts are embedded and where the reactants diffuse until they get in contact with the nanoparticles (see the scheme in Fig. 4.1). In addition to keep the particles fixed throughout the reaction, the use of a termosensitive colloid provides a powerful way of controlling the reaction rates, since the varying thickness and the modified chemical properties of the carrier influence the mobility of substrate molecule within the composite structure. In particular, the PNIPAM microgel undergoes a phase transition at 32° C: increasing the temperature past this critical value, the gel passes from a swallen to a shrunk state, by expelling water. This property has a complex effect on the reaction kinetics: on one the hand the diffusion coefficient is decreased, because the medium becomes thicker.



Figure 4.1: Scheme of a core-shell nanoreactor with embedded gold nanoparticles. The PS core is shown at the center.

On the other hand, depending on the specific reactant and its affinity with water, the change of phase can have a positive or negative effect on the reactant mobility. More precisely, the solvation free energy of substrate molecules has been shown to play a crucial role in controlling the overall catalytic activity of the nano-reactor [119]. In reason to the ever growing number of applications of these technologies in chemical and biological applications, the need for a deep understanding of how the structural parameters of these composite catalytic scaffolds influence the efficiency of the catalysis has recently become a topic of great interest. The analythical tool that we have developed in our work provides the perfect instrument to characterize the best setting in terms of the dimension and arrangement of the components, temperature range and choices of the materials. More specifically, we set out to employ the model described in the previous sections to compute the overall reaction rate constant of a composite core-shell nanoreactor, consisting of a PS core surrounded by a hydrogel layer of varying thickness, where a given number of small reactive spheres are embedded at prescribed positions (see the sketch in figure 4.1). These are endowed with a prescribed intrinsic rate constant. Both the diffusion coefficient in the hydrogel and in the bulk enter our model explicitly. As a result of our analysis we not only provide a way of computing the reaction rates corresponding to various configurations exactly. We also worked out a simple but very accurate analytical formula for the overall rate constant, derived within the monopole approximation. Our analytical treatment provides a very useful and flexible tool for the design of optimally performing composite nanoreactors with different polymer shells and carrying different kinds of nano-catalysts.

4.1 Mathematical model for the catalytic reaction

We model a nanoreactor consisting of a polysterene (PS) core surrounded by a microgel (or polymer brush) layer as two concentric spheres centered at the origin of a 3D frame, as depicted in Fig. 4.2. We denote with R_S and R_0 the core and shell radius, respectively. The shell carries N small nano-catalysts (metal nanoparticles



Figure 4.2: Schematic representation of a composite nanoreactor displaying the parameters used in the analytical derivation.

or enzymes) that we model as spheres of radius a. For the sake of simplicity, we label the PS core as the inner sphere with position vector $\mathbf{L}_1 = 0$ while the vectors \mathbf{L}_{α} , $\alpha = 2, 3, \ldots, N + 1$ denote the position of the N nanocatalysts. We want to compute the reaction rate constant for reactions taking place at the surface of the catalyst spheres. These are endowed with an intrinsic rate constant k^* , which in principle could be a function of temperature of the Arrhenius-type [119]:

$$k^* \propto \exp{-\frac{\Delta E}{k_B T}}$$

where ΔE is the activation energy required to trigger the reaction. Let us denote with $S_0 \equiv \{r_0, \theta_0, \varphi_0\}$ the reference frame with the origin at the nanoreactor center and with $S_{\alpha} \equiv \{r_{\alpha}, \theta_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha}\}$ the N reference frames with the origins at the nanospheres centers and the axes parallel to S_0 . This formally defines the following 3D domains

$$\Omega^{+} = \{ r_{0} \in (0, R_{0}], \theta_{0} \in (0, \pi), \varphi_{0} \in (0, 2\pi) \} \setminus \cup_{\alpha} \Omega_{\alpha}$$

$$\Omega^{-} = \{ r_{0} \in [R_{0}, \infty), \theta_{0} \in (0, \pi), \varphi_{0} \in (0, 2\pi) \}$$
(4.1)

where $\Omega_1 = \{ |\mathbf{r}_0| < R_S \}$ denotes the interior of the PS core and $\Omega_{\alpha} = \{ |\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}| = |\mathbf{r}_0 - \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}| < a \}, \alpha = 2, 3, \ldots, N+1$, denote the interior of the α -th nanosphere. The ligand diffuses with diffusion coefficients D_i and D_o inside the microgel shell and in the bulk, respectively $(D_i < D_o)$.

Let ρ_B denote the bulk density of reactants and let us introduce the timedependent normalized density $u(\mathbf{r},t) = \rho(\mathbf{r},t)/\rho_B$. As usual, we assume that the system relaxation time for the diffusive flux of *B* particles (the ligands) $t_D \simeq$ $(R_0 - R_S)^2/D_i$ is small enough to neglect time-dependent effects. Hence, in the absence of external forces, the diffusion of ligands with normalized number density $u(\mathbf{r})$ is described by the steady-state diffusion equation

$$\nabla \cdot [D(\boldsymbol{r})\nabla u(\boldsymbol{r})] = 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega = \Omega^+ \cup \Omega^-$$
(4.2)

with

$$D(\mathbf{r}) = \begin{cases} D_i & \text{in } \Omega^+ & (\text{microgel}) \\ D_o & \text{in } \Omega^- & (\text{bulk}) \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

and with the customary bulk boundary condition

$$\lim_{|\boldsymbol{r}|\to\infty} u(\boldsymbol{r}) = 1. \tag{4.4}$$

The difference with the setting considered up to now is that here the problem is defined in both the internal (confined) Ω^+ and external (unbounded) Ω^- region. It is well known from the general theory of partial differential equations that the classical solution (twice continuously differentiable in Ω and continuous on $\overline{\Omega}$) of the stationary diffusion equation (4.2) does not exist in the whole domain Ω [120]. Therefore one should consider the function

$$u(\mathbf{r}) = \begin{cases} u^+(\mathbf{r}) & \text{for } \Omega^+ \quad (\text{microgel}) \\ u^-(\mathbf{r}) & \text{for } \Omega^- \quad (\text{bulk}). \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

Accordingly, we should impose a condition for the substrate concentration field at the bulk/microgel interface, $\partial \Omega_0 \equiv \{r_0 = R_0\}$. It has been demonstrated recently that a key factor controlling the overall reaction rate is the solvation free-energy change ΔG , a quantity that describes the partitioning of the reactant in the microgel versus bulk [119]. It is possible to show in the case of a single catalyst that a free-energy jump at the solvent-microgel interface can be accounted for by a modified ligand density in the microgel versus bulk, $\rho_B \to \rho_B \exp(-\beta \Delta G)$ [119]. Here we assume that such description holds unchanged in the case of multiple catalysts. Accordingly, we require

$$\left(u^{+} - \lambda u^{-}\right)\big|_{\partial\Omega_{0}} = 0 \tag{4.6}$$

where

$$\lambda = \exp(-\beta \Delta G). \tag{4.7}$$

Furthermore, the following continuity condition for the local diffusion fluxes should also hold at the bulk/microgel interface

$$\left(\frac{\partial u^{-}}{\partial r_{0}} - \zeta \frac{\partial u^{+}}{\partial r_{0}}\right)\Big|_{\partial\Omega_{0}} = 0$$
(4.8)

where we have introduced the diffusion anisotropy parameter

$$\zeta = \frac{D_i}{D_o} \tag{4.9}$$

Conditions (4.6) and (4.8) for $D_i \neq D_o$ are often called the *weak discontinuity* conditions for the concentration field $u(\mathbf{r})$. Finally, reflecting boundary conditions should hold at the surface of the PS core, *i.e.*

$$\left. \frac{\partial u^+}{\partial r_0} \right|_{r_0 = R_S} = 0. \tag{4.10}$$

We are interested in describing the pseudo-first-order irreversible diffusion-influenced reaction between the N nano-catalysts C encapsulated in the microgel and the reactants B which are freely diffusing in the bulk and in the microgel. The process can be cast in the usual scheme:

$$C + B \xrightarrow[k_{-D}]{} CB^* \xrightarrow{k^*} C + P \tag{4.11}$$

where as usual CB* denotes the *encounter complex*, k_D and k_{-D} are the association and dissociation diffusive rate constants, respectively, and k^* is the intrinsic rate constant of the chemical reaction occurring at the sufface of the metal nanoparticles. In substrate excess conditions, the reaction (4.11) is equivalent to the following pseudo-first-order kinetic scheme

$$C + B \xrightarrow{k} C + P. \tag{4.12}$$

Our final goal is to compute the global diffusion-influenced rate constant k which we can calculate as

$$k = \sum_{\alpha=2}^{N+1} \int_{\partial\Omega_{\alpha}} D_i \frac{\partial u^+}{\partial r_{\alpha}} \Big|_{\partial\Omega_{\alpha}} dS$$
(4.13)

and to characterize its dependence on the physical-chemical parameters of the nanoreactor. We stress that the introduced schematization of the problem holds under the excess reactant condition $c \ll \rho_B$, where we denote with c the concentration of the catalysts. Introducing in the following the usual dimensionless spatial variables $\xi_0 = r_0/R_0$, $\xi_1 = r_0/R_S$ and $\xi_\alpha = r_\alpha/a$ for $\alpha = 2, 3, \ldots, N+1$, our problem can be cast in the following form

$$\nabla^2 u^{\pm} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega^{\pm} \tag{4.14a}$$

$$\left(\frac{\partial u^+}{\partial \xi_{\alpha}} - hu^+\right)\Big|_{\partial\Omega_{\alpha}} = 0 \quad \alpha = 2, 3, \dots, N+1$$
(4.14b)

$$\lim_{\xi_0 \to \infty} u^-(\xi_0) = 1$$
 (4.14c)

$$\left. \frac{\partial u^+}{\partial \xi_1} \right|_{\xi_1 = 1} = 0 \tag{4.14d}$$

$$\left(u^{+} - \lambda u^{-}\right)\big|_{\partial\Omega_{0}} = 0 \tag{4.14e}$$

$$\left(\zeta \frac{\partial u^+}{\partial \xi_0} - \frac{\partial u^-}{\partial \xi_0}\right)\Big|_{\partial \Omega_0} = 0 \tag{4.14f}$$

The parameter

$$h = \frac{k^*}{4\pi a D_i} \equiv \frac{k^*}{k_S^+},$$
(4.15)

as in the previous sections is meant to gauge the *character* of the reaction, and it is normalized to the Smoluchowski rate constant of a single nanosphere embedded in the microgel, $k_S^+ = 4\pi a D_i$.

We look for the solutions of the above problem in the bulk and in the microgel as linear combinations of regular and irregular harmonics:

$$u^{+}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} A_{mn} \,\xi_{0}^{n} \,Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{0}) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N+1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} \,\xi_{\alpha}^{-n-1} \,Y_{mn}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) \quad (4.16a)$$

$$u^{-}(\mathbf{r}) = 1 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} E_{mn} \xi_{0}^{-n-1} Y_{mn}(\mathbf{r}_{0})$$
(4.16b)

where $\xi_0 = r_0/R_0$, $\xi_1 = r_0/R_S$, $\xi_\alpha = r_\alpha/a$ for $\alpha = 2, 3, ..., N$ and A_{mn}, B_{mn}^α and E_{mn} are N + 3 infinite-dimensional sets of unknown coefficients.

In order to determine the unknown coefficients we express the solution in the local coordinates on every boundary (the N + 1 spherical surfaces $\partial \Omega_{\alpha}$) and at the microgel-bulk interface $\partial \Omega_0$, where we impose the weak discontinuity conditions for the ligand density field.

With the same strategy introduced in section 3.1, and eliminating the coefficient E_{mn} , we obtain the following linear equations:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\lambda} + \frac{q}{q+1}\right)A_{gq} + \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \zeta\right)\sum_{\beta=1}^{N}\sum_{n=0}^{q}\sum_{m=-n}^{n}B_{mn}^{\beta}V_{g,q}^{\beta,m,n}\mathbb{I}_{\{g-(q-n)\leq m\leq g+(q-n)\}} = \delta_{g0}\delta_{q0}$$
(4.17a)

$$-B_{gq}^{\alpha} + \frac{(q-h_{\alpha})}{(h_{\alpha}+q+1)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} \left(A_{mn} H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} \mathbb{I}_{q \le n} + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{mn}^{\beta} W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} \right) = 0,$$
(4.17b)

where $h_1 = 0$, $h_\alpha = h$ for $\alpha > 1$. Eqs. (4.17) hold $\forall q \in [0, \infty)$ with $\alpha = 1, 2, \ldots, N+1$ and $g = -q, -q + 1, \ldots, q - 1, q$. The matrices V, H, W read

$$V_{g,q}^{\alpha,m,n} = \frac{(-1)^{q-n+m-g}(q-g)!}{(n-m)!(q-n+m-g)!} \eta_{0\alpha}^{q-n} \chi_{\alpha}^{n+1} Y_{m-g,q-n}(-\boldsymbol{L}_{\alpha})$$
(4.18a)

$$H_{m,n}^{(\alpha,g,q)} = \binom{n+m}{q+g} \chi_{\alpha}^{q} \eta_{0\alpha}^{n-q} Y_{m-g,n-q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\alpha})$$
(4.18b)

$$W_{m,n}^{(\alpha,\beta,g,q)} = (-1)^{q+g} \frac{(n-m+q+g)!}{(n-m)!(q+g)!} \eta_{\beta\alpha}^{-(n+q)-1} \chi_{\alpha}^{q} \chi_{\beta}^{n+1} Y_{m-g,n+q}(\boldsymbol{L}_{\beta\alpha})$$
(4.18c)

where $L_{\alpha\beta} = L_{\beta} - L_{\alpha}$ (according to this notation $L_{0\alpha} = L_{\alpha}$) and

$$\eta_{\alpha\beta} = \eta_{\beta\alpha} = \frac{L_{\alpha\beta}}{R_0} \qquad \qquad \chi_{\alpha} = \frac{R_{\alpha}}{R_0}. \tag{4.19}$$

Here, for the sake of trasparency, we pose $R_1 = R_S$ (radius of the PS core) and $R_{\alpha} = a$, for $\alpha > 1$ (radius of the nanocatalysts).

If the multipole expansions are truncated at N_M multipoles, the system (4.17)) comprises $(N+2)(N_M+1)^2$ equations, which can be easily solved numerically. Once

the coefficients have been determined, the overall rate constant can be obtained easily as:

$$k = \sum_{\alpha=2}^{N} k_a = -k_S^+ \sum_{\alpha=2}^{N+1} B_{00}^{\alpha}.$$
(4.20)

The system one has to solve has the following structure

$$\begin{bmatrix} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} + \frac{\zeta q}{q+1}\right) \mathbb{1} & \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \zeta\right) V^1 & \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \zeta\right) V^2 & \dots & \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \zeta\right) V^{N+1} \\ \\ \hline H^1 & -\mathbbm{1} & W^{1,2} & \dots & W^{1,N+1} \\ H^2 & W^{2,1} & -\mathbbm{1} & \dots & W^{2,N+1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H^{N+1} & W^{N+1,1} & W^{N+1,2} & \dots & -\mathbbm{1} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} A_{00} \\ \vdots \\ A_{N_M N_M} \\ B_{00}^1 \\ \vdots \\ B_{N_M N_M}^{N+1} \\ \vdots \\ B_{00}^{N+1} \\ \vdots \\ B_{N_M N_M}^{N+1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

The above described procedure allows one to compute the reaction rate constant for a given geometry of the system and for given values of the relevant physico-chemical parameters, with arbitrary precision.

The monopole approximation of the solution of the system for a given configuration can be obtained by truncating the expansion to q = n = 0. The ensuing equations read

$$\frac{1}{\lambda}A_{00} + \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \zeta\right)\sum_{\beta=1}^{N} B_{00}^{\beta} V_{00}^{\beta 00} = 1$$

$$-B_{00}^{\alpha} - \frac{(h_{\alpha})}{(h_{\alpha} + 1)} \left(A_{00}H_{00}^{(\alpha 00)} + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N} B_{00}^{\beta}W_{00}^{(\alpha\beta 00)}\right) = 0 \qquad \alpha = 1, 2, \dots, N$$

$$(4.21a)$$

Recalling the definitions of the matrices, we have $V_{00}^{\beta 00} = a/R_0$, $H_{00}^{(\beta 00)} = 1$, $W_{00}^{(\alpha\beta00)} = a/L_{\beta\alpha}$, and $\zeta = D_i/D_o$, so that the system takes the form

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\lambda}A_{00} + \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \zeta\right)\frac{a}{R_0}\sum_{\beta=1}^{N}B_{00}^{\beta} = 1\\ B_{00}^{\alpha} + \frac{h_{\alpha}}{1 + h_{\alpha}}\left(A_{00} + \sum_{\beta=1,\beta\neq\alpha}^{N}B_{00}^{\beta}\frac{a}{L_{\alpha\beta}}\right) = 0 \qquad \alpha = 1, 2, \dots, N \end{cases}$$
(4.22)

Since $B_{00}^{\alpha} = -k_{\alpha}/k_S^+$, the overall rate constant of the nanoreactor can be computed simply as $k = -\sum_{\beta=1}^{N+1} k_S B_{00}^{\beta}$ (note that $B_{00}^1 = 0$ is identically zero as the PS core

٦

(4.21b)

is modeled as a reflecting sphere). Moreover, we can average the system (4.22) over the nanoparticles configurations $\mathcal{P}(L_2, L_3, \ldots, L_{N+1})$. We therefore get from Eqs. (4.22)

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{\lambda}A_{00} - \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - \zeta\right)\frac{a}{R_0}\frac{k}{k_S^+} = 1\\ \frac{k}{k_S^+} - \frac{h}{1+h}\left[NA_{00} - (N-1)\frac{k}{k_S^+}\left\langle\frac{a}{L_{\alpha\beta}}\right\rangle\right] = 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.23)

where we have taken $h_{\alpha} = h = k^*/k_S^+ \quad \forall \alpha$ as the N catalysts are identical. We note that a more useful quantity is the total rate constant normalized to the Smoluchowski rate of an isolated sink of the same size as the whole nanoreactor in the bulk, $k_S^- = 4\pi D_o R_0$. Eqs. (4.23) can be solved straightforwardly, which gives

$$\frac{k}{k_{S}^{-}} = Nk^{*} \left(\frac{a}{R_{0}}\right) \frac{\zeta e^{-\beta \Delta G}}{k_{S}^{+} + k^{*} \left[1 + (N-1) \left\langle\frac{a}{L_{\alpha\beta}}\right\rangle - \frac{Na}{R_{0}} \left(1 - \zeta e^{-\beta \Delta G}\right)\right]}$$
(4.24)

where we recall that $\lambda = e^{-\beta\Delta G}$, $\zeta = D_i/D_o$ and $k_S^+ = 4\pi D_i a$. The quantity $\langle a/L_{\alpha\beta} \rangle$ represents the average inverse inter-catalyst separation, which can be computed analytically under the reasonable assumption that spatial correlations in the catalysts configurations are negligible. The probability density for the position of the centers of any two particles in a shell of radii $R_S + a$ and $R_0 - a$ is thus given by

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathbf{r}, \boldsymbol{\rho}) = \left(\frac{3}{(R_0 - a)^3 - (R_S + a)^3}\right)^2 \frac{r^2 \rho^2 \sin \theta}{4\pi}$$
(4.25)

so that the average inverse inter-catalyst separation is

$$\left\langle \frac{a}{L_{\alpha\beta}} \right\rangle = \frac{9a}{2[(R_0 - a)^3 - (R_S + a)^3]^2}$$

$$\times \int_{R_S + a}^{R_0 - a} r^2 dr \int_{R_S + a}^{R_0 - a} \rho^2 d\rho \int_0^{\pi} \frac{\sin\theta}{\sqrt{r^2 + \rho^2 - 2r\rho\cos\theta}} d\theta$$

$$= \frac{2(1 - \varepsilon)^5 - 5(1 - \varepsilon)^2(\gamma + \varepsilon)^3 + 3(\gamma + \varepsilon)^5}{(1 - \varepsilon)^6 - 2(1 - \varepsilon)^3(\gamma + \varepsilon)^3 + (\gamma + \varepsilon)^6} \left(\frac{3a}{5R_0}\right)$$

$$: = \varepsilon C(\varepsilon, \gamma)$$

$$(4.26)$$

where $\gamma = R_S/R_0$ denotes the fraction of the nanoreactor size occupied by the PS core and $\varepsilon = a/R_0$ is the non-dimensional size of each catalyst. We see that, since $\varepsilon \ll 1$, one has $1 + \varepsilon/3 \lesssim C \lesssim 6(1 + \varepsilon)/5$, *i.e.*, C is of the order of unity, $1.005 \lesssim C \lesssim 1.217$ (taking $\varepsilon \approx 0.0146$ from experiments [121]). This has the interesting implication that the exact size of the core does not play a big role for the overall rate process for relevant values of the physical parameters, as we discuss further below.

If the catalytic action exerted by the metal nanoparticles encapsulated in the microgel is fast with respect to diffusion, *i.e.* $k^* \gg k_S^+$, expression (4.24) can be simplified by taking the limit $k^* \to \infty$. This yields the expression for the fully diffusion-controlled rate

$$\frac{k}{k_{S}^{-}} = \frac{N\varepsilon\,\zeta e^{-\beta\Delta G}}{1 + (N-1)\varepsilon\,C(\varepsilon,\gamma) - N\varepsilon\,\left(1 - \zeta e^{-\beta\Delta G}\right)}.$$
(4.28)

Eq. (4.24) is a very important result, as it allows one to compute the overall reaction rate as a function of all the relevant structural and physico-chemical parameters that control the performance of the nanoreactor. We stress that in this formula the ligand diffusion coefficient in the microgel, D_i , the radius of the nanoreactor, R_0 , and the effective intrinsic rate constant, k^* , are all functions of temperature. In the next section we will discuss more in depth the properties and the usefulness of the analytical solution.

4.2 Discussion of the analytical solution

We now discuss the essential features of the diffusion-controlled rate in Eq. (4.28). For a random distribution of the nanoparticles in the shell we found $\langle a/L_{\alpha\beta} \rangle = Ca/R_0$, where C depends on the ratio between the radius of the PS core and that of the nanoreactor and is of the order of unity. Hence, we find that the exact size of the core actually does not play a significant role for the diffusion-controlled rate for relevant values of the physical parameters, *i.e.*, (weak) attraction to the hydrogel $\Delta G < 0$ and decreased internal diffusion $\zeta < 1$. The most pronounced effect of the core corresponds to the case $\zeta = 1$ (bulk diffusion in the shell) and $\Delta G = 0$. Then, comparing the limits of vanishing core, ($\gamma = 0$ which yields $C(\gamma = 0) \simeq 6/5$) to the thin-shell limit, ($\gamma \simeq 1$ which yields $C(\gamma = 1) \simeq 1$), shows that the two corresponding values of the overall maximum rate k/k_s^{-1} (for $N \to \infty$) vary from 5/6 to 1, *i.e.* they differ by only 20 %. In other words, if the nanoparticles are distributed uniformly inside the nanoreactor or only in the surface shell region makes only a difference of at most 20% in the rate. In the following we neglect these effects, as we move to a qualitative discussion of the more significant effects.

As we see from Eq. (4.29) the maximum achievable rate is $k = k_s^- = 4\pi D_0 R_0$, that is, the Smoluchowski rate of a sink of size equal to that of the total nanoreactor, *i.e.* the nanoreactor should be big for high activity. In the limit of small nanoparticles-to-nanoreactor size ratio, $\varepsilon \ll 1$, Eq. (4.28) can be simplified to the following form

$$\frac{k}{k_{\overline{S}}} = \frac{N\varepsilon\,\zeta e^{-\beta\Delta G}}{1 + N\varepsilon\,\zeta e^{-\beta\Delta G}}.\tag{4.29}$$

Let us recall the important parameters, that is, the nanoparticles-to-nanoreactor size ratio $0 < \varepsilon = a/R_0 \ll 1$, the number of nanoparticles N, the scaled reactant mobility inside the shell $0 < \zeta = D_i/D_0 \lesssim 1$, and finally the change in solvation free energy ΔG for the reactants upon entering the hydrogel. Clearly, if the mobility vanishes, $\zeta \ll 1$ or the solvation free energy change $\Delta G \gg k_B T$ is substantially repulsive, the reaction is significantly slowed down. However, in realistic systems the mobility will be certainly slowed down to some extent but not vanish. ΔG may be even negative (attractive) if the reactant interacts favorably with the polymer as found for rather hydrophobic reactants and collapsed PNIPAM-based hydrogels [119]. Since ΔG enters Eq. (4.29) exponentially, substantial effects are expected following small changes in the interaction. Together with ΔG , clearly the number of nanoparticles and their size ratio with respect to the total nanoreactor size are the key quantities to tune. To save resources N should be small but large enough to warrant a high catalytic activity.

The behavior of Eq. (4.29) resembles a Langmuir-binding isotherm form. The

rate as a function of N initially rises linearly with a slope $\varepsilon \zeta \exp(-\beta \Delta G)$ and finally saturates to the maximum rate $k = k_S^-$ for large $N \to \infty$. For a single nanoparticle, N = 1, we recover essentially the result for a yolk-shell nanoreactor $k = 4\pi D_i a \exp(-\beta \Delta G)$, where a single nanoparticle is embedded in the center of a spherical hydrogel, apart from a slight modification of the target size, which is not a for the yolk-shell but R_i , the radius of the interior hollow confinement [119].

It is instructive to define an efficiency factor $f = k/k_s^-$ between 0 and 100%, that quantifies the desired target efficiency of the nanoreactor. Solving Eq. (4.29) for N, we find

$$N_f = \left(\frac{e^{\beta\Delta G}}{\varepsilon\,\zeta}\right)\frac{f}{1-f}\tag{4.30}$$

that is, for a fixed efficiency, the number of nanoparticles needed to maintain it changes exponentially with the change of solvation free energy. As a numerical example, let us assume reasonable values of $\zeta = 0.2$, $\varepsilon = 0.01$, and $\beta \Delta G = -1$. To obtain an efficiency of 50%, $N_f = 184$ nanoparticle catalysts would be needed. If $\beta \Delta G = -2$, the number wold drop of a factor 1/e to $N_f = 68$. Note that N_f does not scale with the catalyst *surface*, as typical for diffusion-guided reactions, rather it decreases *linearly* with the catalyst size.

Formula (4.30) provides a simple rule of thumb for optimizing the design and synthesis of core-shell nanoreactors. As an example, if one aims at 50% efficiency for a relatively neutral hydrogel chemical environment ($\Delta G = 0$) where the mobility of the substrate is not significantly reduced ($\zeta = 1$), one needs to employ $N_f = 1/\varepsilon =$ R_0/a nanoparticles. For $\varepsilon = 0.01$ that would be $N_f = 100$. In the case of a polymer matrix in physical-chemical conditions leading to a reduced mobility (e.g. $\zeta = 0.2$), one would need five times more NPs for $\Delta G = 0$, but about the same number for $\beta \Delta G \simeq -1.6$. This clearly illustrates how the *performance* of a composite core-shell nanoreactor is non-trivially shaped by the combined action of the physical chemical properties of the hydrogel shell matrix, such as solvation free energy differences and changes in translational mobility of the substrate molecules. To exemplify some of the discussions also visually and compare the approximative Eq. (4.28) to our exact approach Eqs. (4.17), we plot in Fig. 4.3 the normalized rate versus the number of nanoparticles for two different mobility ratios $\zeta = 0.2$ and 1.0 and core sizes $\gamma = 0.353$ (as in previous experiments described in [119]). The nanoparticle size is held fixed as $\varepsilon = 0.0146$ as also provided from experiments. We compare the full analytical solution Eq. (4.28) (lines) to numerical solutions of Eqs. (4.17) (symbols). First of all, we see that the analytical treatment is indeed very accurate and deviates from the exact solution by less than one percent. Comparing the different mobilities ζ within the gel, clearly all rates are higher in the more mobile case. Concerning the overall form of the curves we see the initial linear rise of the rates as predicted by the Langmuir form Eq. (4.29) and then saturating for large N values. Saturation is weak for small ΔG values but begins markedy earlier (for smaller N) if the adsorption free energy reaches values as small as a few kBT, the thermal energy. Hence, a decisive factor in the design of optimized nanoreactors must be clearly the tuning of the reactant-hydrogel interaction towards attraction.

4.3 Analysis of the models and future perspectives

Numerous studies have been performed with the aim of characterizing the catalytic activity of active nanoreactors, and to highlight the effect of the temperature on the overall rate of the reaction. In Ref. [122, 123] the authors identify the interplay between the effects of the temperature on the diffusion coefficient, on the local free enthalpy ΔG and on the reactivity of the particles. The most recent analytical approach followed in [119] models the reaction rate for a single yolk-shell nanoreactor (embedding a single nanoparticle) coupling the Debye-Smoluchowski approach with a two-state model which characterizes the swallen and collapsed state. The agreement with experimental results on yolk-shell structures accounting for single nanoparticles is good. A fundamental assumption that allows the authors in [119] to derive an analytical expression for the rate constant with fit parameters, is that the nanoparticles do not interact with each other and can be treated independently. Our contribution allows us to describe the behavior of a composite architecture involving multiple catalysts because the equations (4.23) and (4.28) take into account explicitly the interaction among many particles. The final purpose of our study is thus to identify the values of the relevant geometrical parameters, such as size, number and configuration of the nanoparticles, that maximize the catalytic activity of a composite nanoreactor of the kind showed in Fig. 4.2. The solution worked out in the previous section allows one to compute the overall reaction rate constant of the nanoreactors for a given configuration of the N nanocatalysts (metal nanoparticles or enzymes), given the thickness of the microgel layer $R_0 - R_S$, the diffusion coefficients in the bulk D_o and in the microgel D_i and the intrinsic reaction constant of the nanocatalysts k^* . As in the model described in Ref. [119], the parameters $\Delta G, k^*, R_0$ are obtained from the experimental results. However, future theoretical works should focus on describing the temperature dependence of the ligand diffusion coefficient inside the microgel and of the intrinsic rate constant, starting from first principles. Once the functional dependence of the geometrical and chemical parameters on the temperature are known, one can calculate the reaction rate constant and the approximate MOA for the catalytic system taken at a given temperature, simply by solving the system (4.17) and equation (4.23) with the corresponding parameters.

The thickness of the the microgel layer $R_0 - R_S$ varies according to changes in temperature: in the proximity of the lower critical solution temperature (LCST), which for the PNIPAM is approximately 32° C, the shell starts to shrink due to a decreased solubility of PNIPAM in water, which causes water expulsion and compression of the porous network [118]. As a result, the shell volume is reduced and the nanoparticles get closer to each other. A functional relation between temperature and diameter of the nanoreactor can be obtained by fitting the hydrodynamic radii of the composite particle measured at different temperatures through Dynamical Light Scattering (DNLS).

In general, the intrinsic rate constant k^* can be assumed to have an Arrheniuslike dependence on temperature, with pre-factor k_R and activation energy E_R [118]. We can thus assume, following [119]

$$k^* = k_R \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta E_R}{k_B T}\right)$$

As for the value of the diffusion coefficient inside the microgel, the situation is

somewhat more controversial. A plausible strategy among other seems to follow a hydrodynamic approach proposed in 1984 by Cukier [124] for the diffusion of Brownian particles in semidilute polymer solutions with volume fraction ϕ

$$D(\phi) = D_0 e^{-\kappa_C \, \phi^{3/4}} \tag{4.31}$$

where D_0 is the diffusion coefficient at infinite dilution and κ_C a microgel-dependent constant. When the temperature increases from below the critical solution temperature (LCST) and past the swollen-to-shrunk phase transition, the volume fraction of the microgel increases as it expels water molecules. For the moment, we did not include in our models the functional dependence of the parameter on the temperature, which can constitute a future development of our theory.

All in all in this chapter we have demonstrated how our theory can be adapted to provide ready-to-use analytical tools to assist chemical engineers in the design of important nano-devices employed in modern applications in the chemical sciences.



Figure 4.3: Reaction rate constant versus number of nanoparticles of radius $a = 0.0146R_0$ for $D_i = D_o$ (upper panel, swallen phase) and $D_i = 0.2D_o$ (lower panel, shrunk phase). Symbols denote the exact results, while the solid lines are plots of the configuration-averaged monopole approximation, eq. (4.28). Other parameters are $R_S/R_0 = 0.353$, $h \to \infty$.

Chapter 5

Binding of small ligands to large flexible biomolecules

The interplay between competing binding sites is particularly interesting for molecules which display multi-valent activity. The coexistence of multiple binding sites can improve the efficiency of the reaction kinetics, because it increases the probability of getting in contact with a specific ligand. In the case of antibodies, a single protein can bind monovalently to two small ligands or multi-valently to larger antigens. The latter setting is used by antibodies to increase the binding affinity with large molecules and generate more stable complexes. On the other hand, we showed in the previous chapters how the competition between multiple binding sites, which mutually shield part of the flux from each other, decreases the global rate of the reaction with respect to the case of a single receptor with the same global active surface. In this chapter we aim at investigating the role of structural parameters, such as the distance and the size of active sites belonging to the same receptor, and the role of internal dynamics on the proteins' ability to bind other molecules. Dynamics is a fundamental characteristic of molecular machines, and facilitates the execution of specific biological functions [125, 126]. As underlined by many experimental data, proteins can not be considered as rigid and static object because they exhibit a variable degree of structural flexibility. Flexible units might act as dynamical gates that govern the accessibility of specific sites and indirectly control the cascade of reactions triggered by a binding event [125, 126].

A paradigmatic example of the proteins' complexity is given by the typical antigen-antibody reaction. Antibodies are large, extremely flexible molecules with multiple binding sites, whose internal dynamics is certainly key to their great ability to bind antigens of all sizes, from small hormones to giant viruses. Unarguably, they can be counted among the most important molecular machines for the functioning of life. Like other large biomolecular assemblies, they are increasingly being exploited in modern nanobiotechnology [127] and biomedical [128] applications.

Hence, a satisfactory comprehension of antibodies' structure and functional dynamics poses great challenges at the interface among biology, physics, medicine and pharmaceutical industrial research. We will base our analysis on the structure of a particular class of antibodies, the immunoglobulin G (IgG), which is the isotype that provides the majority of antibody-based immunity against invading pathogens. Antibodies are large Y-shape proteins whose ultimate function is to bind hostile
organisms, such as viruses and bacteria. The reaction between an antibody and an antigen occurs through one (or both) of the two active sites placed on the IgG surface, which bind to the antigen's epitope(s). As we will precise in the following section, the different domains of an antibody are connected together in a non-rigid fashion, allowing the molecule to adopt extremely variable configurations. The question we investigate is how the internal dynamic of the antibody influences the efficiency of the binding reaction.

In this section, we first build a shape-based coarse-grained model of an IgG molecule and then we employ it in a molecular dynamic simulation to generate plausible 3D conformations of the molecule in agreement with experimental data (single-molecule Cryo-ET). Then, we apply our theoretical model, introduced in the previous chapter, to compute the binding rate constants of small antigens to the IgG which is assumed frozen in each one of the obtained three-dimensional conformation. Therefore, we implicitly assume that the ligand (antigen) molecules are small enough, so that a local equilibrium can be reached faster than the typical rearrangement times of internal IgG conformations. Finally we compare the results corresponding to different configurations and we identify the meaningful structural parameters for the modulation of the rate. Moreover, we map the problem of the binding between antibody and antigen onto a simple effective model, which can be described with very a reduced set of parameters. Our findings pave the way for further investigation of the subtle connection between the dynamics and the function of large, flexible multi-valent molecular machines.

5.1 The IgG and its representation

Immunoglobulins are large glycoproteins of approximately 150kDa made of four polypeptidic chains: two light chains (of ~ 25 kDa) and two heavy chains (of ~ 50 kDa) which give the IgG a characteristic Y shape, which is shown in fig 5.1. In the macroscopic structure of the immunoglobuline it is possible to recognize three roughly ellipsoidal subunits of length about 6 nm: two fragment binding arms (Fabs), and a stem (Fc), connected by a flexible hinge [129, 130, 131].

The tips of the Fab domain host hypervariable regions [132] (see Fig. 5.2). These are often referred to as the *active* sites or *paratopes*, as these are the portions of the structure where antigens are bound (at their *epitopes*). The Fc stem is recognized at its lower end by the complement system [133] and by phagocytic cells [134] in the early steps of an immune response. These three lobes are hinged together by a flexible stretch of polypeptide chain, which allows them to vary considerably their mutual positions.

Atomic-force microscopy [135] and cryo-microscopy [136] measurements have revealed that Fab-Fab and Fab-Fc angles are virtually limited only by steric clashes, with measured values ranging from 15° to 128° (Fab-Fc angle) and from about 20° to 180° (Fab-Fab angle) [136].

The intrinsic flexibility of IgG molecules reflects their ability to bind antigens of different sizes, from small molecules such as hormones to large viruses [137, 138]. Moreover, high flexibility is also key to double-Fab (bivalent) binding to large viruses [139], a process quantified by the so-called binding *avidity* [140, 141], as opposed to the single-binding affinity. Bivalent binding increases the overall strength of



Figure 5.1: Schematic representation of the polypeptidic chains forming an antibody molecule. The yellow bonds show explicitly the structure-stabilizing disulfide bridges.



Figure 5.2: Pictorial representation of the three-lobe structure of an antibody. VL and VH denote the highly variable regions of the Fab domains where antigens bind.

the immune response and also allows for IgG-mediated virion aggregation [142]. Re-

cently, it was demonstrated that the intrinsic flexibility of antibodies can be exploited to have them literally *walking* on antigen-covered surfaces with specific lattice-like arrangements of haptens with lattice spacing matching the IgG *stride* [143].

In this chapter we focus on the following question: given their great flexibility, we want to assess whether IgGs are more effective in binding a co-diffusing antigen when adopting certain specific conformations. More generally, it would be extremely interesting to establish a quantitative link between the large-scale dynamics of antibodies and their binding *efficiency*. Here we concentrate on this problem in the case of small antigens, where the dynamics of substrate and IgG molecules are characterized by widely separated time scales. More precisely, we elaborate a model to assess the role of the IgG conformation on the diffusion-limited reaction rate describing the formation of an encounter complex between a diffusing antigen and a stationary IgG molecule frozen in a given conformation.

To obtain an effective model of the antibody, we preliminary consider its static atomistic representation, as obtained via X-ray crystallography. More specifically, we refer to the intact map of the murine IgG 1IGT as made available by the RCSB protein data bank, (transparent structure in figure 5.3). We built a coarse grained model of the immunoglobulin made of N = 96 identical spheres of radius R, automatically docked into the crystal structure by an ad hoc fitting routine made available by the computer software VMD [144]. The diameter of the beads composing the skeleton of the antibody is equal to the smallest distance between pairs of spheres, multiplied by 0.95, a scaling factor which prevents unphysical merging of contiguous units. Based on this criterion, we obtain R=4.4 A. The radius of the active sphere, localized on the outer edges of the Fab is assigned different values (in the following the size of the paratopes will be indicated in the captions and figures' legends). From crystallographic data, the active surface for the antigen-antibody complex seems to vary with the antigens size. It scales linearly for very small antigens, but then saturates to an almost constant value which never exceeds 1200 Å. Our choice for the number of beads in the coarse grained representation is a good trade-off between the constraints of keeping the structure light enough (fewer spheres) and reproducing faithfully enough the three-dimensional shape of the domains (more spheres). As we will state in the following, the main conclusion of our study holds in general, irrespectively at the specific level of coarse graining imposed in the model.

An illustrative sketch of the coarse grained model is depicted in Fig. 5.3. The active sites, situated on the top of the Fab arms, are represented by two absorbing sinks of appropriate size, while the spheres which define the bulk of the structure are assumed to be totally reflecting. The above structure can be readily turned into a full dynamical model to reproduce the internal dynamic of the protein. We will describe hereafter the molecular dynamic simulation that we developed to obtain a set of independent configuration of a single IgG molecule. Following the well known elastic-network strategy [RFF] we map our IgG into a network of beads and springs. This is achieved by stretching a Hookean spring of stiffness κ between any two beads that are separated by less than a specific cutoff length R_c in the equilibrium structure (by definition, the X-ray structure depicted as the transparent structure in Fig. 5.3). The constant κ is chosen stiff enough so that the shape of each domain is preserved while they fluctuate freely about one another. In order to prevent steric clashes among the three lobes, we also introduce a repulsive potential energy between any



Figure 5.3: Coarse grained representation of the IgG with N = 96 beads. The docking of the N spheres is performed with the shape-based algorithm [145, 146] implemented in the VMD package [144]. The black spheres positioned on the edges of the Fab represent the active sites. In this schematic illustration, the beads occupy the positions that are assigned through docking. The radius of the beads shown in the figure corresponds approximately to the one used in the simulations (0.44 nm). The atomic representation of the antibody is shown as a transparent structure (PDB code: 1IGT)

two beads. The total potential energy reads:

$$V = \frac{\kappa}{2} \sum_{i>j} c_{ij} (r_{ij} - R_{ij})^2 + v_0 \sum_{i>j} \left(\frac{\ell}{r_{ij}}\right)^{12}.$$
 (5.1)

Here the position of the i-th bead as a function of time and in the equilibrium structure are denoted by $\mathbf{r}_i(t)$ and \mathbf{R}_i , respectively. Accordingly, $R_{ij} = |\mathbf{R}_j - \mathbf{R}_i|$ and $r_{ij}(t) = |\mathbf{r}_j(t) - \mathbf{r}_i(t)|$ are the equilibrium and displaced inter-bead distances, respectively. The matrix

$$c_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } R_{ij} < R_c \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

specifies all the interacting pairs, and is known as the connectivity matrix. In the following we take $v_0 = 5$ kcal/mol, $\ell = 10$ Å, $\kappa = 50$ kcal/mol/Å² and $R_c = 22$ Å.



Figure 5.4: Snapshots obtained from the coarse-grained molecular dynamics simulations. The points represent the position of the centers of the units of the coarsegraining. The dimension of the spheres is purely indicative of the position and is not representative of the radius used in our model.

A set of different configurations was then obtained by sampling a constant-energy trajectory with initial conditions given by the crystallographic structure and initial velocities assigned randomly to the centers of the beads. In order to reconstruct the trajectory, we integrated Newtons equation numerically

$$m\ddot{\mathbf{r}}_i = -\nabla_i V$$

through a position-extended Forest-Ruth like (PEFRL) symplectic algorithm [147] with a time step dt = 2.8 fsec. The mass m of the effective beads was fixed at $m = M_{IgG}/96 \approx 1.67$ kDa. The trajectory was sampled every 0.56 psec to obtain many sets of coordinates, providing the *skeletons* of different conformers. The snapshots in figure 5.4 displays three samples of our trajectory.

In order to validate the results of our Coarse-grained molecular dynamics simulations, we compared the statistics of the inter-domain angles with the results of Cryo Electron Tomography (Cryo-ET) measurements, taken from Ref [136]. In [136] an ensemble of Cryo Electron Tomography experiments (see fig 5.5) is analyzed to reconstruct the distribution of configurations visited by single IgG molecules in solution. To interpret the reconstructed three-dimensional portraits, a simplified representation of the immunoglobulin was put forward: the IgG was sketched as composed of three rigid rods freely jointed together in a common point, the hinge. By fitting such mechanical model to the experimental structures, the Fab-Fc angle and the Fab-Fab angle for all the reconstructed molecules were registered and their frequency of occurrence determined. The obtained cumulative distributions for ϕ and ψ are depicted in figure 5.6 and compared to the results of our simulations. The Fab-Fab and Fab-Fc angles were obtained for each conformer resulting from our dynamical model by first constructing the inertial ellipsoids of the three domains. The three angles (ψ and the equivalent ϕ_1, ϕ_2) were then computed from the scalar products of the vectors describing the major axes of the three ellipsoids (pointing outward from the hinge). The surprising conclusion of the comparison is that a simple shape-based coarse-grained model that is able to reproduce the correct shape of the antibody suffices to reproduce the experiments in solution. We stress that our simulations are deterministic and carried out in vacuum: the IgG's domains



(a)



(b)

Figure 5.5: (a) Cryo-ET procedure: single molecules in vivo are immobilized at cryogenic temperatures (below $-150^{\circ}C$) and independent snapshots of different sections of the body are taken by rotating the sample inside the cryo-microscope. The images are then processed and assembled to reconstruct the three-dimensional structure of the molecule. (b) A set of reconstructed 3D volumes of the IgG molecules in solution. The three different tomograms representing individual IgG molecules. The image is reproduced from Ref. [136].

fluctuate about the hinge (the center of mass is at rest) only subject to mutual collisions, while preserving their shape due to the stiff springs stretched among the beads. The reason behind this somewhat surprising finding is that we are looking at equilibrium properties. It is then manifestly redundant what the collisions with the solvent add to the random collisions among the domains - they would only generate an *equivalent* noise spectrum that would not change the equilibrium statistics. This also shows that hydrodynamic effects seem not to affect to an appreciable extent the large-scale structural fluctuations of IgGs, which appear mainly controlled by the excluded-volume effects related to the *shape* of the mutually hinged domains.

5.2 Mathematical model for the binding reaction

The collection of configurations obtained with the dynamical coarse grained model represents the starting point for our analysis through the method introduced in chapter 3. The chemical reaction between an antibody and an antigen can be represented as a two-step process, according to the scheme

$$[IgG] + [A] \xrightarrow[k_{D}]{} [C]^* \xrightarrow{k^*} [C]$$

which describes first the formation of the antigen-antibody complex, and eventually the stabilization of the antigen-antibody complex.

If we restrict our scenario to small antigens, which are diffusing sufficiently fast so to see the antibody virtually frozen in one of the allowed configuration, and we assume that antibodies are sufficiently diluted when compared to the concentration of the other reactants, we can map the chemical reaction on a boundary problem of the kind (3.6). More precisely, assuming a separation between the characteristic time scale for the diffusion of the antigens and for the time scale associated with the IgG's internal dynamics, we define a set of boundary problems, one for each configuration obtained through the MD simulation. For a given configuration, the IgG is represented as a collection of disconnected spherical boundaries Ω_{α} ($\alpha = 1, ..., N$) placed at given locations in space (see Fig. 5.7). The volume external to the Ω_{α} spheres is imagined to be filled by a continuous concentration u of diffusing antigens, which are moving with an effective diffusivity $D = D_A + D_{IgG}$ and are characterized by a bulk concentration c_0 (far from the antibody). The IgG configuration is hidden in the boundary conditions. The outer spheres at the Fab tips of radius R_a , meant to represent the paratopes, are considered as perfectly absorbing boundaries. The remaining N-2 spheres with equal radius R are taken to be totally reflecting. With all these assumptions, the steady-state $(t \to \infty)$ rate constant k corresponding to a given conformation of the IgG can be calculated analytically by computing the total flux to the spheres which represent the paratopes (Ω_1 and Ω_2 hereafter). The stationary problem that we have to solve for the normalized density $u = c/c_0$ of the antigens reads

$$\begin{cases} \nabla^2 u = 0\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial r_{\alpha}} \Big|_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \alpha \neq 1, 2\\ u \Big|_{\partial \Omega_{\alpha}} = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \alpha = 1, 2\\ \lim_{r \to \infty} u = 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.2)



Figure 5.6: (a) Cumulative distribution of the Fab-Fc angle ϕ . The shaded area identify the regions that are inaccessible because of steric hindrance. (b) Cumulative distribution of the Fab-Fab angle ψ . The solid line stands for the results of our coarse-grained simulations, while symbols refer to the Cryo-ET experiments reported in Ref. [136]. The inset in panel (a) provides a schematic view of the mechanical model employed in the simulation, together with a definition of the relevant angles ψ and ϕ .

The system (5.2) is solved by employing the method described in the previous sections. The solution can be written formally here as combination of only irregular



Figure 5.7: Schematic illustration of the set of boundaries corresponding to a given conformation of an antibody molecule. Blue spheres correspond to reflecting surfaces, while red beads flag absorbing boundaries (paratopes).

harmonics, since we are working in an unbounded domain:

$$u = 1 + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} u_{\alpha} = 1 + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} u_{mn}^{-}(\boldsymbol{r}_{\alpha}) =$$

$$1 + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{N} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-n}^{n} B_{mn}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{r_{\alpha}}{R_{\alpha}}\right)^{-n-1} P_{n}^{m}(\cos\theta_{\alpha}) e^{im\phi_{\alpha}}.$$
(5.3)

The total antigen flux across the paratopes surfaces, normalized to twice the reaction rate of an isolated spherical sink with the same radius R_a as the active paratope spheres, reads

$$\frac{k}{2k_S} = -\frac{(B_{00}^{(1)} + B_{00}^{(2)})}{2}.$$
(5.4)

In Fig.5.8, we plot the normalized rate constant k as a function of the distance between the two binding sites (Fab tips), after ordering the different configurations in terms of the relative distance d between the two paratopes. Several comments are in order after examining the results. As a first observation, the global rate of the antibody-antigens reaction is always smaller than twice the rate of an isolated paratope sink. This reduction stems from the competition of the paratopes for the target antigen molecule and from non trivial screening effects exerted by the reflecting IgG body. The conclusion that we can draw is that the interaction among the sinks is always anticooperative, and the rate to a selected paratope increases as the distance between the sinks grows. The configurations which make the binding reaction more efficient are thus the ones associated with the maximum value of the Fab-Fab angle. We will see in the following how the configurations which result in a higher binding efficiency are also the most visited ones (see again the second panel in figure 5.6).

The second remark is that the points displayed in Figure 5.8 fall on a smooth curve. The absence of appreciable scattering around the average profile seems to suggest that the relative distance between the paratopes is indeed the only meaningful parameter that needs to be retained when aiming at a quantitative characterization of the binding performance of a dynamical IgG. The reflecting beads of the IgG body shield out part of the incoming flux of antigens. However, such screening seems not to depend on how the inert spheres are arranged around the paratopes, so long as the paratopes are at a fixed distance.

Moreover, figure 5.8 shows that the results can be interpreted by mapping the antibody to an effective and rather simple model: the IgG can be replaced by a dumbbell made of two spherical sinks of radius R_a placed at a distance d. The red curves in the figure represent in fact the analytical expression of the reaction rate in the monopole approximation for each of two absorbing identical spheres (3.53), multiplied by a constant factor $f_a < 1$ which accounts for the excluded volume effect of the reflecting beads:

$$\frac{k}{2k_S} = f_a \frac{1}{1 + R_a/d},\tag{5.5}$$

where $k_S = 4\pi DR_a$ is the rate constant of an isolated paratope (see caption of Fig. 5.8). The factor f_a is the only remnant of the IgG body (the other N-2 reflecting spheres), whose action on the two sinks only causes a rather modest $6 \div 7$ % reduction with respect to an isolated paratope dumbbell.

To shed further light on the above findings, it is instructive to look at the distributions of the computed reaction rate constants. These are shown in Fig. 5.9. One can appreciate how the flexibility of the IgG impacts the statistics of the rate constants. The profiles appear negatively skewed, which implies that the higher weight is associated with larger values of the rate constant. Interestingly, the histograms can be fitted to Gumbel profiles, which suggests that the rate constants computed from the sampled configurations may correspond to near-maximum sampled values. Moreover, the curves shift towards the right, namely to higher values of the normalized rate constants, when R_a is reduced. This is a consequence of the reduced diffusion interaction between the two active sites. In fact, the larger the active regions, the greater the rate constant for an isolated paratope, but the smaller the combined rate constants for the two-paratope system [113, 18, 148]. Therefore, we conclude that internal flexibility forces the antibody to visit preferentially those configurations that are associated with higher probability of forming an encounter complex. Summarizing, our results suggest that large, flexible molecules may have been designed by evolution to exploit their flexibility to a maximum degree in terms



Figure 5.8: Normalized rate against the distance between the active sites (red beads in the snapshots) for two different choices of the encounter distance R_a = paratope size + antigen size. The rate constant is normalized to twice the Smoluchowski rate constant of an isolated paratope, $k_S = 4\pi DR_a$, where $D = D_{IgG} + D_A \simeq D_A$ is the relative diffusion constant (practically equal to the antigen diffusion coefficient). Each symbol represents the rate calculated for a given configuration of the IgG. The radius of the reflecting spheres that define the body of the IgG was fixed at 0.44 nm in both cases. The solid and dotted lines refer to the effective model 3.53 multiplied by a constant factor f_a . Here $f_a = 0.94$ ($R_a = 0.54$ nm) and $f_a = 0.93$ ($R_a = 0.44$ nm). All the calculations are performed with N = 96.

of the ability of binding small antigens. Of course, this is only part of the story. IgGs bind also bivalently to different epitopes on the same surface, such as a virus capsid. Thus, the mutual flexibility and shape of the three lobes must also have been shaped by the evolutionary pressure exerted by requiring such binding events to be optimized.

The results illustrated so far hold in general, and do not depend on the level of coarse-graining imposed in building the effective bead-based model of IgGs. To prove the robustness of this strategy, we want to show how the same analysis can be repeated for different choices of the number of beads that make up the coarsegrained IgG molecule, yielding similar conclusions. However, one could in principle speculate that a sphere-based model will inevitably yield a structure with plenty of *holes*, unphysical consequences of the coarse-graining procedure. The antigens, assumed point-like as their size is incorporated in the size of the paratope beads, R_a , could diffuse through the structure and this could be the reason why the whole IgGs



Figure 5.9: Histograms of the reaction rate constants computed for different choices of the paratopes' size R_a . The solid lines are fits to the Gumbel density distribution $\mathcal{P}(x) = \exp\left[(x-\mu)/\beta - e^{(x-\mu)/\beta}\right]/\beta$, where μ, β are the fitting parameters. The best-fit values of the parameters are: $\mu = 1.81, \beta = 0.010$ ($R_a = 0.44$ nm), $\mu = 1.77, \beta = 0.012$ ($R_a = 0.54$ nm).

behaves quite just like a nearly perfect dumbbell. In order to investigate further into this matter, we studied a hyper-simplified model where the IgG is replaced by three contacting spheres, two representing the Fab arms and one modelling the Fc stem. The active paratopes were still modelled as two additional absorbing spheres at the outer ends of the Fab spheres (see cartoons in Fig. 5.10).

Fig. 5.10 illustrates our results for this ultra-coarse-grained model. Overall, the picture traced in the previous paragraph is confirmed, which shows that the partially transparent nature of the multi-bead model does not introduce artifacts in the computation of the rate constant and can be safely adopted as it allows one to sample the large-scale configuration space in agreement with the experiments. The rate constant in the three-bead model can still be described by a modified (rescaled) dumbbell: the largest rate constants are invariably associated with the configurations where the Fab arms are stretched away from each other to a maximum, while the smallest rate constants correspond unfailingly to the situation where the active sites are close to each other (see cartoons in Fig. 5.10). The rescaling factor to be used in the dumbbell law is close to one for very large and very small sizes of the paratopes. In the former case, the reason is that the active spheres are strong enough not to feel the screening of the three-bead reflecting IgG. In the latter case, the paratopes are so small that their separation is always several times their size. At intermediate sizes of the active sites the reduction is largest.

To summarize, we have developed a coarse-grained dynamical model of the IgG which has been exploited to study the interplay between the inherent dynamics of the molecule and its specific functioning. The first result of our analysis is that simulations of the coarse grained model of the IgG in vacuum reproduce with good



Figure 5.10: Left: rate constant normalized by $2k_S$ versus rescaled paratopeparatope distance for different choices of the paratope size R_a . The grey dashed lines are plots of formula (3.53), rescaled by appropriate normalization factors f_a as shown in the right panel (the solid line is only a guide to the eye). The black dotted line is the plot of the perfect dumbbell prediction ($f_a = 1$), $k/k_S = d/(d + R_a)$.

accuracy the statistic of the main structural parameters, as extracted from single molecule Cryo-ET experiments. We then set down to quantify the reaction rate between the dynamical coarse-grained IgG and a sea of, freely diffusing, small antigens, inside a given volume, subject to open boundary conditions. The study exploits the solution of the Laplace equation in spherical coordinates as it is carried out in the previous chapter. Working in this framework, we showed how our method, together with a coarse grained strategy, allows to extend the simpler Smoluchowski model to the case of complex shaped large biomolecules. The spherical representation is in fact too simplistic for many biological molecules: we showed how we can compute the rate of a reaction for an arbitrary choice of the shape of the receptor, by reproducing its configuration with assemblies of spheres. The obtained results can then be rationalized by resorting to an elementary interpretative model, which assumes dealing with just two sinks. The fact that the behavior of complex three dimensional objects can be nicely explained by simplified dynamical models, constitutes another interesting conclusion of this study.

Moreover, we underlined how the internal flexibility forces the antibody to visit preferentially that subset of configurations which is associated with the larger values of the predicted reaction rate. We interpreted this correlation as a sign of the efficiency of the protein, which nature could have engineered so as to minimize the negative interference between its two active sites. The internal flexibility keeps apart, on average, the two paratopes and thus enhances the performance of their cooperative binding. Of course, our kinetics results are theoretical, and it would be very interesting to compare our predictions to direct experimental measurement on the kinetic of the IgG. Unfortunately, the effect of the internal dynamics on the kinetics of the reaction is hard to detect experimentally, since conventional measurements return global estimates and do not allow to disentangle the information on

specific IgGs configurations. One solution could be to compare measurements performed with the same antigens on wild-type antibodies and on specifically designed molecules, whose conformational ensembles are confined to selected portions of their phase space. This might be the case of antibodies designed to partially reduce or, even delete the hinge domain, thus inducing a substantial loss of flexibility [149]. An alternative route could be to compare the kinetics of (i) individual antigen-binding fragments (Fabs) and (ii) assemblies of two, three or more recombined such fragments with the kinetics of intact antibodies [150]. Another interesting and viable route to test the predictions of our theory would be to analyze antibodies from camelids, such as dromedary or llamas [151, 152]. About half of the antibodies of these animals lack light chains and only feature two heavy chains with three IgG domains each [152], with the missing IgG domain replaced by a flexible linker. The IgG domain carrying the complementarity determining regions (CDR) display two point mutations that make their surface more hydrophilic (where normal IgG feature the interface between the terminal light-chain and heavy-chain CDR-carrying domains). This has prompted researchers to isolate these special IgG domains, which are now known under the name of nanobodies and hold great promise for the biotechnology industry [151]. Interestingly, nanobodies show the same high affinities of full antibodies and can be used to construct more complex molecules, such as by joining two of them via a long and flexible hinge. It would be interesting to compare kinetics measurements performed on a host of different antigen-binding systems, such as the one described above, to validate our theoretical approach.

As a final remark, it is worth emphasizing that the techniques here developed are general and could be applied to study complex formations involving a wide host of different biomolecules of various sizes and flexibility. Antigen-antibody binding reaction

Chapter 6

Gated reactions

The fundamental assumption underlying the model described in the previous chapters is that the system relaxation time for the diffusive flux of particles (the ligands) t_D is small enough to neglect time-dependent effects. Hence, for the applications presented, we were able to consider a local equilibrium of the ligand concentration around the reactive boundaries and hence restrict ourselves to the stationary diffusion equation. Often though, fluctuations in the conformation and reactivity of the ligand or the receptor play an important role in the extent of the binding reaction. The classical example is the binding of oxygen and myoglobin which could not happen if the protein were rigid, since the binding site can be occluded as a result of the protein's conformational dynamics. The same kinetics is observed in the binding of acetylcholinesterase and acetylcholine, where the active site is placed at the end of a bottleneck which opens and closes responding to thermal fluctuations [153]. Processes like these can not be described by stationary models, because the temporal fluctuations occur on a time scale comparable, or even smaller than the characteristic time for the diffusion of the molecules.

In this chapter we will consider problems where the boundary conditions are time dependent. We will use a different analytical approach, since the harmonicbased technique used up to now can not be exploited directly for solving the time dependent diffusion equation. We will rely on Duhamel's theorem, a powerful theory introduced by the French mathematician Jean-Marie Duhamel. Duhamel provided a convenient approach for developing a solution to diffusion equations with time-dependent boundary conditions and equations with a time dependent energy generation term [154]. The idea behind his method is to exploit the solution of the corresponding problem with time-independent boundary conditions, to build the solution of the original problem. This procedure is described in Duhamel's principal work on heat conduction. We will adopt here the same representation of the ligand /receptor interaction introduced in chapter 3, where the hypotheses of high dilution, little diffusivity and small concentration of one reactant allowed us to represent it as a fixed sphere in the reference frame and to define a boundary problem for the density of the diffusing species. For the sake of simplicity, we will restrict here to the Smoluchowski setting, namely the approximation in which the encounter probability of two receptors is neglected and we can consider a single particle Ω of the species A within an unbounded domain.

To provide a description of a gated reaction we have to take into account the time

dependent equivalent of system (3.3), complemented by time-dependent boundary conditions on the encounter surface:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = D\nabla^2 \rho \\ \rho(r,0) = \rho_0(r) \\ r \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial r} - h(t)\rho = 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \partial A. \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

Here $\rho(\mathbf{x}, t)$ is the density of a population which is diffusing in the open space $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus A$ external to a spherical boundary of radius R centered in the origin of the reference system. The radius R of the sphere is an effective dimension which represents the encounter distance between the reactants, and, similarly, the coefficient D embodies an effective diffusivity, as introduced in chapter 3. The Laplacian operator, given the radial symmetry of the problem, reduces to

$$\nabla^2 \rho = \frac{1}{r^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} (r^2 \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial r}).$$

The function h(t) in the boundary condition gauges the fluctuations in the reactivity of the boundary and it accounts for the typical time variation of the absorbing properties of the receptor. As we will see after deriving the solution, the function h(t) will have to match some regularity conditions to make the analytical calculations possible.

The previous system can be reduced to a one-dimensional problem for $u = r\rho$ by exploiting the radial symmetry of the domain :

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = D \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial r^2} & \text{in } (R, \infty) \\ u(r, 0) = r \rho_0(r) & \text{in } (R, \infty) \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial r} = g(t) & \text{for } r = R, \end{cases}$$
(6.2)

where R is the effective radius of the receptor and the function g(t) allows us to express the boundary conditions as Neumann boundary conditions:

$$g(t) = \frac{1}{R} \left(h(t) + 1 \right) u(R, t) = \frac{\tilde{h}(t)}{R} u(R, t).$$
(6.3)

This trick is necessary to employ Duhamel's theorem. To understand better the philosophy of Duhamel's approach, we will briefly describe the general statement of the theorem for a diffusion equation subject to time-dependent boundary conditions on arbitrary placed boundaries $\partial \Omega_i$ in the open domain $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \sum_{i=1}^N \Omega_i$. More specifically Duhamel's theorem provides a solution for the problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial T(\mathbf{x},t)}{\partial t} = D\nabla^2 T(\mathbf{x},t) & \text{in } \Omega\\ T(\mathbf{x},0) = F(\mathbf{x}) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial T}{\partial n_i} + h_i T = \lambda_i(\mathbf{x},t) & \text{on } \partial\Omega_i. \end{cases}$$
(6.4)

by means of the solution of the auxiliary problem:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \varphi(\mathbf{x}, t, \tau)}{\partial t} = D\nabla^2 \varphi(\mathbf{x}, t, \tau) & \text{in } \Omega \\ \varphi(\mathbf{x}, 0, \tau) = F(\mathbf{x}) & \text{in } \Omega \\ \frac{\partial \varphi(\mathbf{x}, t, \tau)}{\partial n_i} + h_i \varphi(\mathbf{x}, t, \tau) = \lambda_i(\mathbf{x}, \tau) & \text{on } \partial\Omega_i. \end{cases}$$
(6.5)

Here t is the time, while τ is an auxiliary parameter which allows one to make the functions $\lambda_i(\mathbf{x}, \tau)$ not dependent on time. The relation between F and φ is given by

$$T(\mathbf{x},t) = F(\mathbf{x}) + \int_{\tau=0}^{t} \frac{\partial \varphi(\mathbf{x},t-\tau,\tau)}{\partial t} d\tau.$$
 (6.6)

Once the system (6.5) is solved for $\varphi(\mathbf{x}, t, \tau)$, it is thus possible to obtain the solution of (6.4) using equation (6.6).

In principle, this approach can not be used directly to solve the gated boundary problem (6.2), because the time dependency of our problem is hidden inside the intrinsic rate constant h(t) of the radiative boundary condition. This is the reason why in equation (6.2) we have introduced the function g(t) and we have formally written the boundary condition as Neumann's. This strategy will enable us to solve the gated boundary value problem, even if the analytical expression of the solution will be given implicitly.

Let then us focus on applying the Duhamel theory to the problem (6.2). After introducing the parameter τ , the auxiliary problem reads:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t}(r,t,\tau) = D \frac{\partial^2}{\partial r^2} \phi(r,t,\tau) & \text{in} \quad (R,\infty) \\ \phi(r,0,\tau) = r \rho_0(r) & \text{in} \quad (R,\infty) \\ \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial r} = g(\tau) & \text{for} \quad r = R. \end{cases}$$
(6.7)

We remind that here $g(\tau)$ is not a function of time. In order to solve system (6.7) we decompose the solution as $\phi(r, t, \tau) = \phi_1(r, \tau) + \phi_2(r, t, \tau)$, where ϕ_1 obeys to the steady state equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 \phi_1(r,\tau)}{\partial r^2} = 0 & \text{in} \quad (R,\infty) \\ \frac{\partial \phi_1}{\partial r} = g(\tau) & \text{for} \quad r = R. \end{cases}$$
(6.8)

while ϕ_2 is the solution of:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial t}(r,t,\tau) = D \frac{\partial^2 \phi_2(r,t,\tau)}{\partial r^2} & \text{in } (R,\infty) \\ \phi_2(r,0,\tau) = r\rho_0(r) - \phi_1(r,\tau) & \text{in } (R,\infty) \\ \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial r} = 0 & \text{for } r = R. \end{cases}$$
(6.9)

Thus we have the following solution for the auxiliary problem (6.7):

$$\begin{aligned} \phi(r,t,\tau) &= \phi_1(r,\tau) + \phi_2(r,t,\tau) \\ &= g(\tau)r + \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi Dt}} \int_{x=R}^{\infty} (x\rho_0(x) - g(\tau)x) \bigg(\exp\bigg(-\frac{(r-x)^2}{4Dt}\bigg) \\ &+ \exp\bigg(-\frac{(r-2R+x)^2}{4Dt}\bigg) \bigg) dx \end{aligned}$$
(6.10)

By using the relation (6.6) between the solution of the auxiliary problem and the solution of the time dependent problem, we have:

$$\begin{split} u(r,t) &= r\rho_0(r) + \int_0^t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi D(t-\tau)}} \int_{x=R}^\infty \left(x\rho_0(x) - \frac{\tilde{h}(\tau)}{R} u(R,\tau)x \right) \right. \\ &\left. \left(\exp\left(- \frac{(r-x)^2}{4D(t-\tau)} \right) + \exp\left(- \frac{(r-2R+x)^2}{4D(t-\tau)} \right) \right) dx \right) d\tau \\ &= r\rho_0(r) - \int_0^t \frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi D(t-\tau)}} \int_{x=R}^\infty x\rho_0(x) \left(\exp\left(- \frac{(r-x)^2}{4D(t-\tau)} \right) \right) \\ &+ \exp\left(- \frac{(r-2R+x)^2}{4D(t-\tau)} \right) \right) dx \right) d\tau \\ &- \int_0^t \frac{\tilde{h}(\tau)}{R} u(R,\tau) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi D(t-\tau)}} \int_{x=R}^\infty x \left(\exp\left(- \frac{(r-x)^2}{4D(t-\tau)} \right) \right) \\ &+ \exp\left(- \frac{(r-2R+x)^2}{4D(t-\tau)} \right) \right) dx \right) d\tau \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi Dt}} \int_{x=R}^\infty x\rho_0(x) \left(\exp\left(- \frac{(r-x)^2}{4Dt} \right) + \exp\left(- \frac{(r-2R+x)^2}{4Dt} \right) \right) dx \\ &- \int_0^t \frac{\tilde{h}(\tau)}{R} u(R,\tau) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\sqrt{\frac{4D}{\pi}(t-\tau)} \exp\left(- \frac{(r-R)^2}{4D(t-\tau)} \right) \right) \\ &+ (r-R)erf\left(\frac{(r-R)}{\sqrt{4D(t-\tau)}} \right) \right) d\tau. \end{split}$$
(6.11)

The solution of (6.2) obtained here is implicit in the sense that the expression of u(r,t) involves u(R,t) and thus it can not be computed directly. Remarkably, we notice that, for our purpose of computing the reaction rate

$$k = D \int_{\delta\Omega} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial r} d\sigma,$$

we only need to know the value of the solution restricted to r = R. In fact, after substituting the boundary condition in (6.2) in the definition of the normalized rate constant one gets:

$$\frac{k(t)}{k_S} = \frac{\partial \rho(R, t)}{\partial r} = h(t) \frac{\rho(R, t)}{\rho_B}.$$
(6.12)

where $k_S = 4\pi D R \rho_B$ is the stationary Smoluchowski rate of an absorbing ungated sphere and ρ_B is the bulk density. Thus, to get the reaction rate, we need to evaluate the implicit expression (6.11) for r = R. This leads to:

$$u(R,t) = l(t) - \int_0^t K(t,\tau)u(R,\tau)d\tau$$
(6.13)

where

$$K(t,\tau) = \tilde{h}(\tau) \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi R^2(t-\tau)}}$$

$$l(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi Dt}} \int_R^\infty x \rho_0(x) \exp\left(-\frac{(x-R)^2}{4Dt}\right) dx.$$
(6.14)

Expression (6.13) is a linear Volterra integral equation of the second kind.

Solutions of Volterra equations of the second kind can be found by Laplace transformation only for convolution kernels $K(t, \tau) = K(t - \tau)$. Since in our case the kernel involves a convolution function multiplied by a function of the variable t only, $\tilde{h}(t) = (h(t) + 1)$, the equation is solvable analytically only for a choice of h(t) = const.

It is instructive to check (6.13) with h(t) = h, which amounts to consider a timeindependent radiative boundary condition. It is not difficult, by using the Laplace transform, to see that this choice inserted in (6.13) gives in the stationary limit

$$\frac{k}{k_S} = \frac{h}{1+h},$$

as expected.

Even though this choice allows us to compute the solution analytically, it is not of great interest for our purposes, because the gated behavior of the boundary is lost in the choice h(t) = const. Among other strategies for solving the Volterra integral equation, simple algorithms based on quadrature schemes can be used to solve iteratively equation (6.13) when the kernel $K(t, \tau)$ and function l(t) are continuous for all $0 \le \tau \le t$.

The main difficulty here is the fact that the kernel in (6.14) shows a weak discontinuity for $t = \tau$. The Volterra integral equation resulting from discontinuous but integrable kernels involving functions of the kind $(t - s)^{\alpha} f(t, s) \quad 0 < \alpha < 1$ is called *Weakly Singular Volterra Integral Equation*. Specific methods have been proposed by several authors for equations of this kind. Here we make use of the algorithm developed using a fractional backward differentiation formulae (BDF) method described in Ref. [155, 156, 157]. This method allows one to solve a Weakly Singular Volterra-Abel Integral Equation of the second kind exhibiting the following structure:

$$y(t) = s(t) + \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^t \frac{k(t-\tau)}{\sqrt{t-\tau}} g(\tau, y(\tau)) d\tau, \quad 0 \le t \le T.$$
(6.15)

This method requires that the functions involved are sufficiently smooth. This scheme applies directly to equation (6.13) with $k(t - \tau) = -D$ and $g(\tau, y(\tau)) = \tilde{h}(\tau)y(\tau)$. Once we have defined the specific boundary value problem, by choosing a gating function h(t) for the boundary condition and the initial distribution of the density f(r) in (6.1), then the solution u(R) is computed from (6.13) and the normalized time dependent rate is:

$$\frac{k(t)}{k_S} = \frac{1}{R\rho_B}h(t)u(R,t).$$

Together with the time dependent rate, we will compute for every choice of the parameters the *mean rate constant* $\langle k \rangle$ which is the time-dependent rate constant averaged over a typical integration time T, that is selected according to the properties of the gating function:

$$\langle k \rangle = \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T k(t) dt.$$

6.1 Gated reactions in the literature

The internal dynamic of a molecule can have a strong effect on the extent of a reaction with another agent if the time scale associated with the conformational or reactivity fluctuation is comparable with the characteristic time of diffusion. In our previous analysis of the antibody/antigen interaction (see section 5) we worked under the hypothesis that the antigens diffuse sufficiently fast with respect to the typical time of large-scale conformational rearrangements of an IgG molecule. For a broad choice of the parameters, assuming that a ligand sees the receptor frozen in a given conformation (both geometrical and/or relative to the chemical properties) is not a realistic assumption. In those cases, a time dependent description which takes into account the role of the reactivity fluctuations has to be adopted. A quantitative analysis of the kinetic effects of the gated binding processes was first carried out by McCamon and Northrup [158], who identified two limiting situations for proteins (such as lysozyme) whose active sites are either accessible or not due to internal motions of the molecule. The first limit is the *fast gating limit*, for which opening and closing of the gate is much faster than the time required by a ligand to escape from the neighborhood of the gate. The second is the *slow gating limit*, in which the protein stays for a long time in the open and in the closed state compared to the rate of escape of the ligand. They restricted their study to sinks which are totally absorbing when in the *open state* and which require negligible time to open or close. As an application of this analysis, we recall the recent study in [159] in which Wade et al. use a dynamical simulation to analyze the effect of fluctuations in reactivity of ligand-receptor binding. They focus on the kinetic analysis of chicken muscle triosephosphate isomerase, an enzyme which binds to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate through an active site which shows flexible loops that act as an oscillating gate. The opening/closing of the gate occurs with an average period of 1 ns while the characteristic time of diffusion for the ligand is estimated as 16 ns. Given these estimates, the kinetics falls within the *fast gating* regime. Both simulations and experiments show that the gating has a very little effect on the rate of the enzyme, which is diffusion controlled. In all the mentioned studies, as well as in the majority of the works on this topic, gated reactions have been studied mainly stochastically, by taking the fluctuations of the gated active site as Markov processes. In this perspective the reaction can be described by the following scheme:

$$[\text{open}] \rightleftharpoons_{h} [\text{closed}].$$

In Ref. [160] it is shown that in the regimes of *fast gating*, where both the rates a and b are very large, the system behaves as if the gating did not exist, so that the overall rate of the binding reaction is approximately the same of a constantly reactive receptor. When the opening and closing of the gate is slow compared to the characteristic time for diffusion, so that $(a + b)^{-1} \gg \tau_D$, the gated rate constant is

$$k = \left(\frac{b}{a+b}\right) \quad k_{\infty} \tag{6.16}$$

that is the steady state reaction rate of a totally absorbing sink multiplied by the probability of finding the gate open. Nevertheless there exist some studies which employ deterministic gating functions, as in Ref.[161], where the authors control the accessibility of the binding site with a square wave of unit amplitude h(t) that enters the boundary condition of the diffusion equation

$$4\pi R^2 D \frac{\partial \rho(r,t)}{\partial r}|_R = h(t)k^* \rho(R,t), \qquad (6.17)$$

which has the same structure as the BC in our system (6.1). The equation is solved by using finite difference numerical methods for solving the equivalent formulation

$$\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial t} = r^{-2} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left(r^2 D \frac{\partial\rho}{\partial r} \right) - \frac{k^*}{4\pi R^2} h(t) \rho \delta(r-R)$$
(6.18)

coupled with a reflecting boundary condition at r = R and with an outer boundary condition $\rho(\infty, t) = 1$. Once the boundary value problem is solved numerically for the density of ligands, the authors compute the time dependent rate coefficient k(t) corresponding to a gate which is alternatively open and closed for intervals of arbitrary length τ_O and τ_C . They provide an analytical approximation for k(t) in terms of the ungated time-dependent rate $k_u(t)$ which holds in the limit $\tau_C \gg \tau_D$, where τ_C and τ_D stand for the gate closing time and the relaxation time, respectively. This assumption allows the density of ligand to recover the initial value $\rho(x, 0)$ during the closing interval. The average rate constant is evaluated over an open/closed cycle as the average rate constant of the ungated case times the fraction of time that the gate is open:

$$\langle k \rangle = \langle h(t) \rangle \frac{1}{\tau_O} \int_0^{\tau_O} k_u(t) dt = \frac{1}{\tau_O + \tau_C} \int_0^{\tau_O} k_u(t) dt.$$
(6.19)

Two limiting behaviors within the regime $\tau_C \gg \tau_D$ are retrieved for short and long opening times. If $\tau_O \gg \tau_D$ the time-averaged gated constant is equal to the fraction of time the gate is open, $\langle h(t) \rangle$, times the stationary limit of the rate for the ungated binding:

$$\langle k \rangle \sim \frac{k^* k_D}{k^* + k_D} \langle h(t) \rangle.$$
 (6.20)

If $\tau_O \ll \tau_D$ the average normalized gated constant becomes

$$\langle k \rangle \sim k^* \langle h(t) \rangle.$$
 (6.21)

6.2 Examples of time-dependent gating functions

Our goal is to develop an analysis of the gated reactions which involves the use of arbitrary shaped deterministic gating functions. This choice can be useful for modeling reactivity fluctuations in which the opening/closing happen gradually, and where the time of opening and closing (both the permanence in a given state and the velocity with which the accessibility changes) can be controlled by appropriate parameters.

Before introducing the two classes of function that we adopted to model the gating function, we want to stress that in order to solve the Volterra equation with the method described in the previous section we have to require the function h(t) to be continuous. Bearing in mind this restriction, we consider two kinds of periodic functions for the gating h(t):

• a continuous periodic function of arbitrary amplitude H_0 that connects the open and closed states, represented by intervals of arbitrary length τ_O and τ_C connected by raising stages of duration Δt

$$h(t) = H_0 \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\exp \frac{t - k\tau_C - k\tau_O}{\Delta t}}{1 + \exp \frac{t - k\tau_C - k\tau_O}{\Delta t}} - \frac{\exp \frac{t - k\tau_C - (k+1)\tau_O}{\Delta t}}{1 + \exp \frac{t - k\tau_C - (k+1)\tau_O}{\Delta t}}$$
(6.22)

By prescribing very steep rises, this function mimics a square wave (the function used in Ref. [161]). The parameter H_0 represents the reactivity of the receptor when the gate is completely open.

• A periodic wave of amplitude H_0

$$h(t) = H_0 \frac{\cos(\omega t) + 1}{2}$$
(6.23)

The frequency ω is the parameter which controls the fast/slow gating regimes.

For all the choices of the functions and parameters we computed the time dependent rate constant as well as its mean value in the integration time. In general, for a periodic gating function, the integration time T is selected as a multiple of the period so that the running average reaches a stable value. In our analysis we considered D = 1, R = 1 and $\rho_B = 1$.

In the *slow gating* limit we found the same value for the averaged rate constant obtained in the previous studies. For the *fast gating* regime, we could not compare directly our findings with the limit recovered in the stochastic analysis, because the use of a continuous gate function does not allow to model a kinetics where the fluctuations happen infinitely fast. Nevertheless we model this particular regime with a periodic sine wave (the second class of functions introduced before) with high frequency. In figure 6.1 we represent the average rate constant as a function of the amplitude of h(t) for different choices of the frequency. We can see that the qualitative behavior of the rate as a function of the maximum reactivity is the same as the ungated case, and the average rate tends to the corresponding stationary ungated limit as ω is increased.

An interesting phenomenon that we want to investigate is the correlation between symmetry in the characteristic open/closing time and binding efficiency. More specifically we wonder how the rate constant is modified by acting on the parameters which govern the opening and closing of the gate. In figure 6.2 we plot the average rate as a function of the maximum amplitude of a modified gating function of the kind (6.22), where the closing and opening dynamics are described by two different time constants Δt_1 and Δt_2 (see Fig 6.2, top panel), and we compare the behavior for different ratios of the rising stage parameters Δt_1 and Δt_2 . One notices immediately that the binding efficiency is increased as the symmetry of the function which regulates the gating of the site is lost. We stress that the average reactivity (which is given by the integral of h(t) over an arbitrary number of periods, divided by the time of integration) is the same for all the considered gating functions h(t). We can thus appreciate here how the asymmetry enhances functionality.

The kinetic analysis of the gated reaction rate to a homogeneously reactive sphere can be mapped onto the stationary binding with a spatially anisotropic reactant.



Figure 6.1: Average rate against the maximum amplitude of the gating function $h(t) = H_0(\cos(\omega t) + 1)/2$ for different choices of ω . The initial value is $\rho_0(r) = (1 - 1/r)$.

The rate constant of a reflecting sphere featuring an absorbing patch of aperture θ_0 has been computed in Ref. [162]. The result is

$$k = f(\theta_0)k_S \tag{6.24}$$

where the steric factor that accounts for the rate reduction can be well approximated for small angles θ_0 by:

$$f(\theta_0) \approx \frac{\theta_0 + \sin \theta_0}{2\pi - (\theta_0 + \sin \theta_0)}.$$
(6.25)

The analysis reported in Ref. [162] can be easily extended to the case of a partially reactive patch, that is, a patch connoted by an intrinsic reaction rate constant k^* . In this case, one finds:

$$\frac{k}{k_S} = \frac{H_0 f(\theta_0)}{H_0 + f(\theta_0)}.$$
(6.26)

In fig 6.3 we illustrate the fits of the average rate constant corresponding to symmetric and asymmetric gating functions to expression (6.26) with an *effective reactivity* αH_0 :

$$\left\langle \frac{k}{k_S} \right\rangle = \frac{\alpha H_0 f(\theta_0)}{\alpha H_0 + f(\theta_0)}.$$
(6.27)

where θ_0 and α are fit parameters.

We conclude that the *mean* rate constant for a fully reactive spherical receptor featuring a gating dynamics can be mapped onto the rate constant of an equivalent static receptor featuring 1) a reduced reactive surface (patch) and 2) an effective (reduced) intrinsic rate constant of the reactive patch.



Figure 6.2: (a)Plot of the square wave gating function with asymmetric opening and closing time constants.(b) Mean rate for different choices of the closing time Δt_2 . Other parameters are $\tau_O = 8\tau_D$, $\tau_C = 5\tau_D$, $\Delta t_1 = 0.1\tau_D$ and the integration time is $T = 70\tau_D$ The initial value is $\rho_0(r) = (1 - 1/r)$.



Figure 6.3: Average reaction rate versus the maximum amplitude of the gating wave function for symmetric and asymmetric nearly square-wave gating functions of the form (6.22). The data are fitted to expression (6.27) via the parameters θ_0 and α . The choices of the parameters in the gating functions are $\tau_O = 8$, $\tau_C = 5$, $\Delta t_1 = 0.1$. The integration time is $T = 70\tau_D$ The initial value is $\rho_0(r) = (1 - 1/r)$.

Chapter 7

Conclusions and perspectives

The general purpose of this thesis is to analyze diffusion-reaction processes in different types of non-ideal conditions. Among them, we take into account the interaction among species that are diffusing in the same space, the effects of crowding on the motility of agents within densely populated media and the presence of obstacles, compartmentalization and traps in the domain. These are fundamental aspects for describing many biochemical processes in living media, as well as for studying industrial and chemical applications of diffusion influenced reactions. As underlined by several experimental results, when the features of the domain where the processes occur are highly non-ideal (high density, complex geometries) far from the ideal approximation, the classic diffusion theory which applies to diluted media is no longer adequate. Neglecting the interaction among diffusing agents and between the agents and the external environment prevents one to grasp the essential features of the processes of interest. This work aims at introducing some degree of complexity in the description of diffusion and diffusion-reaction processes, and at identifying to which extent these non-ideal conditions influence the mobility of particles and the rate of the reactions occurring between molecules.

This thesis can be divided into two main blocks. The first part is devoted to macromolecular crowding, namely the presence of a finite density of reactants and other inert species, which is a common feature to many realistic situations in biology and soft matter. For all the processes described in the first chapter, the crowding is enforced in the microscopic description of a random walk, by accounting for excluded volume effects in the analysis of the single agents' movement. This approach allows us *in primis* to recover the macroscopic description of the evolution of the particle density for different choices of the jump rules in the mean-field limit. We show that considerable information is lost in passing to the continuum: the excluded volume effect introduced at the microscopic level disappears unless the description accounts for some degree of asymmetry, such as in the presence of anisotropic domains or biased rules for the motion of the agents. Deviations from the standard diffusion equation emerge also by making part of the diffusing population distinguishable, or by taking into account explicitly the size of the agents in the *extended crowding* scenario. The microscopic models themselves can provide interesting information supplementary to the mean-field description, such as the role of the fluctuations. Such analysis is not among the purposes of this thesis, but could be carried out starting from the agent- based models.

In the second part of this work, the Smoluchowski theory for diffusion-influenced reactions is adapted to non-ideal domains, where many reactive boundaries interact with the diffusing ligands and compete for the same resources. The role of the environment's geometry (obstacles, compartmentalization) and distributed reactivity (competitive reactants, traps) is quantified through the explicit calculation of the reaction rate constant in a domain arbitrarily decorated with obstacles and reactive boundaries. The only constraint imposed is that all bodies have to be represented as assemblies of spheres. For example, complex-shaped molecules, such as antibodies, can be represented through coarse grained models that employ spherical beads as elementary components. The diffusion-reaction process, initially defined as a boundary value problem for the density of the ligand molecules, with boundary conditions enforced on the surface of the spheres, is mapped onto a linear system of algebraic equations through the use of harmonic expansion techniques. This procedure enables us to compute analytically the reaction rate constant of the selected reaction to any desired accuracy, with the employ of analytical methods only. We show that this approach provides remarkable advantages with respect to the numerical methods based on finite-element computations, because it leads to a much more accurate solution, and because it allows one to derive simple approximate analytical formulas. We show that this theoretical framework can be used to investigate naturally occurring binding processes and to assist in the design of artificial structure such as composite nano-reactors used in industrial catalysis. Moreover we demonstrate that in many cases, such as in the description of the antibody-antigen binding process, a complex system can be mapped onto a simpler schematic model that, even though with less detail, is still able to explain the basics of the process. We stress that our goal is to devise a mathematical framework to characterize the interplay of diffusion and reaction with static environmental factors. Obviously, even though we relaxe some of the basic hypotheses of the classical ideal description, we still work under simplified assumptions with respect to real media. Nevertheless, our approach allows us to identify important trends and correlations between physical-chemical and geometrical parameters, such as the configuration of the particles in a multi-catalyst nano-reactor that optimize the reaction. These aspects could not be recognized in the infinite-dilution treatment, which neglects the multi-body interactions. The procedure followed to solve the stationary diffusion equation in the presence of multiple boundaries could be in principle extended to different geometries realized with more complex, non-spherical bodies. The only requirement is the existence of addition theorems for the elementary solutions in the selected coordinate system, which would allow one to express the boundary conditions over the multi-body landscape. As an example, we can imagine to apply the same method to geometries involving elongated agents, described in ellipsoidal coordinates.

Our method can be extended to the Laplace space, so as to work out exactly the effect of the environment on time-dependent problems. In this case, one has to employ addition theorems for the Bessel functions, and the difficulty lies in the subsequent inversion of the Laplace transform [163]. In our treatment of diffusioninduced reactions, the time-dependent effects are considered only with respect to a simplified geometry. This is the topic of the final chapter of this work, where we take into account a temporal variation of the reactivity of a single isolated receptor. The analysis is performed with a different method from the previous treatment,



Figure 7.1: Analysis of the total ligand flux to N = 100 receptors of radius a = 0.03 Ron the surface of a reflecting sphere of radius R. The histogram shows the distribution of the rate over a population of over 2×10^4 independent random configurations of the receptors (normalized to the population average). Explicitly shown are a) the configuration corresponding to the least possible flux (all receptors in a spherical patch), b,c) the configurations corresponding to the least and the largest rates over the random ensemble, d) the configuration corresponding to the largest possible rate. Interestingly, the latter is identical to the configuration that minimizes the Coulomb energy of N identical charges on the sphere (Thomson configuration).

but with the same result of transforming a boundary-value problem into a simpler mathematical structure. The differential problem with complex time-dependent boundary conditions is in fact mapped onto an integral Volterra equations which can be solved through well-known and stable iterative procedures.

The method derived to characterize arbitrary shaped geometries can be used to investigate some geometric effects on chemoreception. Cellular receptors are not uniformly distributed. For example clusters of receptors are recognizable on selected regions of the surface of bacteria as in E.Coli, and their spatial arrangement resembles lattice-like structures. One can investigate the reason why some arrangements seem to be preferred to others, and relate them to the optimized configuration. Along these lines, we are currently studying the effect of number, dimension and configuration of the receptors on the overall reaction rate to a cell surface. The receptors can be represented as spherical absorbing boundaries which cover part of the surface of an otherwise reflecting sphere (see Fig. 7.1). Our preliminary results indicate that ordered structures of receptors maximize the overall rate to capture, while extended localized receptor-covered patches correspond to very low capture rates. These preliminary results point to a highly non-trivial connection between the geometry and the physics of chemoreception.

Conclusions and perspectives

Bibliography

- J. Crank. The mathematics of diffusion. Oxford University Press, New York, 1975.
- [2] J. Dhont. An introduction to dynamics of colloids. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1996.
- [3] Sean R. McGuffee and Adrian H. Elcock. Diffusion, crowding & protein stability in a dynamic molecular model of the bacterial cytoplasm. *PLoS Comput Biol*, 6(3):e1000694 EP -, 03 2010.
- [4] Avi Caspi, Rony Granek, and Michael Elbaum. Diffusion and directed motion in cellular transport. *Phys. Rev. E*, 66:011916, Jul 2002.
- [5] P. C Bressloff and J M Newby. Stochastic models of intracellular transport. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 85:135, 2013.
- [6] Jessica Balbo, Paolo Mereghetti, Dirk-Peter Herten, and Rebecca C. Wade. The shape of protein crowders is a major determinant of protein diffusion. *Biophysical Journal*, 104(7):1576 – 1584, 2013.
- [7] Matthias Weiss, Markus Elsner, Fredrik Kartberg, and Tommy Nilsson. Anomalous subdiffusion is a measure for cytoplasmic crowding in living cells. *Biophysical journal*, 87(5):3518–3524, 11 2004.
- [8] Daniel ben Avraham and Shlomo Havlin. *Diffusion and Reactions in Fractals and Disordered Systems*. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [9] Jean-Philippe Bouchaud and Antoine Georges. Anomalous diffusion in disordered media: Statistical mechanisms, models and physical applications. *Physics Reports*, 195(4–5):127–293, 11 1990.
- [10] James A. Dix and A.S. Verkman. Crowding effects on diffusion in solutions and cells. Annual Review of Biophysics, 37(1):247–263, 2008.
- [11] Igor L. Novak, Pavel Kraikivski, and Boris M. Slepchenko. Diffusion in cytoplasm: Effects of excluded volume due to internal membranes and cytoskeletal structures. *Biophysical Journal*, 97(3):758 – 767, 2009.
- [12] Michael C. Konopka, Irina A. Shkel, Scott Cayley, M. Thomas Record, and James C. Weisshaar. Crowding and confinement effects on protein diffusion in vivo. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(17):6115–6123, 2006.

- [13] C Nicholson and J M Phillips. Ion diffusion modified by tortuosity and volume fraction in the extracellular microenvironment of the rat cerebellum. *The Journal of Physiology*, 321(1):225–257, 1981.
- [14] M. von Smoluchowski. Drei vortrage ubër diffusion brownsche molekular bewegung und koagulation von kolloidteichen. *Physik Z*, 17:557–571, 1916.
- [15] Huan-Xiang Zhou. Protein folding and binding in confined spaces and in crowded solutions. Journal of Molecular Recognition, 17(5):368–375, 2004.
- [16] Margaret S Cheung, Dmitri Klimov, and D. Thirumalai. Molecular crowding enhances native state stability and refolding rates of globular proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(13):4753–4758, Mar 2005.
- [17] J. Dzubiella and J. A. McCammon. Substrate concentration dependence of the diffusion-controlled steady-state rate constant. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 122(18):184902, 2005.
- [18] F. Piazza, P. De Los Rios, D. Fanelli, L., and U. Skoglund. Anticooperativity in diffusion-controlled reactions with pairs of anisotropic domains: A model for the antigen-antibody encounter. *European Biophysics Journal*, 34(7):899–911, Oct 2005.
- [19] D. Fanelli and A. J. McKane. Diffusion in a crowded environment. *Physical Review E*, 82:021113, 2010.
- [20] Jeremy D. Schmit, Ercan Kamber, and Jané Kondev. Lattice model of diffusion-limited bimolecular chemical reactions in confined environments. *Physical Review Letters*, 102(21):218302, 2009.
- [21] Masanori Tachiya and Sergey D. Traytak. Concentration dependence of fluorescence quenching by ionic reactants. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, 19(6):065111, 2007.
- [22] M. Agrawal, S. B Santra, R. Anand, and R. Swaminathan. Effect of macromolecular crowding on the rate of diffusion-limited enzymatic reaction. *PRA-MANA - Journal of Physics*, 71(2):359–368, August 2008.
- [23] Nicola Ricci, Filippo Barbanera, and Fabrizio Erra. A quantitative approach to movement, displacement, and mobility of protozoa. *Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 45(6):606–611, 1998.
- [24] P. M.Morse and H. Freshbach. Methods of Theoretical Physics, Part II. McGraw-Hill Science, New York, 1946.
- [25] D. Kremp, M. Schlanges, M. Bonitz, and T. Bornath. Reaction and diffusion in dense nonideal plasmas. *Physics of Fluids B: Plasma Physics*, 5(1):216–229, 1993.
- [26] P G Saffman and M Delbrück. Brownian motion in biological membranes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 72(8):3111–3113, 1975.

- [27] Yael Talmon, Lazar Shtirberg, Wolfgang Harneit, Olga Yu. Rogozhnikova, Victor Tormyshev, and Aharon Blank. Molecular diffusion in porous media by pgse esr. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, 12:5998–6007, 2010.
- [28] Partha P. Mitra, Pabitra N. Sen, Lawrence M. Schwartz, and Pierre Le Doussal. Diffusion propagator as a probe of the structure of porous media. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 68:3555–3558, Jun 1992.
- [29] Stephen Whitaker. Diffusion and dispersion in porous media. AIChE Journal, 13(3):420–427, 1967.
- [30] Robert D. Phair and Tom Misteli. High mobility of proteins in the mammalian cell nucleus. *Nature*, 404(6778):604–609, 04 2000.
- [31] S. Condamin, O. Benichou, V. Tejedor, R. Voituriez, and J. Klafter. Firstpassage times in complex scale-invariant media. *Nature*, 450(7166):77–80, 11 2007.
- [32] Huan-Xiang Zhou. Protein folding and binding in confined spaces and in crowded solutions. Journal of Molecular Recognition, 17(5):368–375, 2004.
- [33] A. P. Minton. Implications of macromolecular crowding for protein assembly. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 10(1):34–39, Feb 2000.
- [34] Tadashi Ando and Jeffrey Skolnick. Crowding and hydrodynamic interactions likely dominate in vivo macromolecular motion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(43):18457–18462, 10 2010.
- [35] P Sekhar Burada, Peter Hänggi, Fabio Marchesoni, Gerhard Schmid, and Peter Talkner. Diffusion in confined geometries. *ChemPhysChem*, 10(1):45–54, 2009.
- [36] G.. Foffi, A Pastore, F Piazza, and P A Temussi. Macromolecular crowding: chemistry and physics meet biology (Ascona, Switzerland, 10-14 June 2012). *Physical Biology*, 10(4):040301, August 2013.
- [37] Germán Rivas, Frank Ferrone, and Judith Herzfeld. Life in a crowded world. EMBO reports, 5(1):23–27, January 2004.
- [38] R John Ellis. Macromolecular crowding: obvious but underappreciated. Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 26(10):597–604, October 2001.
- [39] R John Ellis. Macromolecular crowding: an important but neglected aspect of the intracellular environment. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 11(1):114–119, February 2001.
- [40] Allen P Minton. Influence of macromolecular crowding upon the stability and state of association of proteins: Predictions and observations. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 94(8):1668–1675, 2005.
- [41] S Schnell and T E Turner. Reaction kinetics in intracellular environments with macromolecular crowding: simulations and rate laws. *Progress in Biophysics* and Molecular Biology, 85(2-3):235–260, June 2004.

- [42] H X Zhou, G Rivas, and A P Minton. Macromolecular crowding and confinement: biochemical, biophysical, and potential physiological consequences. *Annual review of biophysics*, 37:375–397, 2008.
- [43] Jedrzej Szymański, Adam Patkowski, Agnieszka Wilk, Piotr Garstecki, and Robert Holyst. Diffusion and Viscosity in a Crowded Environment: from Nano- to Macroscale. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 110(51):25593– 25597, December 2006.
- [44] Roberto Piazza, Stefano Buzzaccaro, and Eleonora Secchi. The unbearable heaviness of colloids: facts, surprises, and puzzles in sedimentation. *Journal* of Physics: Condensed Matter, 24(28):284109, 2012.
- [45] Emmanuel Dauty and A S Verkman. Molecular crowding reduces to a similar extent the diffusion of small solutes and macromolecules: measurement by fluorescence correlation spectroscopy. *Journal of Molecular Recognition*, 17(5):441–447, September 2004.
- [46] Ido Golding and Edward Cox. Physical Nature of Bacterial Cytoplasm. Physical Review Letters, 96(9):098102, March 2006.
- [47] Isabel Pastor, Eudald Vilaseca, Sergio Madurga, Josep Lluís Garcés, Marta Cascante, and Francesc Mas. Diffusion of alpha-chymotrypsin in solutioncrowded media. A fluorescence recovery after photobleaching study. *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B*, 114(11):4028–4034, March 2010.
- [48] Daniel S Banks and Cécile Fradin. Anomalous Diffusion of Proteins Due to Molecular Crowding. *Biophysical journal*, 89(5):2960–2971, November 2005.
- [49] Ralf Metzler and Joseph Klafter. The random walk's guide to anomalous diffusion: a fractional dynamics approach. *Physics Reports*, 339(1):1–77, December 2000.
- [50] G Zaslavsky, G M. Chaos, fractional kinetics, and anomalous transport. *Physics Reports*, 371(6):461–580, December 2002.
- [51] Denis S Grebenkov, Mahsa Vahabi, Elena Bertseva, László Forró, and Sylvia Jeney. Hydrodynamic and subdiffusive motion of tracers in a viscoelastic medium. *Physical Review E*, 88(4):040701, 2013.
- [52] Matti Javanainen, Henrik Hammaren, Luca Monticelli, Jae-Hyung Jeon, Markus S Miettinen, Hector Martinez-Seara, Ralf Metzler, and Ilpo Vattulainen. Anomalous and normal diffusion of proteins and lipids in crowded lipid membranes. *Faraday Discussions*, 161(0):397–417, 2012.
- [53] Gerald R Kneller, Krzysztof Baczynski, and Marta Pasenkiewicz-Gierula. Communication: Consistent picture of lateral subdiffusion in lipid bilayers: Molecular dynamics simulation and exact results. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 135(14):141105, October 2011.
- [54] T J Feder, I Brust-Mascher, J P Slattery, B Baird, and W W Webb. Constrained diffusion or immobile fraction on cell surfaces: a new interpretation. *Biophysical journal*, 70(6):2767–2773, June 1996.

- [55] Arpita Upadhyaya, Jean-Paul Rieu, James A Glazier, and Yasuji Sawada. Anomalous diffusion and non-Gaussian velocity distribution of Hydra cells in cellular aggregates. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 293(3-4):549–558, April 2001.
- [56] Dietrich Stauffer, Christian Schulze, and Dieter W Heermann. Superdiffusion in a Model for Diffusion in a Molecularly Crowded Environment. *Journal of biological physics*, 33(4):305–312, June 2008.
- [57] D M Soumpasis. Theoretical analysis of fluorescence photobleaching recovery experiments. *Biophysical journal*, 41(1):95–97, January 1983.
- [58] D Axelrod, D E Koppel, J Schlessinger, E Elson, and W W Webb. Mobility measurement by analysis of fluorescence photobleaching recovery kinetics. *Biophys. J.*, 16(9):1055–1069, September 1976.
- [59] Eudald Vilaseca, Adriana Isvoran, Sergio Madurga, Isabel Pastor, Josep Lluís Garcés, and Francesc Mas. New insights into diffusion in 3D crowded media by Monte Carlo simulations: effect of size, mobility and spatial distribution of obstacles. *Physical chemistry chemical physics : PCCP*, 13(16):7396–7407, April 2011.
- [60] Zsolt Zador, Mazin Magzoub, Songwan Jin, Geoffrey T Manley, Marios C Papadopoulos, and A S Verkman. Microfiberoptic fluorescence photobleaching reveals size-dependent macromolecule diffusion in extracellular space deep in brain. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 22(3):870–879, March 2008.
- [61] M. H. Jacobs. Diffusion Processes. Springer, New York, 1967.
- [62] Steffen Martens. Transport of Brownian particles in confined geometries -Steps beyond the Fick-Jacobs approach. PhD thesis, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, June 2013.
- [63] Pavol Kalinay. When is the next extending of Fick-Jacobs equation necessary? The Journal of Chemical Physics, 139(5):054116, 2013.
- [64] V Privman, editor. Nonequilibrium Statistical Mechanics in One Dimension. Cambridge University Press., 1997.
- [65] T. M. Liggett. Stochastic Interacting Systems: Contact, Voter and Exclusion Processes. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999.
- [66] Ludwig Boltzmann. Vorlesungen über Gastheorie (Lectures on Gas Theory), volume I and II. University of California Press. Translated by S. G. Brush, 1966, Berkeley, 1896.
- [67] Peter M. Richards. Theory of one-dimensional hopping conductivity and diffusion. *Physical Review B*, 16(4):1393–1409, 08 1977.
- [68] Frank Spitzer. Interaction of Markov processes. Advances in Mathematics, 5(2):246–290, 10 1970.
- [69] B Derrida, M R Evans, V Hakim, and V Pasquier. Exact solution of a 1d asymmetric exclusion model using a matrix formulation. *Journal of Physics* A: Mathematical and General, 26(7):1493, 1993.
- [70] G. Schütz and E. Domany. Phase transitions in an exactly soluble onedimensional exclusion process. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 72(1-2):277–296, 1993.
- [71] B. Derrida. An exactly soluble non-equilibrium system: The asymmetric simple exclusion process. *Physics Reports*, 301(1–3):65–83, 7 1998.
- [72] N. Golubeva and A. Imparato. Efficiency at maximum power of interacting molecular machines. *Physical Review Letters*, 109:190602, 2012.
- [73] Andrea Parmeggiani, Thomas Franosch, and Erwin Frey. Totally asymmetric simple exclusion process with langmuir kinetics. *Physical Review E*, 70(4):046101, 2004.
- [74] A Zilman and G Bel. Crowding effects in non-equilibrium transport through nano-channels. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 22(45):454130, 2010.
- [75] Louis Reese, Anna Melbinger, and Erwin Frey. Crowding of molecular motors determines microtubule depolymerization. *Biophysical journal*, 101(9):2190– 2200, 11 2011.
- [76] D Fanelli, AJ McKane, G Pompili, B Tiribilli, M Vassalli, and T Biancalani. Diffusion of two molecular species in a crowded environment: theory and experiments. *Physical biology*, 10(4):045008, 2013.
- [77] N G Van Kampen. Stochastic Processes in Physics and Chemistry. Elsevier, August 2011.
- [78] Kazuhiko Seki, Mariusz Wojcik, and M Tachiya. Diffusion-mediated geminate reactions under excluded volume interactions. *Physical review. E, Statistical, nonlinear, and soft matter physics*, 85(1 Pt 1):011131, January 2012.
- [79] Matthew J. Simpson, Kerry A. Landman, and Barry D. Hughes. Pathlines in exclusion processes. *Phys. Rev. E*, 79:031920, Mar 2009.
- [80] Kerry a. Landman and Anthony E. Fernando. Myopic random walkers and exclusion processes: Single and multispecies. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics* and its Applications, 390(21-22):3742–3753, October 2011.
- [81] S. Goldstein. On diffusion by discontinuous movements, and on the telegraph equation. The Quarterly Journal of Mechanics and Applied Mathematics, 4(2):129–156, 01 1951.
- [82] George H Weiss. Some applications of persistent random walks and the telegrapher's equation. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 311(3–4):381–410, 8 2002.
- [83] D. L. Huber. Particle kinetics on one-dimensional lattices with inequivalent sites. *Physical Review B*, 15(2):533–538, 01 1977.

- [84] Matthew J. Simpson, Kerry A. Landman, and Barry D. Hughes. Pathlines in exclusion processes. *Physical Review E*, 79(3):031920–, 03 2009.
- [85] Salvatore Torquato. Random Heterogenous Materials. Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002.
- [86] Greg Lakatos, John O'Brien, and Tom Chou. Hydrodynamic mean-field solutions of 1D exclusion processes with spatially varying hopping rates. *Journal* of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 39(10):2253–2264, 2006.
- [87] Kevin J Painter and Jonathan A Sherratt. Modelling the movement of interacting cell populations. *Journal of theoretical biology*, 225(3):327–339, 2003.
- [88] J Szavits Nossan. Disordered exclusion process revisited: some exact results in the low-current regime. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 46(31):315001, 2013.
- [89] Marta Galanti, Duccio Fanelli, Amos Maritan, and Francesco Piazza. Diffusion of tagged particles in a crowded medium. *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, 107(2):20006, 2014.
- [90] Anthony E. Fernando, Kerry A. Landman, and Matthew J. Simpson. Nonlinear diffusion and exclusion processes with contact interactions. *Physical Review E*, 81(1):011903, January 2010.
- [91] Catherine J. Penington, Barry D. Hughes, and Kerry a. Landman. Building macroscale models from microscale probabilistic models: A general probabilistic approach for nonlinear diffusion and multispecies phenomena. *Physical Review E*, 84(4):041120, October 2011.
- [92] Catherine J. Penington, Karolína Korvasová, Barry D. Hughes, and Kerry a. Landman. Collective motion of dimers. *Physical Review E*, 86(5):051909, November 2012.
- [93] Catherine J. Penington, Barry D. Hughes, and Kerry a. Landman. Interacting motile agents: Taking a mean-field approach beyond monomers and nearestneighbor steps. *Physical Review E*, 89(3):032714, March 2014.
- [94] Matthew J. Simpson, Ruth E. Baker, and Scott W. McCue. Models of collective cell spreading with variable cell aspect ratio: A motivation for degenerate diffusion models. *Phys. Rev. E*, 83:021901, Feb 2011.
- [95] Ruth E Baker and Matthew J Simpson. Models of collective cell motion for cell populations with different aspect ratio: diffusion, proliferation and travelling waves. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 391(14):3729– 3750, 2012.
- [96] G Schnherr and G M Schtz. Exclusion process for particles of arbitrary extension: hydrodynamic limit and algebraic properties. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, 37(34):8215, 2004.

- [97] J. L. Lebowitz and J. K. Percus. Kinetic equations and density expansions: Exactly solvable one-dimensional system. *Physical Review*, 155(1):122–138, 03 1967.
- [98] Anderson A. Ferreira and Francisco C. Alcaraz. Anomalous tag diffusion in the asymmetric exclusion model with particles of arbitrary sizes. *Phys. Rev.* E, 65:052102, May 2002.
- [99] Catherine J Penington, Karolína Korvasová, Barry D Hughes, and Kerry A Landman. Collective motion of dimers. *Physical Review E*, 86(5):051909, 2012.
- [100] Maria Bruna and S Jonathan Chapman. Excluded-volume effects in the diffusion of hard spheres. *Physical Review E*, 85(1):011103, 2012.
- [101] S Torquato, B Lu, and J Rubinstein. Nearest-neighbor distribution functions in many-body systems. *Physical Review A*, 41(4):2059, 1990.
- [102] N. Carnahan and K. Starling. Equation of state for nonattracting rigid spheres. J. Chem. Phys., 51:635–636, 1969.
- [103] N. Dorsaz, C. De Michele, F. Piazza, P. De Los Rios, and G. Foffi. Diffusion-limited reactions in crowded environments. *Physical Review Letters*, 105(12):120601-, 09 2010.
- [104] F Piazza, N Dorsaz, C De Michele, P De Los Rios, and G Foffi. Diffusionlimited reactions in crowded environments: a local density approximation. *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter*, 25(37):375104, 2013.
- [105] Ismael Sanchez-Osorio, Fernando Ramos, Pedro Mayorga, and Edgar Dantan. Foundations for modeling the dynamics of gene regulatory networks: a multilevel-perspective review. *Journal of bioinformatics and computational biology*, 12(01):1330003, 2014.
- [106] Frank C Collins and George E Kimball. Diffusion-controlled reaction rates. Journal of colloid science, 4(4):425–437, 1949.
- [107] Attila Szabo. Theory of diffusion-influenced fluorescence quenching. The journal of physical chemistry, 93(19):6929–6939, 1989.
- [108] E Gordelyi, S.L. Crouch, and S.G. Mogilevskaya. Transient heat conduction in a medium with multiple spherical cavities. *International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering*, 77:751–775, 2009.
- [109] Philip McCord Morse and Herman Feshbach. Methods of theoretical physics, volume 2. McGraw-Hill Science/Engineering/Math, 1953.
- [110] M J Caola. Solid harmonics and their addition theorems. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 11(2):L23, 1978.
- [111] J. M. Deutch, B. U. Felderhof, and Michael J. Saxton. Competitive effects in diffusion controlled reactions. J. Chem. Phys., 64:4559, 1976.

- [112] René Samson and J. M. Deutch. Exact solution for the diffusion controlled rate into a pair of reacting sinks. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 67(2):847–847, 1977.
- [113] S. Traytak. The diffusive interaction in diffusion-limited reactions: the steadystate case. *Chemical Physics Letters*, 197:247–254, 9 1992.
- [114] S. B. Chen and H. K. Tsao. Diffusion into a nanoparticle with first-order surface reaction confined within a sphere. J. Chem. Phys., 116:5137, 2002.
- [115] Peter Walde and Sosaku Ichikawa. Enzymes inside lipid vesicles: preparation, reactivity and applications. *Biomolecular engineering*, 18(4):143–177, 2001.
- [116] Jungbae Kim, Jay W Grate, and Ping Wang. Nanobiocatalysis and its potential applications. *Trends in biotechnology*, 26(11):639–646, 2008.
- [117] Changsun Eun, Peter M. Kekenes-Huskey, and J. Andrew McCammon. Influence of neighboring reactive particles on diffusion-limited reactions. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 139(4):-, 2013.
- [118] Pablo Herves, Moisés Pérez-Lorenzo, Luis M Liz-Marzán, Joachim Dzubiella, Yan Lu, and Matthias Ballauff. Catalysis by metallic nanoparticles in aqueous solution: model reactions. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 41(17):5577–5587, 2012.
- [119] Stefano Angioletti-Uberti, Yan Lu, Matthias Ballauff, and Joachim Dzubiella. Theory of solvation-controlled reactions in stimuli-responsive nanoreactors. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C, 119(27):15723–15730, 2015.
- [120] Olga A Ladyzhenskaya. Linear and quasilinear elliptic equations. 1968.
- [121] Yu Mei, Yan Lu, Frank Polzer, Matthias Ballauff, and Markus Drechsler. Catalytic activity of palladium nanoparticles encapsulated in spherical polyelectrolyte brushes and core-shell microgels. *Chemistry of Materials*, 19(5):1062– 1069, 2007.
- [122] Susana Carregal-Romero, Niklaas J Buurma, Jorge Pérez-Juste, Luis M Liz-Marzán, and Pablo Hervés. Catalysis by au@ pnipam nanocomposites: effect of the cross-linking density. *Chemistry of Materials*, 22(10):3051–3059, 2010.
- [123] Shuang Wu, Joachim Dzubiella, Julian Kaiser, Markus Drechsler, Xuhong Guo, Matthias Ballauff, and Yan Lu. Thermosensitive au-pnipa yolk-shell nanoparticles with tunable selectivity for catalysis. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 51(9):2229–2233, 2012.
- [124] R. I. Cukier. Diffusion of brownian spheres in semidilute polymer solutions. *Macromolecules*, 17(2):252–255, 1984.
- [125] Dennis A Torchia and Rieko Ishima. Molecular structure and dynamics of proteins in solution: Insights derived from high-resolution nmr approaches. *Pure and applied chemistry*, 75(10):1371–1381, 2003.

- [126] PA Anfinrud, M Lim, and TA Jackson. Structure, dynamics, and function of proteins: New insights from time-resolved ir spectroscopy. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, (65):4, 1996.
- [127] Stefan Howorka. Rationally engineering natural protein assemblies in nanobiotechnology. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 22:485–491, 2011.
- [128] Justin K.H. Liu. The history of monoclonal antibody development progress, remaining challenges and future innovations. Annals of Medicine and Surgery, 3(4):113 – 116, 2014.
- [129] L J Harris, S B Larson, K W Hasel, J Day, A Greenwood, and A McPherson. The three-dimensional structure of an intact monoclonal antibody for canine lymphoma. *Nature*, 360:369–372, 1992.
- [130] Lisa J. Harris, Steven B. Larson, Eileen Skaletsky, and Alexander McPherson. Comparison of the conformations of two intact monoclonal antibodies with hinges*. *Immunological Reviews*, 163(1):35–43, 1998.
- [131] Erica Ollmann Saphire, Robyn L Stanfield, M D Max Crispin, Paul W H I Parren, Pauline M Rudd, Raymond A Dwek, Dennis R Burton, and Ian A Wilson. Contrasting IgG structures reveal extreme asymmetry and flexibility. *Journal of molecular biology*, 319(1):9–18, May 2002.
- [132] Klaus D. Elgert. Immunology: Understanding the Immune System. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 1998.
- [133] Menno van Lookeren Campagne, Christian Wiesmann, and Eric J. Brown. Macrophage complement receptors and pathogen clearance. *Cellular Microbiology*, 9:2095–2102, 2007.
- [134] Lynda M Stuart and R Alan B Ezekowitz. Phagocytosis: elegant complexity. *Immunity*, 22(5):539–50, May 2005.
- [135] Ferry Kienberger, Harald Mueller, Vassili Pastushenko, and Peter Hinterdorfer. Following single antibody binding to purple membranes in real time. *EMBO reports*, 5:579–583, 2004.
- [136] L. Bongini, D. Fanelli, F. Piazza, P. De Los Rios, S. Sandin, and U. Skoglund. Freezing immunoglobulins to see them move. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(17):6466–6471, 2004.
- [137] Dennis R Burton, R Anthony Williamson, and Paul WHI Parren. Antibody and virus: binding and neutralization. *Virology*, 270(1):1–3, 2000.
- [138] I S Mian, A R Bradwell, and A J Olson. Structure, function and properties of antibody binding sites. *Journal of molecular biology*, 217:133–151, 1991.
- [139] Pengcheng Wang and Xinzhen Yang. Neutralization efficiency is greatly enhanced by bivalent binding of an antibody to epitopes in the v4 region and the membrane-proximal external region within one trimer of human immun-odeficiency virus type 1 glycoproteins. *Journal of Virology*, 84(14):7114–7123, 07 2010.

- [140] NS Greenspan. Affinity, complementarity, cooperativity, and specificity in antibody recognition. *Current topics in microbiology and immunology*, 260:65, 2001.
- [141] Mathai Mammen, Seok-Ki Choi, and George M. Whitesides. Polyvalent interactions in biological systems: Implications for design and use of multivalent ligands and inhibitors. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 37(20):2754– 2794, 1998.
- [142] Sam A Hardy and Nigel J Dimmock. Valency of antibody binding to enveloped virus particles as determined by surface plasmon resonance. *Journal* of virology, 77(2):1649–1652, 2003.
- [143] Johannes Preiner, Noriyuki Kodera, Jilin Tang, Andreas Ebner, Mario Brameshuber, Dieter Blaas, Nicola Gelbmann, Hermann J. Gruber, Toshio Ando, and Peter Hinterdorfer. IgGs are made for walking on bacterial and viral surfaces. *Nature Communications*, 5:1–8, July 2014.
- [144] William Humphrey, Andrew Dalke, and Klaus Schulten. VMD Visual Molecular Dynamics. Journal of Molecular Graphics, 14:33–38, 1996.
- [145] Anton Arkhipov, Peter L. Freddolino, and Klaus Schulten. Stability and Dynamics of Virus Capsids Described by Coarse-Grained Modeling. *Structure*, 14:1767–1777, 2006.
- [146] Anton Arkhipov, Ying Yin, and Klaus Schulten. Four-scale description of membrane sculpting by BAR domains. *Biophysical journal*, 95:2806–2821, 2008.
- [147] IP Omelyan, IM Mryglod, and Reinhard Folk. Optimized forest-ruth-and suzuki-like algorithms for integration of motion in many-body systems. *Computer Physics Communications*, 146(2):188–202, 2002.
- [148] L. Bongini, D. Fanelli, F. Piazza, P. De Los Rios, M. Sanner, and U. Skoglund. A dynamical study of antibody-antigen encounter reactions. *Physical Biology*, 4(3):172–180, 2007.
- [149] L W Guddat, J N Herron, and A B Edmundson. Three-dimensional structure of a human immunoglobulin with a hinge deletion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90(9):4271–4275, 1993.
- [150] Aneta Todorovska, Rob C. Roovers, Olan Dolezal, Alexander A. Kortt, Hennie R. Hoogenboom, and Peter J. Hudson. Design and application of diabodies, triabodies and tetrabodies for cancer targeting. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 248(12):47 – 66, 2001. Bispecific Antibodies.
- [151] Aline Desmyter, Silvia Spinelli, Alain Roussel, and Christian Cambillau. Camelid nanobodies: killing two birds with one stone. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 32:1 – 8, 2015. New constructs and expression of proteins / Sequences and topology.

- [152] C. Hamers-Casterman, T. Atarhouch, S. Muyldermans, G. Robinson, C. Hamers, E. B. Songa, N. Bendahman, and R. Hamers. Naturally occurring antibodies devoid of light chains. *Nature*, 363(6428):446–448, June 1993.
- [153] J Andrew McCammon. Gated diffusion-controlled reactions. BMC biophysics, 4(1):4, 2011.
- [154] M Necati Ozisik. *Heat conduction*. John Wiley & Sons, 1993.
- [155] Ch Lubich. Fractional linear multistep methods for abel-volterra integral equations of the second kind. *Mathematics of computation*, 45(172):463–469, 1985.
- [156] Ernst Hairer, Ch Lubich, and Manfred Schlichte. Fast numerical solution of weakly singular volterra integral equations. *Journal of computational and applied mathematics*, 23(1):87–98, 1988.
- [157] CTH Baker and MS Derakhshan. Fft techniques in the numerical solution of convolution equations. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 20:5–24, 1987.
- [158] J Andrew McCammon and Scott H Northrup. Gated binding of ligands to proteins. 1981.
- [159] R C Wade, A L Luty, E Demchuk, J D Madura, M E Davis, Briggs J M, and J A McCammon. Simulation of enzymesubstrate encounter with gated active sites. *Nature Structural Biology*, 1:65–69, 1994.
- [160] Attila Szabo, David Shoup, Scott H Northrup, and J Andrew McCammon. Stochastically gated diffusion-influenced reactions. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 77(9):4484–4493, 1982.
- [161] S H Northrup, F Zarrin, and J A McCammon. Rate theory for gated diffusioninfluenced ligand binding to proteins. J. Phys. Chem, 86:2314–2321, 1982.
- [162] S. D. Traytak. Diffusion-controlled reaction rate to an active site. Chemical Physics, 192:1–7, 1995.
- [163] SD Traytak. On the time-dependent diffusive interaction between stationary sinks. *Chemical Physics Letters*, 453(4):212–216, 2008.

Marta GALANTI

Processus de diffusion et réaction dans des milieux complexes et encombrés

L'objectif général de cette thèse est d'analyser les processus de diffusion et les processus de réactiondiffusion dans plusieurs types de conditions non-idéales, et d'identifier dans quelle mesure ces conditions non idéales influencent la mobilité des particules et les réactions entre les molécules. Dans la première partie de la thèse, nous nous concentrons sur les effets de l'encombrement macromoléculaire sur la mobilité, ainsi élaborant une description des processus de diffusion dans des milieux densément peuplés. Tous les processus sont analysés à partir de la description microscopique du mouvement des agents individuels sous forme de marche aléatoire, tenant compte de l'espace occupé par les particules voisines. La deuxième partie de la thèse vise à caractériser le rôle de la géométrie de l'environnement et de la réactivité des corps qui y sont contenus sur la réaction entre des molécules sélectionnées. La théorie classique de Smoluchowski, formulée pour les réactions contrôlées par la diffusion dans un milieu dilué, est ainsi adaptée à des domaines arbitrairement décorés par des obstacles, dont certains réactifs, et l'équation stationnaire de diffusion est résolue avec des techniques d'analyse harmonique. Finalement, le calcul explicit de la constante de réaction et la dérivation des formules approximées sont utilisés pour étudier des applications biologiques et nano-technologiques.

Mots-clés : diffusion, réaction-diffusion, *crowding* moléculaire, Smoluchowski, analyse harmonique.

Diffusion-reaction processes in complex and crowded environments

The overall purpose of this thesis is to analyze diffusion processes and diffusion-reaction processes in different types of non-ideal conditions, and to identify to which extent these non-ideal conditions influence the mobility of particles and the rate of the reactions occurring between molecules. In the first part of the thesis we concentrate on the effects of macromolecular crowding on the mobility of the agents, providing therefore a description of various diffusion processes in densely populated media. All the processes are analyzed by modeling the dynamics of the single agents as microscopic stochastic processes that keep track of the macromolecular crowding. The second part of the thesis aims at characterizing the role of the environment's geometry (obstacles, compartmentalization) and distributed reactivity (competitive reactants, traps) on the reaction between selected molecules. The Smoluchowski theory for diffusion-influenced reactions is thus adapted to domains arbitrarily decorated with obstacles and reactive boundaries, and the stationary diffusion equation is explicitly solved through harmonic-based techniques. The explicit calculation of the reaction rate constant and the derivation of simple approximated formulas are used for investigating nano-technological applications and naturally occurring reactions.

Key words: diffusion, reaction-diffusion, crowding, Smoluchowski theory, harmonic analysis



Università degli Studi di Firenze



Via di Santa Marta 3, 50139 Firenze